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MISSION STATEMENT
R fEaw

We contribute to the advancement of society by

providing people with quality products and employing ) e

advanced technology, with protecting the environment always in -
mind. We hire and nurture professionals and, together, we march - —

towards our goals in pace with time. Putting customers first,
we provide them with the best products and services,

assuring win-win results.

AIFNE BEER BERS CORPORATE OBJECTIVE Q=

HAEE UEARE HEER ~EHE o

To become a technologically advanced and innovative
company in Asia and the preferred partner by providing
comprehensive electronics solutions and
building a pet health ecosystem.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
BT 2

2021 2020
B —F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
OPERATING RESULTS BExE
For the year ended 31 March BHE=A=1+—RHILtFE
Revenue Weas 2,101,573 1,615,183
Gross profit E7 286,634 206,343
Operating profit i 102,083 34,534
Profit attributable to owners of the Company RATHEB AEIE R 79,274 27,705
Earnings per share — Basic (HK cents) SREF — EARCGED 27.96 9.77
Interim dividend, paid, per ordinary share (HK cents) FREBRE MNP ERE
(&AL 6.0 6.0
Final dividend, proposed, per ordinary share (HK cents) SR EBARE IR AR AR B
¢::4(1ID) 8.0 2.0
Special dividend, proposed, per ordinary share (HK cents) &A% & 38 AR #E K 4 Bl A% 2,
(&l 3.0 -
FINANCIAL POSITION B AR
As at 31 March R=A=+—H
Total equity R AR 802,168 704,841
Net current assets MEVEEFRE 355,422 343,233
Net (debt)/cash (BE)/ ReFHE (10,760) 60,709
Capital expenditure BRI 114,690 35,005
Net assets value per share BREETE 2.830 2.486
FINANCIAL RATIOS Mgt =
Current ratio BN 1.68 2.19
Debt to equity ratio BERERLLE 17.5% 9.6%
Inventory turnover days FERERH 61 71
Debtors turnover days JE L BR S0 B 88 A 8K 47 45
Return on average equity PR AN Bl ¥ 2= 10.6% 3.9%

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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REVENUE BY PRODUCT TYPE

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
B2

W 55 12 2 mR R B 0 A

For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=+—HLEFE

2021 2020

—B-—F —E-THF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Electronic products BTEmM 1,695,367 1,364,415
Pet related products EVEBER 406,206 250,768
Total ST 2,101,573 1,615,183

REVENUE BY GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENT

W R IE B 5 O

For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=+—-BHLEFE

2021 2020
B —F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
The United States of America (the “USA") EFERERE([ERH]) 1,222,232 769,079
Taiwan = 236,440 105,914
The People’s Republic of China HEE A R AFIEY
(the “PRC", including Hong Kong) ([hE] - BEEE) 202,981 151,967
Japan SN 152,147 181,948
Germany == 88,629 60,835
Australia BN 56,883 93,169
France VeNED 47,067 110,516
United Kingdom HE 24,934 64,406
Others Hih 70,260 77,349
Total A& 2,101,573 1,615,183
Revenue by Product Type Revenue by Geographical Segment
I RIRER BN H I REHEBERSBES K
1.19% ] L 3.33%
80.7% 193% United Kingdom 2 ‘ Others E fto
Electronic Pet related \ .’-7 966%
products products N ludi
TTES BB ES france N
FEEEES)
Australia S8 i 4.22%
11.25% Germany 12
Tai =b- |
alwan 7.24%
Japan H 7R
?
58.16%
USA 2
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On behalf of the Board of Directors, | hereby present the annual results
report of Suga International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries ("SUGA" or the “Group”) for the financial year ended 31
March 2021.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

During the year, COVID-19 continued to wreak havoc worldwide and
brought unprecedented challenges to all industries. However, the
pandemic has also given rise of the “stay-at-home economy” and online
shopping, with companies responsive, highly adaptable, and well-
prepared able to stand out among its peers. SUGA has a diversified
product portfolio, and has insisted on developing new products and
deploying its production base in Vietham amid the pandemic, allowing it
to seize new opportunities stemming out of COVID-19, with some
products in demand because of the “stay-at-home” phenomenon and as
such its turnover reached record high.

Its turnover amounted to HK$2,101.6 million for the year (FY2019/20:
HK$1,615.2 million), representing an increase of 30.1% against the
previous year. Gross profit increased by 38.9% to HK$286.6 million and
gross profit margin rose to 13.6% (FY2019/20: HK$206.3 million and
12.8%), mainly due to the increase in revenue and production capacity in
Vietnam, plus effective cost control measures, boosting cost-effectiveness.
Profit attributable to shareholders was HK$79.3 million (FY2019/20:
HK$27.7 million). Net profit margin was 3.8% (FY2019/20: 1.7%). Basic
earnings per share were HK27.96 cents (FY2019/20: HK9.77 cents).

DIVIDEND

To celebrate SUGA’s 30th anniversary as well as reward shareholders for
their ongoing support, the Directors have proposed the payment of a final
dividend of HK8.0 cents per share for the financial year ended 31 March
2021 (FY2019/20: HK2.0 cents per share) and a special dividend of
HK$3.0 cents per share (FY2019/20: Nil) to the shareholders whose names
appear on the Register of Shareholders of the Company as at 19 August
2021. Together with the interim dividend of HK6.0 cents per share already
paid, total dividend for the year would be HK17.0 cents per share
(FY2019/20: HK8.0 cents per share). Subject to approval by shareholders
at the 2021 Annual General Meeting, the proposed final dividend and
special dividend will be paid on or before 27 August 2021.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

TRBE
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TREBE

BUSINESS REVIEW

Electronic Products

Electronic products business remained as the Group’s main revenue
source, contributing HK$1,695.4 million (FY2019/20: HK$1,364.4 million),
up 24.3% year-on-year, accounting for 80.7% of total sales.

The Group has been committed to developing innovative products over
the years, no exception even amid the pandemic, and these efforts paid
off during the extraordinary year. With the working and studying at home
modes prevailing because of COVID-19, there was a strong demand from
many business partners of the Group for its professional audio equipment,
particularly wireless microphones which orders increased notably. As
consumers have had to stay at home more, the demand for professional
audio equipment for entertainment also increased markedly, as such
related sales recorded satisfactory growth during the year, and along with
that a diversified and stable customer base was established. Orders for
other products were delayed at the impact of the pandemic, but some
showed signs of improvement in the second half year.

By market, the Chinese economy quickly rebounded with the pandemic
effectively under control. Focusing on tapping the development potential
of this huge market, the Group secured more orders there during the
year, mainly for general consumer electronics. New orders landed in China
were enough to fill the production capacity vacated of the Dongguan
factory, which was relocated to Vietnam.

Pet Business

The pet business contributed revenue of approximately HK$406.2 million
(FY2019/2020: HK$250.8 million), representing a year-on-year increase of
62.0%, accounting for 19.3% of the Group’s total revenue. The growth
was mainly attributable to the significant increase in sales of pet training
devices. As people are spending more time at home and with their pets
because of the pandemic, demand for pet-related products had a strong
push.

10 SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Regarding the pet food business, to seize the enormous business
opportunities in the mainland China market, in early November 2020, the
Group started selling the domestic pet food brand “TeenyTiny” on the
largest e-commerce platform in the country and received enthusiastic
consumer response, reflective of the strong demand for quality pet food
in the mainland market. To enhance awareness of its own-brand pet food
and grasp the online shopping trend amid the pandemic, the Group
strengthened online marketing and sales, which resulted in growth of its
pet food business in both Mainland China and Hong Kong. Turnover of its
subsidiary Espetsso Limited climbed more than 30% last year. Happypaws,
another online store of the Group, commenced operation to provide all-
round services including online pet products retail and wholesale, and
online vet consultation.

AWARDS

SUGA was named the “2020 Contract Manufacturer of the Year” by one
of its key customers PreSonus Audio Electronics, Inc. (“PreSonus”) during
the year, recognising the Group’s outstanding contribution to its supply
chain and in introducing new products. In terms of individual awards, Dr.
Ng Man Cheuk, Alfred, Executive Director, Chief Technology Officer and
Chief Executive Officer of the Electronics Manufacturing Services (EMS)
Division of SUGA, won the “Young Industrialist Awards of Hong Kong
2020" of Federation of Hong Kong Industries acknowledging his
outstanding contribution to industrial sector and society of Hong Kong.
Also, in October 2020, Dr. Ng was appointed as Director of the Hong
Kong Applied Science and Technology Research Institute, where he could,
with innovation and applied technology, assist Hong Kong in developing
technology-based industries. In May 2021, Dr. Ng was elected with high
votes as Vice Chairman of the Hong Kong Electronics Industry Council
(Group 5 of Federation of Hong Kong Industries). Dr. Ng will keep up his
efforts in leading SUGA, helping it innovate and advance, and also
contribute to the electronics industry and community in Hong Kong.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

TRBE

EVRRXEKIE AIEEFBEMBSNERNSE
B AEER-_T-_TF+—AYEERZKE
BMEraREEEERRE [BKAL] HEBER
FEEZ - BTRBEATISEEERENTRRY -
ARESERERNRBAEERICRERETHHE
BB AEEMAR EMSHEREE &8
FEANEEBNEVEREBEEHFGIER
& [} B A F] Espetsso Limited = FH) & ¥ 58 T
#M30% c AEBETE—BE HappypawsDT\EIE
REE BORREBLEVELNTEMAE
iR FEBEEAZT 2 AR -

3215
FEERFANEEXZE R P 2 —PreSonus Audio
Electronics, Inc. 8% [ —ZE T FEREAHNEE
B URBAEERNHREEMNITERNAB
FMEEER  EEAREBEIE  EENTE
T HRERNAEREFRERKEMS) D BT
BHEBRAREB L REFT BT XL ERE 2020
FEBBFILERE]  URTFZHEEEBILERM
HENEWER - RZT=ZFF+AH - RIELT
BZIAEBEAREMRRENES  ERAIH
RERBIE  HBOEBERUABEAERNE
¥-RZ-—FRHA REBEIUSEEELESE
BETFEEG(BAIRXLSEFAHIBIER -
RETHBEZERE  HEEEAFNES BT
BETEMLEEHER -

%ﬁé%%ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁl 11



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TREBE

PROSPECTS

As more and more people get vaccinated, the pandemic is expected to
gradually come under control which will boost confidence in the economic
recovery. COVID-19, however, has completely changed the lifestyle of
people, and trends such as working and learning at home and shopping
online will not be reversible. Capitalising on diverse business development
strategy, forward-looking deployment of production facilities in different
regions and strong innovative capability and adaptability, SUGA has
overcome challenges, such as trade wars and the COVID-19 pandemic, in
the past three decades and seen its business climbing to new heights.
Hence, the Group has strong confidence in seizing opportunities in the
new normal.

SUGA has a diversified product portfolio. Among all its products,
professional audio equipment has become an expertise area of SUGA,
securing for it a number of business partners. Demand for those products
is expected to sustain. The Group will continue to grow its R&D team and
strive to develop for customers more products with strong demand
potential, including professional audio equipment and hair styling
products co-developed with a smart personal care product customers in
recent years, all to the end of creating more room for the Group to grow
profit. As for other products of the Group, orders and cooperation plans
gradually improved in the second half year and hopefully will be back on
the right track in the coming year.

In terms of market, China, the fastest among countries to have the
pandemic under control, has become the engine of global economic
growth. To capture the opportunities presented by China’s inner
circulation policy, the Group started to focus on expanding the China
market last year and reaped initial results. In the future, it will make good
use of the production capacity of its Dongguan plant and continue to
develop its business in China, aiming to expand its customer base, achieve
a more balance and healthy market layout, and enhance its risk resistance.

12 SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Similarly, the Group’s customers are also recognising the importance of
market diversification and dispersing supply chain risks, thus tend to
prefer to work with partners with production capacity in different regions.
The Group started adopting the “China Plus One” strategy in 2018 and
established a highly automated factory in Vietnam to meet customers’
need for more cost-effective production that Vietnam affords. With that
demand increasing, the Group has since kept expanding its production
capacity in Vietnam. It is building a more than 30,000 sg.m. new plant in
Que Vo Il Industrial Zone, Bac Ninh Province, Vietnam, which is expected
to commence production in second half of 2021. With operation of its
existing plant maturing and when the new plant is finished, the Group
expects to enjoy strong economies of scale and achieve higher yet cost-
effectiveness in production.

As for pet business, the Group believes the business will continue to
benefit from “stay-at-home” new normal. Thus, it will not only pursue
online marketing to boost recognition of its domestic pet food brand
“TeenyTiny”, but also look for producers for “Brabanconne” in other
regions to disperse supply risks. In addition, the Group will source more
brands for its online stores to avail to customers diverse high-quality
products, and also continue to launch new features aiming to enhance
user experience.

The Huizhou property project jointly developed with Guangdong Fuchuan
Investment Co., Ltd. is in good progress, with pre-sale expected to start at
the end of 2021. The management will pay close attention to
macroeconomic and market trends and timely adjust strategies as the new
normal commands, in its bid to bring SUGA’s businesses to the next level
and create long-term value for customers and shareholders.

APPRECIATION

The past year was extraordinary for the Group and we are very proud to
see our business reaching new heights. Our good performance was owed
to the long-term support of our business partners and shareholders, as
well as the vigilance and persistence of all staff amid the pandemic. On
behalf of the Group, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to all of
them. Celebrating the Group’s 30th anniversary in 2021, we will work
together with all parties, and build on our past achievements in striving
for progress in the future for SUGA.

Ng Chi Ho
Chairman

Hong Kong
28 June 2021

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
TRBE

Atk EFTAEHZ >BMERMERERBRNE
2 ARRFEESREERMGBNAERH -
AEEER T N\FEHER [FBEMN— ] K -
RBEEEYSEBSHE  MREEFPHBEEE
BARAMGEEENRIFER - HEZEFRHE
B AREDEFHREMESR  BILNER™
TEARER=TERTITXENEREBEB=8F7
KOFRE  BARZZE—FTH+FRE - FE
EZRAMEEEFIAR - I EFRRE ZRE R
IR - ARG R — PR

REVESAHE AR [EBEXR]BERFERE 8=
TEENEVEBSSRESSE - A%E—H @
BEBRG EMSHERRARERREME [BIKB
) MMEE - B—FHHEE A [Brabanconne 1%
EISKAMMENEER  UoBRHERR -
N AEEEARERET SRS UIRES
TAEMEEEE  WEEHLSHESFHNE B
KEERARER -

ERAEERAEREIREARARLRME
MBMNEHERE LERE  BAR_F_—%
ERE - ERESEVBIZERLENRTSB
g RERARMERLOZFERE  TEEEER
FE—ER REPABREEREEE-

B

EBREFN—F AEENEBELHSE  H
HHRMARZRE R - WEREEBBREHEH K
ROEHXFE  UR2BETHERBHEFREE
BB TR NRARKRANEBEZARLH
B BE_ZT-_—FRASBERI=TERFF
B BPISEETERTHE  SRIEERERK -

—E2-—FXA=+//\AH

%ﬁé%%ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁl 13



Understanding of

CUSTOMERS'
REQUIREMENTS

RERE B &K




MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Group's revenue for the year ended 31 March 2021 increased by 30.1%
to HK$2,101.6 million (FY2019/2020: HK$1,615.2 million) compared with
previous financial year. The favourable comparison was driven by the
significant increase in revenue of professional audio equipment the pet
electronic devices business due to continued strong demands for the
products of “stay-at-home” market during COVID-19 pandemic. In
addition, orders and production initially impacted by the outbreak of
COVID-19 was gradually resumed. The Group has implemented various
cost control measurement during the year under review, which has

improved overall cost efficiency.

Geographically, for the year ended 31 March 2021, revenue generated
from the top 3 countries/regions, the United States of America (the
“USA"), Taiwan and The People’s Republic of China accounted for 79.1%
of the Group’s total sales (FY2019/2020: 68.3% from the USA, Japan and
The People’s Republic of China).

Gross profit for the financial year ended 31 March 2021 was HK$286.6
million, representing an increase of HK$80.3 million or 38.9% compared
to the HK$206.3 million recorded in the previous financial year. Gross
profit margin for the year increased from 12.8% to 13.6%, it was mainly
due to increase in revenue and production capacity in Vietnam, plus
effective cost control measures, boosting cost-effectiveness.

Operating profit for the year ended 31 March 2021 was HK$102.1
million, an increase of HK$67.6 million or 195.6% compared to the
previous financial year. The increase was mainly due to the increase in
revenue generated and improvement of gross profit margin, and
improvement in cost efficiency. Total operating expenses were HK$189.8
million, an increase of HK$15.7 million as compared to last fiscal year.
Distribution and selling expenses increased by HK$4.7 million mainly due
to increase in staff costs, sales commission, and carriage outward costs
due to increase in revenue. General and administrative expenses increased
by HK$11 million mainly attributable to the increase in depreciation
expenses and employee benefit expenses.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group has recorded a net finance
costs of HK$1.4 million (FY2019/2020: HK$3.5 million). The decrease of
net finance costs was due to decrease in average bank borrowing interest
rate during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B E & s S o AT

Profit attributable to the owners of the Company was HK$79.3 million
(2020: HK$27.7 million), representing a increase of HK$51.6 million or
186.1% comparing to last year. Basic earnings per share for the year
ended 31 March 2021 were HK27.96 cents as compared to HK9.77 cents
in the previous financial year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The chief operation decision-maker has been identified as the Executive
Directors (collectively referred to as the “CODM") that make strategic
decisions. The CODM reviews the internal reporting of the Group in order
to assess performance and allocate resources and makes relevant decisions
based on the entity-wide financial information.

There are two reportable segments of the Group:

— Develop, manufacture and sales of electronic
products

Electronic products

Pet-related products — Manufacture and distribution of pet-related
products

Electronic products

Revenue from electronic products segment recorded approximately
HK$1,695.4 million (FY2019/2020: HK$1,364.4 million), representing
80.7% of the Group’s total revenue. Revenue from this segment was
increased by 24.3% as compared to last year. Among all products,
professional audio equipment recorded significant growth during the
year, benefited from the “stay-at-home” phenomenon during the
COVID-19 pandemic. Other products such as electronic payment products,
personal care appliances and telephones for hearing-impaired, which are
severely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, are resuming productions
and deliveries in the second half of the financial year.

Major products of this segment are: (i) professional audio equipment; (ii)
asset tracker with loT technology; (iii) telephones for hearing impaired; (iv)
telecommunication products; (v) general household consumer appliances;
(vi) electronic payment products; and (vii) personal care appliances.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Pet related products

Revenue from pet related products segment recorded approximately
HK$406.2 million (FY2019/2020: HK$250.8 million), representing 19.3%
of the Group’s total revenue and an increase of HK$155.4 million or
62.0% as compared to previous financial year. The increase was mainly
driven by the significant growth in demand of pet training devices during
the year under review, which was benefited from the “stay-at-home”
phenomenon during the COVID-19 pandemic.

The other products of this segment are the Group’s own pet food brands,
“Brabanconne”, imported from Belgium, and domestic brand
“TeenyTiny”. Both are selling on the largest e-commerce platform in the
country and received enthusiastic consumer response, reflective of the
strong demand for quality pet food in the mainland market. To enhance
awareness of its own-brand pet food and grasp the online shopping trend
amid the pandemic, the Group strengthened online marketing and sales,
which resulted in growth of its pet food business in both Mainland China
and Hong Kong. Turnover for the pet food business grew more than 30%

in the year ended 31 March 2021.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2021, the current assets and current liabilities of the
Group were approximately HK$875.2 million (31 March 2020: HK$630.8
million) and approximately HK$519.7 million (31 March 2020: HK$287.6
million) respectively. The liquidity ratio, which is calculated as current
assets over current liabilities, was 1.68 times as at 31 March 2021, as
compared to that of 2.19 times as at 31 March 2020.

The Group generally finances its operations by internally generated
resources and banking facilities provided by its principal bankers in Hong
Kong. Banking facilities used by the Group include revolving loans,
overdrafts and term loans, which are primarily on floating interest rates
basis. As at 31 March 2021, the Group maintained cash and bank
balances at approximately HK$127.8 million (31 March 2020: HK$128.5
million), similar to that of previous financial year. The Group’s bank
borrowings were HK$138.6 million as at 31 March 2021 (31 March 2020:
HK$67.8 million). Gearing ratio, expressed as a percentage of total bank
borrowings over total equity, was 17.3% (31 March 2020: 9.6%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B E & s S o AT

The Group’s total assets and total liabilities as at 31 March 2021
amounted to approximately HK$1,326.6 million (31 March 2020:
HK$998.0 million) and HK$524.4 million (31 March 2020: HK$293.1
million) respectively. The debt ratio, which is calculated based on total
liabilities over total assets, was approximately 0.40 times as at 31 March
2021, as compared to that of approximately 0.29 times as at 31 March
2020.

The net asset value of the Group increased from HK$704.8 million as at
31 March 2020 to HK$802.2 million as at 31 March 2021, the increase is
mainly attributable by the profit for the year.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had aggregate banking facilities of
approximately HK$710.5 million (31 March 2020: HK$785.8 million) from
its principal bankers for overdrafts, loans and trade financing, with unused
facilities of HK$519.9 million (31 March 2020: HK$693.8 million).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

The Group’s total capital expenditures for the year under review were
HK$114.7 million. The capital expenditures were mainly for the additions
of machineries and equipment for PRC and Vietnam production plants,
additions of the right-of-use assets representing a piece of land subleased
by the Group in Vietnam, and construction of new factory in Vietnam.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group is not subject to material foreign currency exposure since its
operations are mainly denominated in Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars
United States dollars and Vietnamese Dong. As Hong Kong dollars is
pegged against United States dollars, the Group mainly exposed to
foreign currency risk with respect to Renminbi and Vietnamese Dong. The
Group monitors foreign currency exchange exposure and will use forward
foreign exchange contracts as appropriate to hedge the foreign exchange
risk in the ordinary course of business.

During the year, the Group has not used any financial instruments to
hedge against foreign currency risk. It is the group’s policy not to enter
into derivative transactions for speculative purposes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2021, the Group's interest in a joint venture was pledged
in favour of a bank to secure a bank facility granted to its joint venture.
The Group did not pledge any other assets as securities for the banking
facilities granted to the Group.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had a capital commitment of HK$23.0
million for property, plant and equipment and investment in Huizhou
Jiayifu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (31 March 2020: HK$5.7
million).

Corporate guarantees given to banks to secure the borrowings granted to
subsidiaries as at 31 March 2021 amounted to HK$138.6 million (31
March 2020: HK$67.8 million). As at 31 March 2021, the Group had
contingent liabilities in respect of financial guarantees of HK$10.0 million
and RMB78.0 million for banking facilities granted to its associate and
joint venture respectively. The Group assesses the risk of default of an
associate and a joint venture at the end of the reporting period and
recognised an aggregate loss allowance of HK$2,521,000 as at 31 March
2021.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2021 the Group has approximately 2,890 employees, of
which 73 were based in Hong Kong while the rest were mainly in
Mainland China and Vietnam. Remuneration policy was reviewed
regularly, making reference to current legislation, market condition and
both the individual and company performance. In addition to salaries and
other usual benefits like annual leave, medical insurance and various
mandatory pension schemes, the Group also provides educational
sponsorship subsidies, discretionary performance bonus and share
options.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. NG Chi Ho, aged 71, is the founder, chairman and managing director
and chairman of the corporate governance committee of the Group. He is
responsible for the formulation of corporate strategy, strategic planning
and development, and overall management of the Group. Dr. NG has
over 44 years of management experience in the electronics industry and
has been teaching electronic engineering at the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University for 4 years. Dr. NG holds a bachelor’s degree in science from
the Chinese University of Hong Kong, a master of philosophy degree in
computer engineering from the University of Hong Kong, and an honorary
doctor of engineering degree from Lincoln University, USA. Dr. NG is a
chartered engineer, a fellow of the Institution of Engineering and
Technology, UK, a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors. He is an
university fellow of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a honorary
life president of the Development Foundation of the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University.

In addition, Dr. NG is a founding partner of Hong Kong-Shenzhen United
Investment Fund, an advisor of the Technology Development Committee
of Federation of Hong Kong Industries, the chairman of Hong Kong
Electronic Industries Association and honorary chairman of Hong Kong
Electronics Industries Council. Dr. NG is also the Assessment Panel
Member under the Innovation and Technology Fund, Innovation and
Technology Commission, HKSAR Government.

On community services, Dr. NG is chairman of Sir Cecil Clementi
Scholarship Foundation under Education Bureau, HKSAR Government,
and a director of Hok Hoi Library.

Dr. NG is the recipient of the Outstanding Entrepreneurship Award by
Enterprise Asia in 2013, and the Hong Kong Electronic Industry
Outstanding Achievement Award by Hong Kong Electronics Industries
Council in 2018.

Dr. NG is the father of Dr. NG Man Cheuk, Alfred, the executive director
of the Group and Mr. NG Man Chun, Anthony, the CEO of WePet Group.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

SEEREREEAEBRERE

Mr. MA Fung On, aged 63, is the deputy chairman and a member of the
corporate governance committee of the Group. Mr. MA is responsible for
the formulation of the Group’s overall strategic planning and policies, as
well as overseeing the personnel, administration and logistics of the
Group. Mr. MA has worked with the Group for more than 28 years and
has over 39 years of experience in the electronics industry. He graduated
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a higher diploma in
electronic engineering and was conferred as a Fellowship of Social
Enterprise Research Academy. Mr. Ma is vice chairman of The Hong Kong
Enterprise Association of Dongguan Qingxi and vice chairman of
Dongguan Photoelectric Communication Industry Association.

Dr. NG Man Cheuk, Alfred, aged 40, is an executive director and chief
technology officer of the Group and chief executive officer of Electronics
Manufacturing Service (EMS) division. He is responsible for exploring new
business opportunities and overseeing Research and Development (R&D)
of the Group. Dr. NG joined the Group in 2014 and Dr. Ng holds Bachelor
of Engineering (1st Hon.) degree in Computing from Imperial College
London, Master of Science (S.M.) and Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D.)
degrees in Electrical Engineering and Computer Science from
Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT). He is an Adjunct Professor at
City University of Hong Kong. Prior to joining the Group, Dr. NG has
worked at Qualcomm’s New Jersey Research Center. Dr. NG is a member
of Hong Kong Trade Development Council Electronics/Electrical
Appliances Industries Advisory Committee, a member of City University of
Hong Kong's Electronic Engineering Departmental Advisory Committee,
Expert Review Panel (ERP) member and Steering Committee member of
Logistics and Supply Chain MultiTech R&D Centre (LSCM), and the
Admission Panel Member of the MARS Centre of the Hong Kong Science
and Technology Parks Corporation (HKSTP). Dr. Ng is also a member of
Hong Kong Applied Science and Technology Research Institute Company
Limited (ASTRI)'s Board of Directors, a member of Vetting Committee of
the Trade and Industrial Organisation Support Fund (TSF), the Executive
Committee Member of Federation of Hong Kong Industries Education
Committee, a member of the Electronics and Telecommunications
Training Board of Vocational Training Council, and Vice Chairman of
Hong Kong Electronics Industry Council (Group 5 of Federation of Hong
Kong Industries).
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

Dr. NG has won the “Young Industrialist Awards of Hong Kong 2020" in
recognition of his outstanding contribution to Hong Kong's industrial
sector and the society.

He is the son of Dr. NG Chi Ho, the chairman and managing director of
the Group and the brother of Mr. NG Man Chun, Anthony, the CEO of
WePet Group.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LEE Kam Hung, Arthur, aged 63, is a non-executive director of the
Group. He holds a Master degree of Science in Engineering Business
Management (Co-organized by The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and
The University of Warwick UK).

Mr. LEE is the founder, CEO of Kolinker Group of companies since its
inception in 1983. Besides, he is a committee member of Election of
Deputies to the Thirteenth National People’s Congress from the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s Republic of China,
member of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University Council, director of
board of ITC Nano and Advanced Materials Institute Limited (NAMI),
chairman of The Finance and Administration Committee (FAC) of NAMI
and member of Expert Panel of Designated Local Research Institution
(DLRI).

In addition, Mr. LEE is the general committee member of The Chinese
Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong (CMA), fellow member of The
Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, vice president (2003 Awardee) of
Hong Kong Young Industrialists Council Foundation Limited, fellow of The
University of Warwick, founding member of Hong Kong Professionals And
Senior Executives Association and executive member of Federation of
Hong Kong Industries — PRD Council.

He is also a chairman of Department of Applied Physics of The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University, advisory member of Departmental Advisory
Committee of Electronic and Information Engineering Department of The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University (EIE), member of The Governing
Committee of the PolyU Foundation and life member of Outstanding
PolyU Alumni Association (OPAA).

Furthermore, he is an honorary advisor and founder chairman of the
Kowloon City District Senior Police Call Honorary Presidents Council (SPC)
and member of Kowloon City District Youth Programme Committee.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

SEEREREEAEBRERE

Prof. LUK Wing Ching, Wayne, aged 59, is a non-executive director of
the Group. He is Professor of Computer Engineering at Imperial College
London. He was a Visiting Professor at Stanford University and the
founding editor-in-chief of the Association for Computing Machinery
Transactions on Reconfigurable Technology and Systems (ACM TRETS).
Prof. LUK's research covers custom computing, field programmable
technology and design automation. He has received awards from various
conferences such as those covering application-specific systems and field-
programmable technology, and a Research Excellence Award from
Imperial College London. Prof. LUK is a Fellow of the Royal Academy of
Engineering, a Fellow of the Institute of Electrical and Electronics
Engineers (IEEE) and a Fellow of the British Computer Society (BCS). He
holds Master of Arts, Master of Science and Doctor of Philosophy degrees
from the University of Oxford. He is External Examiner for the Bachelor of
Engineering degree, University of Hong Kong; Guest Professor, Peking
University; Honorary Fellowship Advisor, the Croucher Foundation;
Advisor, Maxeler Technologies; Advisor, Shandong Institute of Industrial
Technology; Chief Scientific Officer, Corerain Technologies; Chief
Scientist, Peking University Advanced Institute of Information Technology;
Director, CCB Fintech Corporation; Trustee, Sino-British Fellowship Trust.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LEUNG Yu Ming, Steven, aged 62, is an independent non-executive
Director of the Group and a member of audit committee, remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Group. Mr. LEUNG holds a
master degree in accounting from Charles Sturt University in Australia and
a bachelor degree in social science from the Chinese University of Hong
Kong. Mr. LEUNG is an associate member of The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales, a practising certified accountant of
CPA Australia and a fellow member of The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong respectively. Mr.
LEUNG is also a practising certified public accountant in Hong Kong. Mr.
LEUNG previously worked in Nomura International (Hong Kong) Limited
as an assistant vice president in the International Finance and Corporate
Finance Department. He commenced public practice in auditing and
taxation since 1990. He is now the senior partner of a certified public
accountants firm. Mr. LEUNG has over 36 years of experience in
assurance, accounting, taxation, financial management and corporate
finance. Mr. LEUNG is also an independent non-executive director of C C
Land Holdings Limited, The Cross Harbour (Holdings) Limited and Y.T.
Realty Group Limited, all of which are companies listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange.

Mr. CHAN Kit Wang, Edmond, aged 68, is an independent non-
executive director of the Group and a member of audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Group. Mr.
CHAN graduated from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 1977 with
a higher diploma in accountancy. Mr. CHAN is a fellow member of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, associate member of The
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He is now a senior partner
of a certified public accountants firm. Mr. CHAN has over 44 years of
working experience in accounting, auditing and taxation.
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Dr. CHEUNG Nim Kwan, aged 73, is an independent non-executive
director of the Group and a member of audit committee, remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Group. Dr. Cheung is
managing director of a start-up company in Hong Kong Science Park. He
was Chief Executive Officer of the Hong Kong Applied Science and
Technology Research Institute (ASTRI), a 500-member R&D organization in
the information and communications area established by the Hong Kong
SAR Government. He has founded and served as the inaugural director of
the National Engineering Research Centre for Application Specific
Integrated Circuit Systems, the first National Engineering Centre
established in Hong Kong. Prior to joining ASTRI, Dr. CHEUNG has held
different research and senior management positions at AT&T Bell Labs,
Bellcore, and Telcordia Technologies. He is a Telcordia Fellow and a Fellow
of IEEE. Dr. CHEUNG served as the 18th President of the IEEE
Communications Society, a global professional organization with 45,000
members in 180 chapters around the world. He was Editor-in-Chief of the
I[EEE Communications Magazine, and was appointed Chairman of the IEEE
Fellow Committee in 2012-13, where he presided over the selection of all
new IEEE Fellows worldwide. Dr. CHEUNG is an Honorary Professor of the
Chinese University of Hong Kong and has served as Consulting Professor
at Stanford University and in Research Grants Council in Hong Kong. Dr.
CHEUNG received his B.Sc. degree from the University of Hong Kong, and
M.S. and Ph.D. degrees from the California Institute of Technology.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHOW Sze Shek, Riley, aged 49, is the chief financial officer of the
Group. Mr. CHOW is responsible for overseeing the corporate and
financial matters of the Group. Mr. CHOW is a qualified accountant and a
fellow member of CPA Australia. Mr. CHOW joined the Group in
September 2001 and has over 27 years of experience in corporate finance,
accounting and auditing. He graduated from the University of
Queensland, Australia with a Bachelor of Commerce degree in
accounting.

Mr. TENG Boon Han, Eric, aged 43, is the chief operation officer of EMS
division, he is responsible for the overall operations in SUGA Hi-Tech
Industrial Park. Mr. TENG holds a bachelor degree of Business
Administration in Finance and Economics from University of New
Brunswick, Canada. He joined the Group in 2007. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. TENG worked for global IT and telecommunication companies.
He has had international working exposure in the USA, Malaysia,
Indonesia and Thailand within those companies.

Mr. FUNG Chi Leung, Mark, aged 57, is the chief marketing officer of
EMS division. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree from the University
of Toronto in Canada. Mr. FUNG joined the Group in 2010 and has over
35 years of working experience in electronics sales and marketing.

Mr. NG Man Chun, Anthony, aged 38, is the chief executive officer of
WePet Group. Since joining the Group in 2010, Mr. NG has been
responsible for developing the pet business and managing the wholesale
and the retail pet business in Hong Kong and mainland China. Mr. NG
has also been involving in the development of the smart pet products for
the Group. Mr. NG holds Bachelor of Science degree in Robotics from The
Staffordshire University, Postgraduate Diploma in Computer Science from
The University of Birmingham and Master of Business Administration from
The University of Wales, Newport. Mr. NG has accumulated experience on
pet business in last 11 years.

Mr. NG is the son of Dr. NG Chi Ho, the chairman and managing director
of the Group and the brother of Dr. NG Man Cheuk, Alfred, the executive
director of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) and the management of Suga
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) are committed to attain
and uphold a high standard of corporate governance that properly protect
and promote the interests of its shareholders and other stakeholders
including customers, suppliers, employees and the general public.

Throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2021, the Company has
“CG Code")
contained in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities

complied with the Corporate Governance Code (the

of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), except
for CG Code A.2.1.

CG Code A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. Up to the date of this report, the Group does not have a
separate Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Dr. Ng Chi Ho
currently holds both positions. The Board believes that vesting the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer in the same person provides the
Group with strong and consistent leadership in the development and
execution of long-term business strategies. Going forward, the Group will
periodically review the effectiveness of this arrangement and considers
appointing an individual as Chief Executive Officer when it thinks
appropriate.

Save as the above-mentioned deviation, none of the directors of the
Company is aware of information that would reasonably indicate the
Company is not or was not in compliance with the CG Code for the year
under review.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Group's overall management is vested in its board of directors, which
now comprises eight members, coming from diverse businesses and
professional backgrounds. The Board consisted of three executive
directors, Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman and Managing Director), Mr. Ma Fung
On (Deputy Chairman) and Dr. Ng Man Cheuk, two non-executive
directors, Mr. Lee Kam Hung and Prof. Luk Wing Ching and three
independent non-executive directors ('INED’), Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven,
Mr. Chan Kit Wang and Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan (collectively the
‘Directors’).
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The principal functions of the Board are to supervise the group’s business
and affairs; to review the Group’s financial performance; to review the
Group'’s systems of risk management and internal control; to approve the
strategic plans, investment and funding decision. For the financial
reporting accountability, the Board has the ultimate responsibility for
preparing the financial statements. The day-to-day management is
conducted by senior management and employees of the Group, under
the direction and supervision of the Directors. When the Directors are
aware of any events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, such events or
conditions will be clearly set out and discussed in this Corporate
Governance Report.

The Company has complied with Rules 3.10 (1) and (2) of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs among whom one has
to have appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related
finance management expertise. The role of INED is to bring an
independent and objective view to the Board’s deliberations and decisions.
The Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the INEDs are independent.

All non-executive directors (including INEDs) have been appointed for a
term of one year and are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company and Listing Rules at each
annual general meeting. Save as disclosed in the biographical details of
each director, there is no other relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationship) among members of the
Board.
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ROLE OF THE BOARD

The Board meets at least four times annually to review business
development and overall strategic policies. The Board is supplied with
relevant information by the senior management pertaining to matters to
be brought before the Board for decision as well as reports relating to
operational and financial performance of the Group before each regular
board meeting. At least 14 days’ notice of a regular board meeting is
given to all directors to give them the opportunity to attend. Board papers
are dispatched to the directors at least three days before the meeting to
ensure that they have sufficient time to review the papers and be
adequately prepared for the meeting.

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Company and its subsidiaries, setting appropriate policies
and reviewing the effectiveness of such controls. Risk management and
internal control are defined as a process effected by the Board,
management and other personnel, designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only
provide reasonable, not absolute assurance of the following:

—  effectiveness and efficiency operations

— reliability of financial reporting

—  compliance with applicable laws and regulations

—  effectiveness of risk management functions

The Board conducted a review of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31
March 2021 including the consideration of the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting and
financial reporting function and their training programmes and budget.
The Board assessed the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control systems by considering reviews performed by the Audit
Committee, executive management and the independent auditors’
management letters, if any, and is satisfied that the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group is functioning properly.
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Four regular meetings of the Board and one Annual General Meeting 4R £EIFOAfIITEESSE L —ARER

were held during the year. The attendance of each director at the meeting FAE® - REEHFH 2 AHEHHOT -
is set out as follows:

Name of directors Board meeting AGM
EEgE EEEER BRRBEFKE
Executive Directors HITES

Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman) RaEEL(EFE) 4/4 1/1
Mr. Ma Fung On (Deputy Chairman) EETNE(BIFE) 4/4 11
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk RREBT 4/4 11
Non-Executive directors EEITES

Mr. Lee Kam Hung TEMESE A 4/4 1/1
Prof. Luk Wing Ching Bk B HE 4/4 1
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIAFHITES

Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven pradesk At 4/4 IVAl
Mr. Chan Kit Wang BRI & 4/4 1
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan R IRE L 4/4 11
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ZAN meps ATAS S/ S HD) Ja
TEEIRME
DIRECTORS’ TRAINING =8 H
Based on the training records provided to the Company by the directors, RIEZEERANGHRHEZIEIGSE  ER &5
the directors have participated in the following training during the year: o 22 B A TN EE ) -
Directors’ participation of continuous professional development EEQHBESEER

-1 HKIoD
= 7 18 & 2021
Director CPD

Attended training courses,
seminars, workshops,

Directors in-house briefs
HEEIRE  Hig -
BE Ty - REBERE
Executive Directors HITES
Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman) REXET(EE) v
Mr. Ma Fung On (Deputy Chairman) BEREE(BIERE) v
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk REREFE T v
Non-Executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Lee Kam Hung TERMESEA v
Prof. Luk Wing Ching Bk B HIR v
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUKHITES
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFEAE v
Mr. Chan Kit Wang BRANRSE A& v
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan R iE L 4

FEAREEARAT oo
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DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITIES
INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY

To indemnify Directors and officers of the Company against all costs,
charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by them in the execution
of and discharge of their duties or in relation thereto, the Company has
arranged insurance cover for this purpose.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The board has established four committees and has delegated various
responsibilities to the committees including the audit committee (the
“Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”), the nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”)
and the corporate governance committee (the “Corporate Governance
Committee”). All the Board Committees perform their distinct roles in
accordance with their respective terms of reference. The Board
Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expense.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three INEDs who are Mr. Leung Yu Ming,
Steven, Mr. Chan Kit Wang and Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan. The composition
and members of the Audit Committee complies with the requirements
under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Chairman of the Audit
Committee is Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven.

The Audit Committee meetings are held not less than twice a year to
review and discuss the risk management and internal audit of the Group,
to review the Group's interim and annual financial statements, and also
monitor the appointment and function of the Group’s independent
auditors. Additional meetings may also be held by the Committee from
time to time to discuss special projects or other issues of which the Audit
Committee considers necessary. The Committee’s authority and duties are
set out in written terms of reference and are posted on the websites of
the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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During the year, two Audit Committee meetings were held and the
individual attendance of each member is set out below:

Member of Audit Committee

\

TEERMSE

FARBITMABZRES S SKEZRESR
HEREBEIIT -

Meeting attended

ERZEEERE HESRRE
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFHESE 2/2
Mr. Chan Kit Wang BRI ST 2/2
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan R EL 2/2

During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed the fiscal year 2019/2020
annual report and fiscal year 2020/2021 interim report, including the
accounting principles and practice adopted by the Group, reviewed and
discussed the financial results and risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, conducted discussions with the independent
auditors on financial reporting, compliance, and reported all relevant
matters to the Board.

The Audit Committee has also reviewed the fiscal year 2020/2021 annual
report in a meeting held on 23 June 2021.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises three INEDs and is currently
chaired by Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven. No director or senior executive will
be involved in any discussion in connection with his own remuneration.
The meeting of the Remuneration Committee shall normally be held not
less than once a year.

The Company has adopted a model where the Remuneration Committee
performs an advisory role to the Board, with the Board retaining the final
authority to approve the remuneration of executive directors and senior
management.

R ERZEGEEN TN/ -T_FTF
BREFEFHRE T -/ "2 —FHRFE
REIRE  BREBRAASEMRAZ SRR
B BH AN WARE M BEEURERE
B R AEPERIEIE - HIE T R BRED R AR R A B R
REREE YMEFSERMEGHERER -

BR-ZE-—FNAZF+=HETT
—E-E/ CE-—EREEE

FMESS

FNEB e =—RBIUFNITESTMAK - TFRE
RRTHEL - EFHARRTRAERKTE2HE
AmEERGZHM - HHEE S - REFRT

TOR—IREH

ARBDHRMBEFHNEESERESTSRM &
FRN EFEEARKENBRPTESTLSMR
EIEE 2 FE

Eﬁé%%ﬁl‘&ﬂﬁl 35



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEEIRMSE

The Committee’s principal responsibilities are to make recommendation
to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive
directors and senior management, make recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration of non-executive directors and make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration structure. It also
reviews and guides the formulation of the Group’s performance related
pay schemes. Term of reference which described the authorities and
duties of the Remuneration Committee are publicly available on the
websites of the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, the
contents of which are in compliance with the CG Code.

During the year, two Remuneration Committee meetings were held and
the individual attendance of each member is set out below:

Member of the Remuneration Committee

RESZIZBAERARENRTEERSRER
ABZFMEBMESSRMHES  IFNTE
EZFMRESSREEZRMARFHRER
EFeRHER REERTAKEERRH
W HM o RLRESETES - BAFHER S
REZBESENRARBREBBZAEER
FREHN  BEARTTEBTEEERTAZRE

FARKBTMAFMEZESSH  SKEZMER
hEREBEIIT -

Meeting attended

FHEEERE HESBRE
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFEIA 2/2
Mr. Chan Kit Wang PR 2/2
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan KRBT 2/2

During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and made
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive directors, non-executive director, the INEDs, and
senior management; and reviewed the bonus to senior management.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

For the year ended 31 March, 2021, the remuneration of the members of
the senior management by band is set out below:

Remuneration bands (HK$)
&R (BT)

FR - FHZESCEBRRRERNNTES - I
WITEE BUFNTEZNSATEE ZHH
HFERNESGRIEZZ YEEHSREEEY
TE4L o

EEREREEE 25N

BE_Z-—GF=-A=+—BIFE oHKER
ABRESEESZ D 2 HMEIMT

Number of persons

A

$0 to $2,000,000
$2,000,001 to $3,000,000

07T 2 2,000,000 7T

Further particulars regarding director’ remuneration and the five highest
paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to
the Listing Rules are set out in notes 36 & 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises three INEDs who are Mr. Leung Yu
Ming, Steven, Mr. Chan Kit Wang and Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan. The
Nomination Committee is currently chaired by Mr. Leung Yu Ming,
Steven.

The meeting of the Nomination Committee shall normally be held not less
than once a year. The Committee will identify qualified candidates to fill
the Board membership whenever such vacancy arises. It will nominate
such candidates for the Board to consider, and regularly review the
composition of the Board as well as make suggestions as to any change
that may be required. The Committee’s authority and duties are set out in
written terms of reference and are posted on the websites of the
Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the year. Details of
individual attendance of its members are set out in the table below:

Member of the Nomination Committee
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Meeting attended

BEEESERE HESRIRE
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFHIAE 2/2
Mr. Chan Kit Wang AL E 2/2
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan SR EE 2/2

During the year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size,
diversity, gender and composition of the Board; make recommendations
to the Board on appointment of directors after considering their
qualifications and experience in relevant industries and re-election of the
directors subject to retirement by rotation under the bye-laws at the 2020
annual general meeting and assess the independence of the independent
non-executive directors according to the independence requirements set
out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to code provision A.4.3 of the CG Code, (a) having served the
Company for more than nine years could be relevant to the determination
of an INED’s independence; and (b) if an INED has served more than nine
years, his further appointment should be subject to a separate resolution
to be approved by shareholders.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted the board diversity policy in August 2013. The policy
sets out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in
order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

The Company considered diversity of board members can be achieved
through consideration of a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

The Board developed measurable objectives to implement the board
diversity policy, where selection of candidates will be based on the range
of diversity perspectives as set out above, and the ultimate decision will be
based on merit and contribution that the selected candidate will bring to
the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Corporate Governance Committee of the Company was established
on 21 February, 2012. As at the date of this annual report, the Corporate
Governance Committee comprised of two executive directors, namely Dr.
Ng Chi Ho (Chairman) and Mr. Ma Fung On.

The role and main function of the Corporate Governance Committee is to
assist the Board in developing and reviewing the policies and practices on
corporate governance which are applicable to the Group and making
recommendations to the Board.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee include
the duties set out in Code Provision D.3.1. (a) to (e) for the time being in
force. The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee

are available on the website of the Company.
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The Corporate Governance Committee held one meeting during the year.
The attendance at this meeting is as follows:

Member of the Corporate
Governance Committee

TEERMSE

FR ERERZBEHBIT K
ZHEFBOT

33

i&};
18>
it

Meeting attended

TEEREEENE HEERRE
Dr. Ng Chi Ho RERBLT 11
Mr. Ma Fung On BEREE 11

During the year, the Corporate Governance Committee reviewed and
discussed the new requirements of the Corporate Governance Code of
the Listing Rules and reviewed and monitored the training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy in November 2018 (“Dividend
Policy”). Under the Companies Act of Bermuda, dividends may be paid
subject to the solvency test is duly passed and satisfied and that:

(@) the Company is not or would not after payment of the said final
dividend be unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; and

(b) the realizable value of the Company’s assets would not thereby be
less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital
and share premium account.

Declaration and recommendation of payment of dividends of the
Company is subject to the approval of the Directors of the Company,
depending on results of operations, working capital, financial position,
future prospects, and capital requirements, as well as any other factors
which the Directors of the Company may consider relevant from time to
time. Any future declaration, recommendation and payment of dividends
of the Company may or may not reflect the historical declarations and
payments of dividends and will be at the absolute discretion of the
Directors of the Company. The Company does not have any
predetermined dividend payout ratio.
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In addition to cash, dividends may be distributed in the form of Shares.
Any distribution of Shares, however, must be approved by a resolution of
the shareholders.

The Board will review this Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the
effectiveness of this Policy. The audit committee will discuss any revisions
that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a nomination policy in November 2018 (“Nomination
Policy”), which sets out the criteria and procedures when considering
candidates to be appointed or re-elected as directors of the Company.

Nomination Criteria
The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria in
evaluating and selecting candidates for directorship:

1. Character and integrity;

2. Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience that are relevant to the Company’s business and
corporate strategy;

3. Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a
member of the Board;

4.  Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives adopted for
achieving diversity on the Board;

5. Requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the listing rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited applicable to the Company (the “Listing Rules”) and
whether the candidates would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing
Rules;

6.  Such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business or
as suggested by the Board.
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Nomination Procedures
1. Nomination by the Nomination Committee

1.1

The Nomination Committee reviews the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience)
of the Board periodically and make recommendation on any
proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy;

When it is necessary to fill a casual vacancy or appoint an
additional director, the Nomination Committee identifies or
selects candidates as recommended to the Committee, with
or without assistance from external agencies or the Company,
pursuant to the nomination criteria;

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee shall rank them by order of preference
based on the needs of the Company and reference check of
each candidate (where applicable);

The Nomination Committee makes recommendation to the
Board including the terms and conditions of the appointment;

The Board deliberates and decides on the appointment based
upon the recommendation of the Nomination Committee;
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2. Re-election of Director at Annual General Meeting

42

2.1

2.2

2.3

In accordance with the Company’s articles of association,
every director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years and shall be eligible for re-election
at each annual general meeting;

The Nomination Committee shall review the overall
contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
director. The Nomination Committee shall also review the
expertise and professional qualifications of the retiring
director, who offered himself/herself for re-election at the
annual general meeting, to determine whether such director
continues to meet the nomination criteria;

Based on the review made by Nomination Committee, the
Board shall make recommendations to shareholders on
candidates standing for re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company, and provide the available
biographical information of the retiring director in accordance
with the Listing Rules to enable shareholders to make the
informed decision on the re-election of such candidates at
annual general meeting of the Company.

Nomination by shareholders
The shareholders of the Company may propose a person for election

as a director in accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company and

applicable law, details of which are set out in the “Procedures for a

shareholder to propose a person for election as director of the

Company” of the Company adopted in February 2012.

The Board will review this Nomination Policy, as appropriate, to

ensure its effectiveness from time to time. The Nomination

Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and

recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and

approval.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to
the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions. The Company made specific enquiry of all directors as to
whether they complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code regarding their securities transactions for the year under review. It
was confirmed that there was full compliance. The relevant employee
who, because of their office in the Group, are likely to be in possession of
inside information, have been requested to comply with the provisions of
the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. The finance department of the
Company is taken charge by the Chief Financial Officer of the Company.
With the assistance of the finance department, the Directors ensure that
the consolidated financial statements of the Group have been properly
prepared in accordance with relevant regulations and applicable
accounting principles.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Group’s independent auditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC").
The financial reporting responsibilities of the independent auditors are set
out on pages 105 to 247 of this annual report.

During the year, remuneration of approximately HK$3,250,000 was
payable to PwC for the provision of audit services. In addition,
approximately HK$405,000 was payable to PwC for other non-audit
services. The non-audit services mainly consist of tax compliance and
other services.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Zeng Zhi is responsible to the Board for ensuring the Board
procedures are followed and the Board activities are efficiently and
effectively conducted. She is also responsible for ensuring that the Board
is briefed on relevant legislative, regulatory and corporate governance
developments. During the year, Ms. Zeng have duly complied with the
relevant training requirement under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
During the year under review, there is no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Responsibility

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility in establishing
an appropriate risk management and internal control systems, and
reviewing their effectiveness regularly. The systems include a defined
management structure with limits of authority to safeguard its assets
against unauthorized use or disposition; to ensure the maintenance of
proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial
information for management use or for publication and to ensure
compliance with relevant laws and regulations. The systems are designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss, and to manage the risks of failure in the Group’s
operational systems and in the achievement of the Group's objectives.

Management is responsible in the design and implementation of the risk
management and internal control systems. A Risk Management
Committee was established to monitor the operations of risk management
and internal control systems and provide confirmation to the Audit
Committee on the effectiveness of the systems regularly.
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Risk Management

The purpose of risk management is to ensure that the risks to the Group
are identified, analyzed, and managed at an acceptable level. In order to
provide a sound and effective risk management system, a Risk
Management Manual is established to specify the Risk Management
Framework and Risk Management Processes.

The Risk Management Framework outlines the responsibilities of the
Board, the senior management, the Audit Committee, the Internal Audit
and the Risk Management Committee. The Board, through its risk
oversight role, ensures that the senior management establishes risk
management policies to identify and evaluate risks. Each subsidiary/
division implements such policies and processes in the daily operations
and reports significant risks identified to the senior management promptly
and regularly. The senior management and Risk Management Committee
will communicate the risk management findings to the Audit Committee
and the Board for their assessment of the effectiveness of the relevant risk
management and internal control systems of the Group.

The Risk Management Processes including the followings:

1. Risk Identification — each subsidiary or division to identify its own
risks.

2. Risk Analysis — analyze the identified risks for potential impact and
likelihood of occurrence.

3. Risk Register — the likelihood of occurrence and impacts of
identified risks are defined. The top risks are identified according to
the rating obtained from risk assessment and documented in a risk
register. Each operating subsidiary/division records the risk events
occurred in the risk register and the action taken to reduce the
impact of the risk to the Group.

4. Risk Mitigation — identify the existing controls over the relevant
risks to avoid, reduce or transfer the risks, or to accept the identified
risks with low impact or likelihood.

5. Risk Confirmation — the process of confirmation to the Risk
Management Committee, Audit Committee and the Board by the
management of the completion of the risk monitoring process and
report the risks occurred, if any, during the review period that have
significant impact to the Group.
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Internal Control and Internal Audit

The Group has established systems of internal control to ensure the
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliabilities of financial and
management reporting, compliances of laws and regulations and
safeguarding of assets. The system of internal control provides reasonable
but not absolute assurance against material errors, losses or frauds.

Suga has an Internal Audit function. Internal Audit reviews material
internal control aspects of the Group, including financial, operational and
compliance controls as well as risk management.

Internal Audit carries out audit in accordance with audit plan that is
reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee. In addition to the
approved internal audit schedule, Internal Audit may conduct other review
and investigation for the Group’s business on an ad hoc basis as and
when necessary.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2021, the Group Internal Audit
Department conducted audits and issued internal audit reports to
management covering various operational and finance functions of the
Group. The half-yearly internal audit reports and its findings were
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on a half-yearly basis.
Relevant findings and recommendations reported by the Internal Audit
were communicated with the management and actions were taken to
resolve defects as and when identified. There is no material internal
control defects identified during the year.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
effectiveness

The Board has conducted review of the effectiveness and adequacy of the
risk management and internal control systems by reviewing the work
performed by the Audit Committee, Risk Management Committee and
the Internal Audit Department for the financial year ended 31 March
2021. The review covered all material controls, including operational,
financial and compliance control, and risk management functions. The
scope and the quality of ongoing monitoring of risks and internal control
systems have been assessed.

46 SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

AR EE 12 ] A BB %
AEBERY AR %UVLM:E%A BZBMK
A MBREERSEZAIEG  ETERR
/X%ELA)SU%* BE - W*WW %IJF}ET BEEIW
FEBERERBREANTR - BRIMGE -

EERANMEZ BB - ANBRERIAE
EleBEBRAAREEER  BREME 2ERER
EEURRERERE

NMBEZAREBEABZZESEHN M EZER
FPEPETTEYG - BREFER 2 ABEREFRRIN

ABBEZBAIREFTEZERARE 2 B HIE
TTEMERLAT -

RBEZE_T_—F=A=+—HILHEREFERN "
AEBAMBEZMALTZRERZLAEEEH
RAFELRE  BEAEBEZTREERMT
R - FFEEABBERBREREER D EF FH
ETERZRECNRESTE - mNIEZBREZ
HEZRAREBEZRVBHNEEERCRRTHY
CARROR P a8 pl| 1 8 2 B » F I 58 Al B K A 3D
EETREZER -

R B i T % PO P B A RN RE 2 B B

ExeCAbENERZEe AREELZES
EABBZHFIREE—_ZT_—F=A=+—H
I BRERETZ TIE - HREREE RARREE
HE MR B WIZEETRE - BEHREMAE
EREE  BREE UHLEMERE  UER
BEIEREE - AR R KN BB HIE 2 £

ENEE8E TIARTHE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Dissemination of inside information

The Company conducts its business affairs according to the “Guidelines
on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the Securities and Future
Commission. The Company strictly prohibits the unauthorised use of
confidential or inside information by Directors, employees and other
relevant persons (such as external service providers and project working
team members).

The Board is responsible for the handling and dissemination of inside
information. In order to ensure the market, shareholders and stakeholders
are fully and promptly informed about the material developments in the
Company’s business, the Board has adopted continuous disclosure policy
and procedures to handle proper information disclosure. Release of inside
information is subject to the approval of the Board. All staff of the
Company shall not communicate inside information to any external parties
unless with approval from the Board. As such, staff shall not respond to
market speculation and rumours unless authorised. In addition, all external
presentation materials or publications must be pre-vetted before released.

The Board considered that the risk management and internal control
systems are functioning effectively and adequately.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining effective
communications with shareholders. In order to develop and maintain
continuing relationship with the shareholders of the Company, the
Company established various channels to facilitate and enhance
communication:

(i)  the annual general meeting provides a useful forum for the
shareholders of the Company to raise comments and exchange
views with the Board;

(i)  publication of announcements and circulars on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company;
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(i) publication of financial statements containing a summary of the
financial information and affairs of the Group for the interim and
full financial year via the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company;

(iv) interim reports, annual reports and circulars that are sent to all
shareholders;

(v)  notices of and explanatory notes for general meetings; and

(vi) the management of the Group continually conducts meetings with
investors, analysts and the media, and provides them with up-to-
date and comprehensive information regarding the Company’s
development and answers to their queries.

The Company also maintains a website at www.suga.com.hk, where
updates on the Company’s business developments and operations,

financial information and news can always be found.

Shareholders and investors may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing through the contact details as follows:

Address: 22nd Floor, Tower B, Billion Centre,
1 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

Fax: 2953 1523

Email: investorrelations@suga.com.hk
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Shareholders are entitled to requisition a special general meeting and put

forward proposals at general meeting. The procedures are as follows:

(a)

(b)

PROCEDURES FOR REQUISITIONING A SPECIAL
GENERAL MEETING

In accordance with Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the shareholders
of the Company holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of such of the paid-up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company, shall have the right to convene a special general meeting
of the Company. If the directors do not within twenty-one days
from the date of the deposit of the requisition proceed duly to
convene a meeting, the requisitionists representing more than one
half of the total voting rights may themselves convene a meeting.

The written requisition for the special general meeting can be
lodged at the Company’s principal office in Hong Kong at 22nd
Floor, Tower B, Billion Centre, 1 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS
AT GENERAL MEETING

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-twentieth of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right to vote at general
meetings of the Company or not less than 100 shareholders may, at
their expense, provide a written request to the attention of the
Company Secretary signed and deposited in accordance with the
Bermuda Companies Act 1981.

The procedures for the shareholders to propose a person for
election of a director at an annual general meeting is available for
viewing at the Company’s website at www.suga.com.hk.

The above procedures are subject to the bye-laws of the Company
and applicable legislation and regulation.

Besides, the updated memorandum of association and bye-laws of
the Company has been posted on the website of the Company at
www.suga.com.hk and the designated website of the Stock
Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERHE

The Directors are pleased to present to the shareholders their report and
the audited financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(together, “the Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Its principal
subsidiaries are engaged in the research and development, manufacture
and sale of electronic and other products and sale of pet food and pet
related products. Details of the principal activities of the Group’s
subsidiaries are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by reporting and
geographical segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and discussion on
the Group’s prospects, as well as discussion and analysis of the Group’s
performance during the year ended 31 March 2021 and the material
factors underlying its financial performance are set out in the “Chairman
Statement” on pages 9 to 13, “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 15 to 19 and Environmental, Social and Governance Report on
pages 70 to 104 of this annual report.

A description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the Group is
facing is provided in the section of Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems in “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 44 to 47.
Additionally, the financial risk management objectives and policies of the
Company can be found in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there is no important event
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the financial year
ended 31 March 2021.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE
SUGA’s commitment to excellence extends to the Group conducting its
business in a manner that respects the environment. The strive for cleaner
production has led SUGA to adopt energy conservation practices that can
reduce environmental risks and liabilities as well as improve
competitiveness. Details of environment policy and performance are set
out in “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” on pages 70 to
104 of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has established procedures to ensure its operations comply
with applicable laws, rules and regulations. The Board of Directors is
responsible for monitoring the Group’s policies and practices making sure
they agree with relevant legal and regulatory requirements, and that
those policies and practices are regularly reviewed for adequacy. Any
changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought as
necessary to the attention of relevant employees and operating units.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, as far as it is aware, the Group
has complied with the relevant laws and regulations of PRC and Hong
Kong that have a significant impact on its business and operations.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS
Discussions on the Group’s relationships with its employees, customers
and suppliers are set out in “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” on pages 70 to 104 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in

the consolidated income statement on page 116 of this annual report.

An interim dividend of HK6.0 cents per ordinary share were paid during
the financial year. The Directors have proposed the payment of a final
dividend of HK8.0 cents per ordinary share and a special dividend of
HK$3.0 cents per ordinary share for the year ended 31 March 2021. Total
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2021 amounted to HK17.0 cents
per ordinary share.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERHE

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS (CONTINUED)
The proposed final dividend and special dividend, if approved at the

forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on 13

August 2021 is expected to be paid on or before 27 August 2021 to

shareholders of the Company whose names appear on the Register of

Shareholders of the Company on 19 August 2021.

The register of Shareholders of the Company will be closed for the

following periods:

(i)

(ii)

52

The Register of Shareholders of the Company will be closed from 10
August 2021 to 13 August 2021 (both days inclusive), during which
period no transfer of shares in the Company will be registered, for
the purpose of determining the identity of the shareholders entitled
to attend and vote at 2021 Annual General Meeting. In order to
qualify to attend and vote at the meeting, all transfers of shares
accompanied by the relevant share certificates and transfer forms
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m.
on 9 August 2021.

The Register of Shareholders of the Company will be closed on 19
August 2021 during which day no transfer of shares in the
Company will be registered, for the purpose of determining the
entitlement of the shareholders to receive the proposed final
dividend and special dividend. Subject to approval of the
shareholders at the 2021 Annual General Meeting, the proposed
final dividend and special dividend will be payable to the
shareholders whose names appear on the Register of Shareholders
of the Company on 19 August 2021. In order to qualify for the
proposed final dividend and special dividend, all transfers of shares
accompanied by the relevant share certificates and transfer forms
must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m.
on 18 August 2021.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of the
Company during the year are set out in the note 26 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in share capital and share options of the
Company during the year are set out in notes 24 and 25 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS — SHARE OPTIONS
GRANTED TO DIRECTORS AND SELECTED
EMPLOYEES

Details of the share options granted in prior years and current year is set
out in note 25 of the financial statements and “Share options Scheme”
section contained in this Directors Report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 March 2021 calculated
under Companies Act of Bermuda amounted to HK$91,325,000 (2020:
HK$113,450,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for the pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-
laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, there were no transactions, which need to
be disclosed as connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having
made all reasonable enquiries, save as disclosed in this annual report,
none of the related party transactions as disclosed in note 40 to the
consolidated financial statements contained in this annual report is a
connected transaction.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERHE

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

The Company did not redeem any of its shares during the year. Neither
the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any
of the Company’s shares during the year.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year
amounted to HK$2,157,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
is set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS
Particular of bank borrowings as at 31 March 2021 are set out in note 20
to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES
Particulars of retirement schemes are set out in note 39 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 248 of this
annual report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman)

Mr. Ma Fung On (Deputy Chairman)
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lee Kam Hung
Prof. Luk Wing Ching

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven

Mr. Chan Kit Wang

Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan

At the forthcoming annual general meeting, Mr. Ma Fung On, Prof. Luk
Wing Ching and Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan will retire by rotation in
accordance with Bye-law 111 of the Company’s Bye-laws. All the retiring
Directors are being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Each of Non-executive Director and Independent Non-executive Directors
is appointed for a term of one year.

Dr. Ng Chi Ho, being Executive Director of the Company has entered into
a service contract with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years
commencing from 1 September 2002 and will continue thereafter until
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other. Mr. Ma Fung On, being Executive Director, has
entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial fixed term
of three years commencing from 1 April 2004 and will continue thereafter
until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by
either party on the other. Dr. Ng Man Cheuk, being Executive Director,
has entered into a service contract with the Company for an initial fixed
term of three years commencing from 1 May 2015 and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other. Save as disclosed above, none
of the Directors proposed for re-election has a service contract with the
Company, which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Directors consider the share option scheme, with its broadened basis
of participation, will enable the Group to reward the employees, Directors
and other selected participants for their contributions to the Group and
will also assist the Group in its recruitment and retention of high caliber
professional’s executives and employees who are instrumental to the
growth of the Group.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 6 August 2012, the
Company'’s share option scheme adopted on 17 September 2002 (the
“Old Share Option Scheme”) was terminated and ceased to have any
further effect except that the Old Share Option Scheme will remain in
force to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of the options
granted thereunder prior to termination thereof. A new share option
scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) was adopted which will
remain in force for a period of 10 years from adoption of the New Share
Option Scheme and will expire on 5 August 2022.

For details of the principal terms of the New Share Option Scheme, please
refer to the circular of the Company dated 5 July 2012.

Principal terms of the New Share Option Scheme are as follows:

1. Purpose of the New Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Group to grant Options to selected participants as incentives or
rewards for their contribution to the Group.

The Directors consider the New Share Option Scheme will enable
the Group to reward its employees, Directors and other selected
participants for their contributions to the Group and will also assist
the Group in its recruitment and retention of high calibre
professionals, executives and employees who are instrumental to
the growth of the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
Who may join
The Directors (which expression shall include a duly authorized

2.

committee thereof) may, at their absolute discretion subject to the

Listing Rules, invite any person belonging to any of the following

classes of participants, to take up options to subscribe for Shares:

(a)

any employee (whether full time or part time including any
executive director but excluding any non-executive director) of
the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

any non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or
any Invested Entity;

any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity;

any customer of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity;

any person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support to any member of the Group or
any Invested Entity;

any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity or any holder of any securities issued by any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity;

any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any
area of business or business development of any member of
the Group or any Invested Entity; and

any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliance or other business arrangements to the
development and growth of the Group.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
2.

58

Who may join (Continued)

For the purposes of the New Share Option Scheme, the Options
may be granted to any company wholly owned by one or more
persons belonging to any of the above classes of participants. For
the avoidance of doubt, the grant of any Options by the Company
for the subscription of Shares or other securities of the Group to any
person who fall within any of the above classes of participants shall
not, by itself, unless the Directors otherwise determined, be
construed as a grant of Option under the New Share Option
Scheme.

The basis of eligibility of any of the above class of participants to the
grant of any Options shall be determined by the Directors from time
to time on the basis of the Directors’ opinion as to his contribution
to the development and growth of the Group.

Maximum number of Shares available for
subscription

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the New Share Option Scheme must not exceed 10%
of the issue share capital of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the New Share Option Scheme was
22,943,000 shares (including 6,400,000 shares subject to options
that have been granted but not yet lapsed or exercised), which
represented approximately 8.09% of the issued share capital of the
Company.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

4.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted under the New Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group (including
both exercised, cancelled or outstanding options) to each participant
in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company for the time being (“Individual Limit”). Any
further grant of Options in excess of the Individual Limit in any
12-month period up to and including the date of such further grant
shall be subject to the issue of a circular to the Shareholders and the
Shareholders’ approval in general meeting of the Company with
such participant and his associates abstaining from voting. The
number and terms (including the exercise price) of the Options to be
granted to such participant must be fixed before Shareholders’
approval and the date of Board meeting for proposing such further
grant should be taken as the date of grant for the purpose of
calculating the exercise price under note (1) to Rule 17.03(9) of the
Listing Rules.

Basis of determining the subscription price

The subscription price for Shares under the New Share Option
Scheme shall be a price determined by the Directors, but shall not
be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations on the date of the offer of
grant, which must be a business day; (i) the average closing price of
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares. A nominal consideration of
HK$1.00 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an Option.

Exercise period of an option

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
New Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee, which
period may commence on a day upon which the offer for the grant
of Options is made but shall end in any event not later than 10 years
from the date of grant of the Option subject to the provisions for
early termination thereof.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
7.

60

Time and payment on acceptance
An offer of the grant of the Option may be accepted by a
participant within 21 days from the date of the offer of grant of the
Option and the Option in respect of the number of Shares in respect
of which the offer was so accepted will be deemed to have been
granted on the date of grant of the Options.

Minimum period and performance targets

Unless the Directors otherwise determined and stated in the offer of
the grant of Options to a grantee, a grantee is not required to hold
an Option for any minimum period nor achieve any performance
targets before any Options granted under the New Share Option
Scheme can be exercised.

Remaining life of the New Share Option Scheme
Subject to earlier termination by the Company in general meeting,
the New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective till 5
August 2022. After the expiry of such valid period, no further
options will be offered or granted but in all other respects the
provisions of the New Share Option Scheme shall remain in full
force and effect.

Details of the share option movements during the period from 1

April 2020 to 31 March 2021 under the Old Share Option Scheme
and the New Share Option Scheme are as follows:

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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EETHE

October 2020) on which the share options were granted was HK$1.310.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED) BRR#ETE (&)
9. Remaining life of the New Share Option Scheme 9. FEBRESTEI2FeRFH (E)
(Continued)
Number of share options
BRESE
Outstanding Granted  Exercised Expired Outstanding
at 1 April during during during  at 31 March Exercise
2020 the period  the period  the period 2021 price Date of grant Exercisable period
R-Z=%F R=F=-F
mA—H =R=1+-H
HATHRE  HARY  BRTR BRER i RATHE fTEE REAH 75
(HKS)
(B
Mr. Ma Fung On 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 2.190 30 June 2016 30 June 2016-29 June 2021
BERALE ZE-R"FAA=tR ZE-RE~A=THE
ZEZ-FXAZTNE
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 2.190 30June 2016 30 June 2016-29 June 2021
RREHET “E-X"FERA=TH ZT-R"FAA=tHZ
“E-—FXAZTAE
800,000 - - - 800,000 2.090 30 August 2018 30 August 2018-29 August 2023
—E2-\ENA=TH ZE-N\FNA=1+HZ
ZEZ=§\AZTNHA
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan 300,000 - - - 300,000 2.190 30June 2016 30 June 2016-29 June 2021
FamEt “TRERASTA  CE-AEAASTAE
ZEZ-FXAZTAIE
Continuous Contract - 1,700,000 - 2.260 10 July 2015 10 July 2015-9 July 2020
Employees —Z-R%tA+A “Z-AFtA+RE
REANIER —Z-ZFELANA
Continuous Contract - 650,000 - 2.142 7 January 2016 7 January 2017-6 January 2021
Employees —B-R"E-AtH —Z—t%-AtHE
HEAHIESR —E--%5-ARH
Continuous Contract S S 3,300,000 2.090 30 August 2018 30 August 2018-29 August 2023
Employees —E-\ENA=+HR Z—Z-\FNA=tHE
HFEANESR ZZZ=F\AZ1+NA
Continuous Contract - - 1,300,000 1.810 10 July 2019 10 July 2019-9 July 2024
Employees “Z-NEtATH “Z-NEtA+RE
SECNESR ZZImE+ANA
Continuous Contract - - 1,000,000 1.330 16 October 2020 16 October 2020-15 October 2025
Employees ZZZZF+ A+~ ZEZEFTATAHE
HEANER ZE-n%+A+hA
- 2,350,000 9,700,000
Note: MzE -
1. The closing price of the Company’s share immediately before the date (16 ile ARABNMNEZBEREERBER(ZF_F

FHA+TRBE) AT ZWHER1.3108T -
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
9.

62

Remaining life of the New Share Option Scheme
(Continued)

Details of the share option movements during the period from 1
April 2021 to 28 June 2021 under the Scheme Option Scheme are

BB RESTE (E)
9. FMERMETEZRERFH (FE)
M- -_—FWMA—HB=_ZFT=-—F5A

“+HNA\BHEA - BT EAT 2B

as follows: BEFFIEOAT
Number of share options
BREHE
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed  Outstanding
at 1 April during during during at 28 June Exercise
2021  theperiod  the period the period 2021 price  Date of grant Exercisable period
RZB=-% RIB=-F
mA-A ~AZtNA
i RATE HMRE BT BRER e RATE fTkE B®EAH L]
(HKS)
()
Mr. Ma Fung On 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 2.190 30 June 2016 30 June 2016-29 June 2021
BETRE - EXAZtR —EF- /\ﬁ/\ﬂ +AZ
ZZ-—¥7/AZTthA
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk 2,000,000 2,000,000 2.190 30 June 2016 30 June 2016-29 June 2021
REEBL S Y e =] —I-xEXA=tHE
—Z--FXA-thA
800,000 = 5 5 800,000 2.090 30 August 2018 30 August 2018-29 August 2023
“E-\EN\A=+R ZE-N\ENR=1RHZE
ZZZ=F¥N\AZthAH
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan 300,000 - - - 300,000 2.190 30 June 2016 30 June 2016-29 June 2021
RamiEt “E-R¥xA=tHB ZE-~ExA=tHZ
—Z--%XAZTNR
Continuous Contract 3,300,000 - - - 3,300,000 2.090 30 August 2018 30 August 2018-29 August 2023
Employees —“E2-NENA=+tR —E-\ENA=1BZE
BEANEER ZEZ=f\AZTNH
Continuous Contract 1,300,000 - - - 1,300,000 1810 10July 2019 10 July 2019-9 July 2024
Employees ZZT-NEtATA “Z-hEtATHE
BEANESR ZZMELANA
Continuous Contract 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 1.330 16 October 2020 16 October 2020-15 October 2025
Employees ZE-ZF+A+AR ZE-ZETATARAZ
BEAHIES ZZ-RFTATARA
9,700,000 = S - 9,700,000

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and the short positions of the directors
of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")) which are
required to be notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of the
Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they
have taken or deemed to have under such positions of the SFO) or which
are required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which are required, pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed issuers (the “Model
Code"), to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as
follows:

Interests in shares and underlying shares of the Company and its
associated corporation.
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EFEWE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (CONTINUED)

(a) Interests in shares of the Company

EERNkRH zESE (&)

(a) RAERTRG 2R

Number of
underlying
shares held
Percentage of under equity
Number issued ordinary derivatives
Name of Director Capacity of shares  Total interests shares (Note 1)
BRALTETIER
BT FEHE
EERT RAEE
Espg 54 REAEE BLReE LERESH (FF3E1)
Dr. Ng Chi Ho Beneficial owner 6,930,000 (L) 170,528,000 (L) 60.15% (L) -
REFEL EREAA
Interests of controlled corporation 53,598,000 (L) - - -
XL RS (Note 2) (Ff5E2)
Founder of a discretionary trust 110,000,000 (L) - - -
rREFARE (Note 3) (Fi#5%3)
Mr. Ma Fung On Beneficial owner 4,323,000 (L) 14,223,000 (L) 5.02% (L) 1,000,000
BEREE BREBA
Interests of controlled corporation 9,900,000 (L) - - =
R AEER (Note 4) (i 4)
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk Beneficial owner 1,000,000 (L) 111,000,000 (L) 39.15% (L) 2,800,000
REEEL BREAA
Beneficiary of a discretionary trust 110,000,000 (L)
PRETAXHEA (Note 3) (Bi#3E3)
Mr. Lee Kam Hung Beneficial owner 1,257,800 (L) 1,257,800 (L) 0.44% (L) -
FRIERAE EREEA
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven Beneficial owner 530,000 (L) 530,000 (L) 0.19% (L) -
RFEHEE EREAA
Mr. Chan Kit Wang Beneficial owner 200,000 (L) 200,000 (L) 0.07% (L) -
BABEE EREAA
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan Beneficial owner - - - 300,000

FoHEL

ExEAA

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Interests in shares of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

1. These represent the interests in underlying shares in respect of the share options
granted by the Company, the details of which are set out in the sub-section
“Share Option Scheme”.

2. 53,598,000 shares are held by Billion Linkage Limited, the entire issued shares
of which is held by Dr. Ng Chi Ho and his spouse in equal share.

3. 110,000,000 Shares are held by Superior View Inc., the entire issued shares of
which is ultimately held by Fidelitycorp Limited as the trustee of the C.H. Family
Trust, the beneficiaries of which are the family members of Dr. Ng Chi Ho.

4. 9,900,000 Shares are held by Global Class Enterprises Limited, the entire issued
shares of which is held by Mr. Ma Fung On.

5. (L) — Long Position

Interests in shares of the Company’s associated
corporation

Non-voting deferred shares of HK$1.00 each in Suga Electronics
Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company:

EETHE

EERKRM 2R (&)
(@) WARF R ()

BT

1. BRI A AR MR L BRES &2 AR
R BRIRBER [BAER &) DFf

2. # % 53,598,000 A% A% 1 F Billion Linkage Limited
A MZAREHIERITROAIBRESEL
HHRBERH—F

3. 5% % 110,000,000 % % 19 £ Superior View Inc. 5
A MZAREHEEITRMBEIERCH RikiE
+E¥#E A Z Fidelitycorp Limited & 485548 » #Z1535T
ZRHEANRBRERBLZRE -

4. % % 9,900,000 A% % 15 £ Global Class Enterprises
Limited 578 * MZARZ2HEETRMAIBFE
RRERH ©

5. O—#8
(b) RARDBEEEERG 2B

RARRIZEMBRREEETERAAE
MREE 1.008 T 2 B RERLERD ¢

Number of Non-

voting deferred Percentage of

Name of Director Capacity shares issued shares

ERERE HEBRITRG

EENE 4 EERGHE BOL
(Note 1)
(BfsE 1)

Dr. Ng Chi Ho Interests of controlled corporation 3,680,000 (Note 2) 92%
REZEL R EE R (BHEE2)

Mr. Ma Fung On Interests of controlled corporation 240,000 (Note 2) 6%
BEREE R LR (MF3E2)

FEEREEERAT
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EERHE

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES (CONTINUED)
(b) Interests in shares of the Company’s associated

corporation(Continued)
Notes:

1. These non-voting deferred shares have no voting rights, are not entitled to
dividends, and are not entitled to any distributions upon winding up unless a
sum of HK$10,000,000,000 per ordinary shares has been distributed to the
holders of ordinary shares.

2. The 4,000,000 non-voting deferred shares in Suga Electronics Limited are held
as to 80% by Essential Mix Enterprises Limited and 20% by Broadway Business
Limited. Dr. Ng Chi Ho and Mr. Ma Fung On hold 92% and 6% interests in
each of Essential Mix Enterprises Limited and Broadway Business Limited
respectively.

Save as disclosed above and under the “Share Option Scheme”,
none of the Directors of the Company have any interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations as defined in the SFO as at
31 March 2021.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURE

Save as disclosed in above section, at no time during the year was the
Company, its parent company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debenture of, the
Company or any body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT AND CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company, its parent company, or its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of
the Company, his connected entities were materially interested, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

66 SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

EERKRG 2R (&)
(b) RARQFEEEER G 2B (&)

o

1. FZEERERRELTR D EEREIPERE B
85 AEEBRRBAEACED REREER
10,000,000,000/8 1% » &% FEAL RIEE TR D
AN AEDIK

2. 4,000,000 RIEEBFAR D BEREEELER
3 % Bl £ Essential Mix Enterprises Limited &
Broadway Business Limited #f 5 80% % 20% ° =
BREL RFEREESR B D RIR Essential Mix
Enterprises Limited 5 Broadway Business Limited
F5H 92% N 6% s ©

B EX R [ RcwEst &) BT WEES 1
R FZA=1+—H  ARREZHE
RARB RERBEZE (TR ALZSFLHE
fi&fl) 2 Betn ~ HEREM D R EHHHA EA

HEzs ROAA o
EERERDREST 2EF

fr E—EATIREESN  AQE - HERARREM
o] B I8 22 =) 2k [R) 2% B I 2 B 0 6 19 (] s ) O 4
AIVBEARRBHAEAB B RN HEHIA
RFESEENS TR -

EENRE RBERAGHNzER

RERKFREMER - AR7] - HRARHHE
(NS EAD S PN RS RVRE RIS SETE 3
BRAZEMNEARS RHXEH  BARAE
ELEREERHMEERIMERZERS X
BE A WP R A E AR



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS
According to the Bye-laws of the Company, every director of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and profits
of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or
incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office. The Company
has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the directors and officers of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
In the opinion of the Directors, there is no such competing business as
defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”).

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2021, the following persons (not being a Director or chief
executive of the Company) had interests or short position in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO and which have been recorded in the register kept by the Company
pursuant to the section 336 of the SFO.

EFEWE
EEZERFRERX

RBEARRABMAL KRR EESARIETT
HRBSRERTERB T AR EE AR EA
ERXIBRZAERAKBEERARAZEE
Fogf P ERREE - AT AEEEREAR
ERBAENEZLSEBERERR

EERBERG 2R
EERA  LEEAEEHARFHERAAE
% LA ETRAL) R BT T -

FERR

RZFB-_—F=ZA=1—H  BEARAREREH
KREERDIE 336 1RFEZ ERMALCE - T5I
AT (EFFARRBEFREETRAR)RART]
ZBm REEBD T - BREREES KRB IR
EXVEFE 2R3N BREARARNRFRE 2 #a
FRE ©

Percentage of

Name Capacity Number of shares issued shares

HEBTRG
"L LB 54 BREHE Aot
Superior View Inc. (Note 1) Beneficial owner 110,000,000 (L) 38.80% (L)

Superior View Inc. (Ff3E 1) Em#EAA

Billion Linkage Limited (Note 2)
Billion Linkage Limited (Fi5E2)

Beneficial owner

ERBEAA

Lee Wai Fun (Note 3)
ZTES (MiFE3)

Interest of spouse

[T 2
Interest of controlled corporation
R AR

53,598,000 (L) 18.91% (L)

116,930,000 (L) 41.25% (L)

53,598,000 (L) 18.91% (L)
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

1. The entire issued share capital of Superior View Inc. is ultimately held by Fidelitycorp
Limited as trustee of the C.H. Family Trust, the beneficiaries of which are the family
members of Dr. Ng Chi Ho.

2. The entire issued share capital of Billion Linkage Limited is held by Dr. Ng Chi Ho and
his spouse in equal shares and, as such, Dr. Ng Chi Ho is deemed to be interested in all
the shares held by Billion Linkage Limited under the SFO.

3. Madam Lee Wai Fun is deemed to be interested in 116,930,000 shares held by her
spouse, Dr. Ng Chi Ho, a director of the Company.

4. (L) — Long Position

Save as disclosed above, as far as is known to the Directors, there is no
person, other than the Directors and chief executives of the Company,
who has an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provision 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as at 31 March 2021.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into
or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group's largest customer for the year accounted for approximately
17.7% of the Group’s total revenue and the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 58.6% of the Group’s total revenue. In
addition, the largest supplier of the Group accounted for approximately
16.3% of the Group’s purchases while the five largest suppliers of the
Group accounted for approximately 37.5% of the Group’s total
purchases.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share
capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or customers noted above.
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MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As at 31 March 2021, the Company was not involved in any material
litigation or arbitration and no material litigation or arbitration were
pending or threatened or made against the Company so far the Company
is aware.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance practices. Information on the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company is set out in the “Corporate Governance
Report” on pages 29 to 49.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report, there
is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued
shares as required under the Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offered
themselves for re-appointment.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
("ESG")

The Company has a serious commitment to ESG matters. A report on the
environmental, social and governance commitment can be found on
pages 70 to 104.

On behalf of the Board

Suga International Holdings Limited
NG Chi Ho

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2021
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIE - L@ RERRSE

FORWARD

This Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) Report is prepared for
Suga International Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (referred to in this
report as “the Group” or “SUGA") for the financial year ended 31 March
2021, in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix
27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited.

This report presents SUGA's compliance with the Appendix 27 “Comply
or Explain” provision of the ESG Reporting Guide.

As a leading electronics total solutions provider in Hong Kong, SUGA has
a mission to contribute to the progress of society by providing people with
quality products and employing advanced technology, with protecting the
environment and serving the community always in mind.

ESG GOVERNANCE

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in the Group’s ESG affairs. It is
committed to making continuous contributions to sustainable
development in environmental aspects and fulfilling its corporate social
responsibilities. Towards that end, the Board sets the ESG management
approach, strategy and objectives as well as process used to evaluate,
prioritize and manage ESG issues. The Board regularly assesses the
environmental, social and governance risks, formulates the environmental,
social and governance strategy, and ensures the establishment and
maintenance of an effective internal control system on the environmental,
social and governance aspects of its business and operations. At the same
time, the Board performs regular analysis and independent assessment on
the adequacy and effectiveness of these efforts through an internal audit
function.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

REPORT SCOPE

This report covers the operations of SUGA’s core business in Hong Kong,
its plant in Dongguan, PRC and plant in Bac Ninh Province, Vietnam. The
plant in Vietnam has been newly included in this year's ESG Report.
SUGA'’s sustainable efforts in Environmental Aspects (Aspect A) and Social
Aspects (Aspect B) and the material issues in these two general categories
are summarized in the following section.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ISSUES DISCLOSED IN
THIS REPORT

Material Issues

RIE - g8 RERRE

W EE

AREREEERBEBUAREPERERE LM
ML BEBBERZLEBREE - B BB RN
MARERENIRE B REARE - FEER
REE(EEA) KM EER(EHB) WA HFER
RPFAELNERMERZMADBENEAFTER T
X Rt o

REBERENEASERE

Location of Disclosure

EXERH WEEM
Environmental — Emissions and Waste Aspect A1
BRIE — ) KRR EEA1
Environmental — Use of Resources Aspect A2
RE —ERER EEA2
Environmental — Environment and Natural Resources Aspect A3
BE —RERRAER EEA3
Environmental — Climate Change Aspect A4
R — RIRE (L EmEA4
Social — Employment Aspect B1
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

In line with the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
in Appendix 27, this report is prepared according to the following
principles.

Materiality — The Group determines material ESG issues by stakeholder
engagement and materiality assessment.

Quantitative — Information on the standards, methodologies, and source
of conversion factors used for the reporting of the environmental and
social KPIs have been disclosed in this report.

Consistency — The methodologies used in this report are consistent with
those used last year.

There is no change in the material issues in this report when compared
with the ESG Report issued in the Group’s 2019/2020 Annual Report.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

SUGA values internal and external stakeholders’ views in all ESG aspects,
and therefore we conduct regular reviews in identifying and
understanding the main concerns and material interest of internal and
external stakeholders for the ESG report. The communications channels
for the review are as follows:

—  Employee training and seminars

—  Employee recreational and volunteer activities

— Intranet and emails

—  Customer satisfaction survey

—  Newsletters and notice board

—  Corporate website

— Annual general meeting and other shareholders meetings

— Annual reports, interim reports and announcements

—  Community service programs

— Investor relations programs
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MATERIALITY MATRIX

The Materiality Matrix after external and internal assessment is

summarized in the following chart.

EEMER

TREAEREITINED R AR BZ MR -

Al4  A13 86.1 88.1
A5 A6 B6.2 88.2
A2.1 B6.3
A1 B6.4
0 A12 B6.5
Q
-]
2 B54  A53 B2.1
x A3.1 823
baEs
E% A25 B3.1 B32
Eg A B7.1 B7.2
g B5.2
ﬁg A22 B2.2
3 B1.1 B4.1
S B1.2 B42
£ B7.3
5 .
e
&S B5.1
A23
A24

Notes:

A1.1 = Types of Emissions and Respective Emissions Data

A1.2 = Direct (Scope 1) and Indirect Energy (Scope 2) Greenhouse Gas Emissions

A1.3 = Total Hazardous Waste Produced (in tons)

A1.4 = Total Non-hazardous Waste Produced (in tons)

A1.5 = Emissions Target(s) Set and Steps Taken to Achieve Them

A1.6 = Waste Management for Hazardous and Non-hazardous Substances

A2.1 = Direct and Indirect Energy Consumption

A2.2 = Water Consumption

A2.3 = Description of Energy Use Efficiency Target(s) Set and Steps Taken to Achieve Them

A2.4 = Description of Water Efficiency Target(s) Set and Steps Taken to Achieve Them

A2.5 = Total Packing Material Used for Finished Products (in tons)

A3.1 = Description of Significant Impact of Activities on the Environment and Natural Resources
A4.1 = Climate Change

B1.1 = Total Workforce by Gender, Employment Type, Age Group and Geographical Region

B1.2 = Employee Turnover Rate by Gender, Age Group and Geographical Region

B2.1 = Number and Rate of Work-related Fatalities for the Past Three Years Including the Reporting Year
B2.2 = Lost Days Due to Work-related Injury

B2.3 = Description of Occupational Health and Safety Measures Adopted, Implemented and Monitored
B3.1 = Percentage of Employees Trained by Gender and Employee Category

B3.2 = Average Training Hours Completed per Employee by Gender and Employee Category

B4.1 = Measures to Review Employment Practices to Avoid Child and Forced Labor

B4.2 = Steps to Eliminate Child and Forced Labor When Discovered

B5.1 = Number of Suppliers by Geographical Region

B5.2 = Practices to Engage Suppliers, Numbers of Suppliers Where the Practices Are Implemented
B5.3 = Practices to Identify Environmental and Social Risk in Supply Chain and Implementation
B5.4 = Practices to Promote Environmentally Preferable Products When Selecting Suppliers

B6.1 = Percentage of Total Products Sold Subject to Recall for Safety and Health Reasons

B6.2 = Number of Product-related Complaints Received and How They Are Dealt With

B6.3 = Practices Relating to Observing and Protecting Intellectual Property Rights

B6.4 = Quality Assurance Process and Recall Procedures

B6.5 = Consumer Data Protection and Privacy Policies

B7.1 = Number of Concluded Legal Cases Regarding Corrupt Practices against the Group or Employees
B7.2 = Implementation and Monitoring of Preventive Measures and Whistle-blowing Procedures
B7.3 = Anti-corruption Training Provided to Directors and Staff

B8.1 = Focus Areas of Contribution

B8.2 = Resources Contributed to the Focus Areas

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Internal Assessment from Management and Employees
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FEEDBACK

SUGA values feedback from our stakeholders. If you have any questions
or suggestions on the content or the format of reporting of this ESG
Report, you are welcome to contact us at the following:

Address: 22/F., Tower B, Billion Centre,
1 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay,
Kowloon, Hong Kong
Email: investorrelations@suga.com.hk
Telephone: 852-2953 0383
Fax: 852-2953 1523

REPORTING ON ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS
Environment Sustainability

SUGA recognizes the importance of environmental sustainability and is
committed to protecting the environment. We incorporate environmental
considerations into business processes and maintain an ongoing
commitment to environment protection in line with laws and regulations
within Hong Kong, Mainland China and Vietnam. SUGA has implemented
various measures to achieve the following priority objectives in
environmental aspects:

— Reducing emissions of greenhouse gases and other pollutants

— Achieving savings in energy

—  Reducing waste generation

In supporting the Group to develop an all-round corporate social
responsibility and green culture, we have incorporated the internationally-
certified 1SO 14001 and QC 080000 environmental management systems
and processes in our operations and have professionally informed

employees through setting environmental protection guidelines.

During this financial year, we have garnered the following awards,
certificates and recognition.
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BEHUE - investorrelations@suga.com.hk
BEERMS 0 852-2953 0383
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FE - PEAM R REE AR BRE
RIE - FECREZEEBUERNATRRES
AR :

— RIBREL

LB B BRI AYI1SO 14001 & QC 080000 3%
BEBRGRREMARMOLESR  WEBEB
HIETRIBREIECI REBRBEREEM - D
AEEERZFUCEMEEERIRRXUE -

RAMBRFE - RIPIEFIA TR - BEMZET ©

FEAREEARAT



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRI - L@ MhEIARE

Awards and Certification
Organizer

RIERABEMPEN

China Quality Certification Center
FEIESREP L

SGS United Kingdom Limited

BSI Assurance UK Limited

Environmental Campaign Committee
REEPZESG

Hong Kong Q-Mark Council Federation
EREERHER

Accreditation of ISO 14001:2015
ISO 14001:2015 R &

Accreditation of QC 080000:2017
Accreditation of ISO 9001:2015
QC 080000:2017 RE

ISO 9001:2015 &

Accreditation of ISO 13485:2016
ISO 13485:2016 A&

Hong Kong Green Organisation

BRRERE

HK Green Mark Certification Scheme
BB QY| RIREIEETE

FR & 5T B IAE AL

'CHINA QUALITY CERTIFICATION CENTRE

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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RIE - g8 RERRE

Awards and Certificatic
Organizer
RIBEREREMWEN

PRC Guangdong Province Science High & New Technology Enterprises

Technology Bureau Certificate 25 W 27 o B ik

B R R 2 R T EE AT (b A E O
O O

Due to COVID-19, most of the green activities were suspended, therefore ~ AR COVID-19/8% - KZ N EBER FHEI W T
the Group's participation in such activities was reduced. 1 BAEBEZREFBEEEHAXNBIA TR D -

Green Activities

IRIREE
Green Council Hong Kong Green Day
RR(EER BEBZEH
Green Power The 28" Green Power Hike (Virtual Hike)
HehE [F-+N\EHENERSTT]
o)
o,

FHERBREEERAR
2020/214F %R
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B HEREARS

ASPECT A1: EMISSIONS AND WASTE REDUCTION
SUGA is committed to protecting the environment by reducing emissions
of greenhouse gases as well as by reducing discharge of harmful
substances into water and on land alike, along with generation of less
hazardous and non-hazardous waste. We fully comply with the relevant
laws and regulations related to gas emissions and waste management.
Our emissions KPIs are within a normal range when compared with
business companies of the same nature. Our goal is to reduce emissions,
waste, use of energy and water by using new environmental technologies
and environmentally-friendly raw materials.

Aspect A1.1 & A1.2 Reduce Emissions from Fuel

Consumption and Greenhouse Gases Emissions

SUGA’s main sources of greenhouse gases and other polluting emissions
are electricity usage and our vehicle fleet. We have managed to reduce
such emissions by measures such as monitoring electricity consumption,
implementing energy-saving measures and curtailing use of our vehicle
fleet as stated in Aspect A1.5 “Measures to Mitigate Emissions.” The
amount of gas emissions is calculated according to HKEX “How to Prepare

an ESG Report Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs”
issued in March 2020.

BT A1 BB & EER
BERNBERMBEREIR  BEKTRE
WAEENEMHR  URELBOEEREER
BUREIBE - B2 EETHE BB R
HERmEREEREE - BREEBHAFM
b BRMEER R RIS EBREREE o B
{380 B 12 75 5 1B 15 7B 5T B4R BT IR IR B AR
TR - BERHA R AR RACHFER o

EBFEA1L1EA12EDRAEFEER KR
EREBHEMN
EENBERBEREMS LR EEREA
ERER o RPUABEAIS DR BRI —
T EREEE  HIHEEERRLBRE

BERIE - LWRD BB - REIINERY
RN T _TF = TEN T ERRE
HeRERBEMER—
EolIEE -

D IRIE AR B BB IZIE R

A1.1 Emissions from AL 1R
Gaseous Fuel Consumption 2020/2021 2019/2020 RN —%-%/-%8--% —T-)/"Z°%%
KB hEIRRE

PRC & HK Vietnam PRC & HK Vietnam KES i REE il
NO, Emissions 402.34 Kg 47.87Kg 565.05 Kg N/A Ralhin  40234F%  4787F% 565.05F 5% TER
S0, Emissions 0.94Kg 0.18Kg 1.01Kg N/A WalwdR  094F%  018FR  101FR TER
Particulate Matter (PM) Emissions 31.94 Kg 450 Kg 48,68 Kg N/A BIHTHR  3194F%  450FR 4868F5% Tam
Total Emissions of Pollutants 435.22 Kg 52.55 Kg 614.74Kg N/A BARMEHN  435.22FR 5255FR® 61474FR TER

Total Emissions of Pollutants decreased mainly due to more efficient
arrangement of our vehicle fleet.
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A1.2 Greenhouse Gas AL2EREZE
Emissions for the Year: 2020/2021 2019/2020 REHN: —B-%/-%B=-F “T-)/°%
B K BE lE N
PRC&HK  Vietnam  PRC &HK Vietnam kBB HE  RE
Scope 1 — #E1—
Direct Emissions 159.2Tons  30.2Tons  171.9 Tons N/A RPN 15928 3028 17198  TEA
Scope 2 — &g —
Indirect Emissions 6,824.5Tons  926.6 Tons 5,691.9 Tons N/A AN 682458  926.6M 56919  TER
Total Emissions of BERE
Greenhouse Gases 6,983.7Tons  956.8 Tons 5,363.8 Tons N/A BT 6,983.78 956.8M] 5863.8M  TER
Scope 1 & 2 — PRC & Hong Kong Indirect Greenhouse Gas Emissions  #if51 &2 — R R EEBEZLEERESHIEM

increased mainly due to an increase in sales volume. The Vietnam Plant
was newly included in the ESG Report in 2020/2021.

Aspect A1.3 & A1.4 Reduce Generation of Hazardous &
Non-hazardous Waste

SUGA does not generate any hazardous waste materials during our
production. Nevertheless, we have hired specialist contractors to handle
hazardous waste materials as a by-product from raw material incoming
quality assurance (IQA) operations in the PRC Dongguan Plant. In addition,
only vendors that comply with Restriction of Hazardous Substance (RoHS)
and Registration, Evaluation, Authorization and Restriction of Chemicals
(REACH) codes are included in our “Approved Vendors List.” And in order
to ensure that our products are environmentally-friendly, only approved
vendors are permitted to supply raw materials to us.

SUGA's main source of non-hazardous waste is the rubbish generated
from business operations, the Dongguan Plant Central Canteen and
Dormitory and the Vietnam Plant.

We have managed to reduce generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste by measures stated in Aspect A1.6 “Waste Management for
Hazardous and Non-hazardous Substances.”

IEEEE’\% BN BEBER-_T %/ =
——FEHAARE g RERAWRE -

BHAIBRAIABPELEEERESE
*5'»

FEEEEREFITEELETMEEER - BED
it BRMEEREMNADERIENT B RR
B8R 5| S 2 RE (1QA) 2B FTE £ RKT B
BEERER W AEFEEEMERBES
(RoHS) Bt 82 skt - FFfh - $RAEFBR HI (REACH)
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BRI - L@ MhEIARE

A1.3 Total Hazardous
Waste for the Year: 2020/2021 2019/2020

PRC & HK Vietham  PRC & HK Vietnam

Hazardous Waste for the Year 0Kg 0Kg 0Kg N/A

A1.4 Total Non-hazardous
Waste for the Year: 2020/2021 2019/2020

. ZB-%/-%--f “T-)/-Z-%

PEKKE
kE#E

EREZEN  0FR

i

0F%

PEARE
k&R i

0F%  TER

“R-%/2%--F “FN/CF0F

HE KR B AR
PRC&HK  Vietnam  PRC & HK Vietnam kEE HE  REE

Industrial Waste 349,160 Kg 18,097 Kg 245,000 Kg N/A T#EH 349,60 18,097 245000 @A
Fr = =

Plastic 19,591 Kg 0Kg 16,615Kg N/A gl 19,591 0 16615 @A
T TR T

Garbage 546,867 Kg 36,699 Kg *397,361Kg N/A et 546,867 36,699 *397361 @A
Fr Tz 5=

Food Residue 166,051 Kg 0Kg *122,176 Kg N/A RIEE 166,051 0 *122176  TEA
TR = 5=

Total Non-hazardous Waste 1,081,669 Kg 54,796 Kg *781,152 Kg N/A EZEROE 1,081,669 5479 *781,152  NEA

=

TR

T3

PRC and Hong Kong Total Non-hazardous Waste increased mainly due to
the increase in sales volume and employee headcount. The Vietnam Plant
was newly included in the ESG Report in 2020/2021.

e 2019/2020 date has been adjusted due to change of calculation method.
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Aspect A1.5 Measures to Mitigate Emissions
SUGA has implemented a wide range of measures to reduce greenhouse
gases and emissions of other pollutants highlighted below:

— Implementing a solar panel energy system at the Dongguan Plant
which can generate around 950,000 KWH of electricity per annum

— Using LED lighting in all areas of the Hong Kong Office and the
Dongguan Plant in the PRC to save energy

—  Monitoring electricity consumption by measuring monthly electricity
usage

—  Deploying a frequency converter in production lines and the air-
conditioning system in the Dongguan Plant to conserve energy in
production

— Reducing use of our fleet by careful implementation of
transportation plans

— Installing various types of sensors for electricity switches in the
Dongguan Plant to reduce electricity consumption

— Installing smoke filters and electric ovens in the Central Kitchen of
the PRC Dongguan Plant to reduce smoke pollution

— Implementing guidelines and creating slogans and posters to
educate employees about energy-saving and environmentally-
friendly concepts and encouraging them to live a green life

RIE - e hEAWmE

JE T A1.5 8 D BRI 45 e
EEEER—RIEBARDRERENREMS
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B B REBRE

Aspect A1.6 Waste Management for Hazardous and
Non-hazardous Substances

Our waste management strategy is in line with the key 4R principles —
Reduce, Reuse, Recycle and Replace.

We have undertaken the following measures to mitigate waste
generation:

—  Hazardous waste is not a major issue in our operations, nevertheless,
we have a team and lab to monitor hazardous waste created during
the IQA process

— Implementing and adhering to policies to recycle packing pallets
and carton boxes and reuse transit carton boxes to reduce packing
material usage

— Implementing recycling programs to reduce paper-based waste

— Implementing and adhering to policies to use environmentally-
friendly raw materials at the product design stage

ASPECT A2: USE OF RESOURCES

We have adopted a variety of practices and guidelines to continually
improve our energy efficiency in our production operations. Meanwhile,
we remain committed to finding new ways to reduce energy consumption
by improving the performance of machinery and use of infrastructure.

SUGA's main usage of energy is for electricity at our facilities and fuel
consumption by our vehicle fleet. We manage direct and/or indirect
energy consumption by monitoring monthly energy consumption, and
educating employees about energy-saving and environmentally-friendly
concepts and practices. Water consumption is not a materially important
area for SUGA. Much of our water consumption is for cleaning and
sanitation at the Dongguan Plant Dormitory, as well as use at the
Dongguan Plant Central Canteen. Nevertheless, we have implemented
practices and guidelines to manage water consumption at a reasonable
level.

Our efforts in this direction include:

— Implementing a solar panel system at the Dongguan Plant to
generate renewable energy and reduce electricity consumption
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—  Modernizing our air-conditioning system and production machinery
to save energy

— Implementing guidelines and creating slogans and posters to
educate employees about energy-saving and environmentally-

friendly concepts

— Installing sensors on water taps in the Dongguan Plant to reduce
water usage

— Implementing paperless e-procurement and e-production and
material planning systems to reduce paper consumption

— Implementing a paperless office system for business operation to
reduce paper consumption

— Initiating a policy to reduce usage of packing materials for finished
goods at the product design stage

— Implementing procedures to reduce packing materials in the
production process

—  Rubbish separation for recycling resources

Aspect A2.1 Direct and/or Indirect Energy Consumption

Resources Consumption

for the Year: 202072021 2019/2020
PRC & HK Vietnam PRC & HK Vietnam

1. Electricity
(excluding 893,600 KWh
(2019/2020: 831,040
KWh) solar panel- 10,832,614 1,470,739 82818500 N/A
generated electricity) KWh KWh KWh
2. Diesel 42,061 Liters 11,105 Liters 42,380 Liters N/A
3. Petrol 17,793 Liters 0 Liters 21,987 Liters N/A

PRC & Hong Kong electricity consumption increased mainly due to
increases in sales volume and employee headcount. The Vietnam Plant
was newly included in the ESG Report in 2020/2021.
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Aspect A2.2 Water Consumption EHmA2.23KE
Water Consumption for
the Year: 2020/2021 2019/2020 =
CYEiYN
PRC& HK Vietnam PRC & HK Vietnam REA
Water Consumed 164,557 6,976 145,293 N/A Ak 164,557 6,976 145,293 TEA
m? m? m? YK YRR AR

PRC and Hong Kong water consumption increased mainly due to increases  # B & BB FE/K S48 puzgmm RIHEENEES
in sales volume and employee headcount. The Vietnam plant was newly — A&i%h1« HEHKEN TS - - - —F%

included in the ESG Report in 2020/2021. FMARE e RERRSE -
Aspect A2.5 Packing Material Consumption EmEA2.5 B3R EE
-2/
Packing Material Consumption for the Year: 2020/2021 2019/2020 FRERYFEFE —E-—F
Packing Material Consumed 1,173,797 Kg 917,535 Kg BEREBEYE 1,173,797 F% 917,535 F =
Intensity 558 Kg/HKSM 568 Kg/HK$M e 558 F 3,/ 5685,
Sales Sales HERBTHEE AEATHER
Packing material consumption increased mainly due to sales volume G XYL EFEENETEEHR-_ZE T -
increasing in 2020/2021, but the Packing Material Intensity decreased due = —FHHESEMN BEENEAETEN S
to better packaging design. it BRMHEETR -
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ASPECT A3: IMPACT ON ENVIRONMENTAL AND
NATURAL RESOURCES

The nature of our industry does not have a serious impact on
environmental and natural resources. SUGA has established ESG Policies
which include stringent measures in place to reduce greenhouse gases
and control emissions of pollutants. We have also implemented measures
to reduce production of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Moreover, to promote environmental awareness among our employees,
SUGA has created guidelines, slogans and posters to educate employees
about energy-saving and environmentally-friendly concepts. We
encourage our employees to live a green lifestyle.

SUGA'’s activities and operations have had no significant adverse impact
on the environment and natural resources during the financial year ended
31 March 2021.

ASPECT A4: CLIMATE CHANGE

Climate change has attracted widespread international attention and the
Group pays close attention to the changes in domestic and foreign laws
and regulations concerning climate changes. We have identified the risks
in climate changes and have formulated mitigation measures. We are not
subject to serious impact due to climate change, however, we have
established emergency processes and response mechanisms for extreme
weather to mitigate its impact on our business operations.
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REPORTING ON SOCIAL ASPECTS

Corporate Social Responsibility

As one of Hong Kong’s leading providers of total electronics solutions,
fulfilling our corporate social responsibility is one of our objectives. SUGA
is committed to operating in a manner that is economically, socially and
environmentally sustainable. We have put in place policies, practices,
procedures, guidelines and measures to achieve our corporate social
responsibility objectives in both environmental and social aspects.

SUGA also has a mission of benefiting society through participating in
community activities and donations. A core value of SUGA’s corporate
social responsibility is to benefit society and protect the environment. To
fulfill that responsibility, we are committed to conducting business in a
manner that respects society and the environment. Our environmental
and social responsibility practices positively contribute to the community
and protect the environment through donations, volunteer work and
environmentally-friendly practices. For cleaner production, SUGA has
adopted energy-conservation measures to reduce environmental risks and
liabilities. We also work to raise awareness and involvement in
environmental protection among our employees at all levels and always
encourage them to engage in green activities with their families. In the
future, SUGA intends to continue ongoing efforts to fulfil our
commitment to environmental protection as well as support sustainable
development at the local and global level. We believe that through our
efforts in environmental protection and community activities we can make
our world a better place to live.
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ASPECT B1: EMPLOYMENT

SUGA has around 2,890 employees in Hong Kong, the PRC and Vietnam.
We are committed to providing a rewarding work environment for our
employees that encourages collaboration and offers them opportunities
to learn, grow and succeed at work. The commitment has been
incorporated into our human resources policies and practices and the
Employee Handbook.

SUGA is in compliance with the following laws and regulations of the
PRC, Hong Kong and Vietnam concerning employment.

1. Labor Law of the PRC

2. Law of the PRC on Employment Contracts

3. Minority Protection Law of the PRC

4. PRC Provision on the Prohibition of Child Labor

5. Hong Kong Employment Ordinance

6.  Hong Kong Employment of Children Regulation

7. Hong Kong Minimum Wage Ordinance

8.  Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance

9.  Hong Kong Employees’ Compensation Ordinance

10. Labor Law of Vietham
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B B REBRE

Recruiting and retaining competent and professional employees is vital to
our success and we aim to attract, motivate and retain the best people for
our business operations. To achieve this, we provide a competitive
employment package consisting of monetary and non-monetary rewards
for our employees. Our comprehensive reward system offers a
discretionary incentive bonus, sales commissions, share options, group
medical insurance protection, and retirement protection. Our employer
contribution for the Mandatory Provident Fund (MPF) exceeds the legal
requirement and we offer additional holidays to promote the well-being
of employees.

At the same time, we help our employees pursue a work-life balance and
live a healthy and fulfilling life. Our Human Resources Department
organizes a range of social, sports and recreation activities, including local
tours, barbeques, dinner gatherings and sports competitions to enrich our
employees’ lives. In this fiscal year, we have organized three campaigns to
promote employees’ awareness about a healthy and green life: “Exercise
for Health,” “Green Office” and “Stay Home, Stay Safe Video Contest.”
We have also organized various activities to promote employees’ welfare
and sense of belonging to the Group. Highlights here include the
“Christmas Party,” “Spring Festival Party,” “Women’s Day” and
“Basketball Competition.”

We treat all employees and job applicants fairly and equally regardless of
their gender, sexual orientation, marital status, race, color, nationality,
religion, age or disability. We have zero tolerance of harassment and
discrimination in any form.
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Employee Communication

Promoting a corporate culture of open communication is one of the keys
to sustaining our success. We encourage employees at all levels to express
their views and make suggestions through a variety of channels, including
face-to-face meetings, gatherings with management, a quarterly
employee satisfaction survey and more. Our intranet and notice board
keep employees up-to-date on company news across the Group. In
addition, we have provided a suggestion box for employees to submit
advice or inform the management about problems.

SUGA complies with all relevant Hong Kong, PRC and Vietnam laws and
regulations related to working hours, rest periods and overtime pay. We
provide workers overtime pay for working time beyond regular working
hours. In addition, we strive to amicably resolve any labor-related matters
through dialogue and negotiations with relevant employees.

Employee Welfare and Working Conditions

We operate a canteen and a dormitory at our Dongguan Plant, which
provides employees with reasonably-priced meals and lodging. We also
operate a clubhouse and other recreational facilities at the Dongguan
Plant, including a gym, a Karaoke and a cinema theater for employees’
entertainment during their leisure time. In addition we operate a canteen
at our Vietnam Plant which provides employees free meals.

Moreover, our service excellence award and long service awards recognize
the outstanding contributions, commitment and loyalty of dedicated
employees.

During the reporting period, we were not aware of any incident of non-
compliance with laws and regulations that have significantly affected the
Group relating to employment, occupational health or labor standards.
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B B REBRE

Protecting Employees during the COVID-19 Pandemic

With the outbreak of COVID-19 in 2020, SUGA has implemented
comprehensive safety and hygiene measures to reduce the risk of
employees being infected and spreading the virus. The measures included:

1. Implementing a “Photo-catalyst Applied Disinfection Coating” in
the Hong Kong Office to provide a clean and hygienic working
place.

2. Provide free surgical masks and hand-sterilizer to employees for
added protection against COVID-19.

3. Adopt “Work from Home"” and “Flexible Working Hours” policies
during severe pandemic conditions to reduce employees’ risk of
COVID-19 infection.

4. Employees must wear surgical mask, measure body temperature
before entering offices and maintain social distancing when they are
working in offices to reduce the risk of spreading COVID-19.

5. Arrange PRC Plant employees to get COVID-19 vaccine injections to
reduce the risk of infection.
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B1.1 Total Employee Headcount Bl1L.1EEAAE
As at 31 March 2021 As at 31 March 2020 =A=+—-H
SN

PRC & HK Vietnam PRC & HK Vietnam k& jilfEz)
By Gender Headcount Headcount  Headcount  Headcount BRI A A¥ A A
Female 934 462 730 N/A i 934 462 730 TiEA
Male 1,313 181 921 N/A B 1,313 181 921 @A
Total 2,247 643 1,651 N/A g 2,247 643 1,651 TiE A
By Rank BB
Senior 104 0 98 N/A =E 104 0 98 @A
Staff 343 134 369 N/A 8T 343 134 369 TEA
Workers 1,800 509 1,184 N/A TA 1,800 509 1,184 TEA
Total 2,247 643 1,651 N/A 1@ 2,247 643 1,651 NEMA

The increase in headcount was due to the increase in sales volume in BT AZENFERAN_ZT T T -_—F

2020/2021. R SHE = ANFTEL o

As at As at

31 March 31 March

2021 2020
By Geographical Region Headcount Headcount R E A AE
Hong Kong 73 86 B 73 86
Mainland China 2,174 1,565 R B A 2,174 1,565
Vietnam 643 0 fiadea) 643 0
Total 2,890 1,651 FEE 2,890 1,651
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BRI - L@ MhEIARE

B1.2 Employee Average Turnover Rate B1.2{EEFIIMAKE

R-B--F

By Gender As at 31 March 2021 As at 31 March 2020 =ZA=1+-H

PEAR PEIARE
REE il RER

PRC&HK Vietnam PRC & HK Vietnam

Female 6.79% 4.07% 7.49% N/A peqid 6.79% 4.07% 7.49% TEHR
Male 8.99% 3.91% 8.51% N/A Ed 8.99% 3.91% 8.51% TR

RZZE_ZF

As at 31 March 2021 As at 31 March 2020 =A=t-H

Bl ARE

PRC& HK Vietham PRC&HK  Vietnam ; RES B
Senior 0.69% 0% 1.26% N/A BB 0.69% 0% 1.26% TER
Staff 2.74% 2.62% 2.53% N/A 81 2.74% 2.62% 2.53% TEm
Workers 9.79% 4.36% 9.98% N/A TA 9.79% 436% 9.98% T

As at 31 March As at 31 March

By Geographical Region 2021 2020

Hong Kong 1.96% 1.05% BB 1.96% 1.05%
Mainland China 8.37% 20.83% HER 8.37% 20.83%
Vietnam 4.03% N/A il 4.03% TER
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ASPECT B2: HEALTH AND SAFETY

As a company caring for our employees, we are committed to maintaining
a healthy and safe work environment in compliance with all relevant Hong
Kong, PRC and Vietnam laws and regulations. We have included related
guidelines in the Dongguan Plant Employee Handbook and Vietnam Plant
Employee Handbook. We have also posted Hong Kong Labour
Department Occupational Health and Safety Guidelines on the Hong
Kong Notice Board so as to educate employees about occupational safety
and health concepts. In addition, we have employed a dedicated Safety
and Health (OSH) Officer in the Dongguan Plant to handle safety issues
and measures, aiming to reduce industrial accidents and injuries. During
the year, there were no serious work-related injuries across the Group'’s

operations.

2020/2021 2019/2020 2018/2019
PRC&HK  Vietnam PRC&HK  Vietnam PRC&HK  Vietnam

B2.1 Number of

work-related fatalities 0 person 0 person 0 person N/A 0 person N/A

Number of

work-related injuries 4 incidents 0 incident 4 incidents N/A  1incident N/A
B2.2 Lost days

due to

work injuries 138 days Oday 249 days N/A 3 days N/A

Remark: The work-related injuries have been handled and related issues were resolved.
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ASPECT B3: DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

We consider the professional development of our employees to be one of
the keys to sustainable business growth. We continue to promote a
culture conducive to learning and offer career development and training
programs to all levels of employees paying for or subsidizing their
attendance at seminars, forums or exhibitions to ensure they are well-
prepared to execute their duties. In addition, we have a Company Training
Sponsorship Scheme to encourage our employees to enroll in further
education courses to support their career development. With prior
approval from the Group, courses and examination fees for further
education may be organized or reimbursed upon attainment of successful
academic qualifications.

As for newly recruited employees, we have a training program in place,
including orientation and on-the-job training, to ensure they can properly
perform their duties in line with the Group’s expectations.

B3.1 Percentage of Employees Trained

By Gender 2020/2021 2019/2020
Female 93% 94%
Male 94% 92%

B3.2a Average Training Hours by Gender (per head per
annum)

2020/2021 2019/2020
PRC&HK Vietnam PRC & HK Vietnam
Male 26.96 8.11 32.37 N/A
Hours Hours Hours
Female 27.83 7.32 24.70 N/A
Hours Hours Hours
94 SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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B3.2b Average Training Hours by Employment (per
head per annum)

2020/2021 2019/2020
PRC & HK Vietnam PRC & HK Vietnam
Workers 33.47 Hours 8.35 Hours 34.68 Hours N/A
Staff 6.64 Hours 3.89 Hours 12.86 Hours N/A
Senior 4.07 Hours N/A  6.69 Hours N/A

ASPECT B4: LABOR STANDARDS

We are committed to protecting human rights and comply with all
relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong, PRC and Vietnam concerning
human rights. We have a zero-tolerance policy towards the use of forced
labor and child labor in our business operations and require our vendors
to accept and observe our Supplier Code of Conduct, which forbids
forced and child labor. We will immediately terminate a vendor if it is
found to be employing forced or child laborers. SUGA complies with the
Hong Kong, PRC and Vietnam laws and regulations concerning labor
standards as stated in Aspect B1 above.

ASPECT B5: POLICIES ON MANAGING
ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RISK IN OUR
SUPPLY CHAIN

We have business relationships with suppliers all around the globe that
provide us with a wide variety of raw materials, equipment and services.
The Group has set up policies and procedures to manage its supply chain
in fulfillment of its corporate social responsibilities and to provide good
quality products to customers. It also has in place a comprehensive
supplier quality management mechanism to facilitate quality accreditation
and carry out inspection and factory supervision of products.
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In order to manage environmental and social risk, the Group’s Dongguan
Plant has incorporated the ISO 9001:2015, ISO 14001:2015, QC
080000:2017 and ISO 13485:2016 accredited procedures in the
management of its supply chain. The supply chain policy has specific
supplier requirements on business ethics, quality standards and public
responsibilities for the process of supplier evaluation and approval,
strategic supplier development and procurement of materials. Moreover,
the Group has achieved RoHS and Waste Electrical and Electronic
Equipment compliance certifications and complies with REACH standards
for our products. Furthermore, we conduct RoHS testing for incoming raw
materials to ensure they are free of hazardous substances.

In the future, SUGA will continue to fulfill its commitment to
environmental protection and also support sustainable development at
both the local and global level.

Supply Chain Management Practices

SUGA has well-established procedures for supplier selection and
evaluation. New suppliers are required to undergo an evaluation process
which considers their technical capabilities, quality and sustainability
performance and only suppliers thus qualified can be included in our
Approved Vendor List. For existing suppliers, periodic verification processes
and site audits are conducted to ensure their continued compliance with
the Group's supply chain policy. A vendor unable to comply with our
supply chain requirements is deleted from our Approved Vendors List and
is subsequently not permitted to provide us with raw materials or services.

9% SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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ASPECT B6: PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Group has established policies and practices to ensure its operations
comply with applicable laws and regulations. The management is
responsible for monitoring the Group’s policies and practices ensuring
they are in line with relevant legal and regulatory requirements, and that
those policies and practices are regularly reviewed for adequacy. Any
changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought as
necessary to the attention of the relevant employees and operating units.
In addition, we have implemented practices to fulfill product safety
requirements at the product design stage. The Group has also established
a policy to obtain any certification required to ensure the finished goods
are environmentally friendly, healthy and safe. In addition, the Group is
committed to ensuring that our products comply with relevant laws and
regulations of the countries where these products are sold.

At the same time, we have established Manufacturing Execution Systems
(MES) to enhance product quality management and product traceability/
tracking.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any incidents of
non-compliance with laws and regulations that have had a significant
impact related to its product responsibilities.

Customer Complaint Policy

The Group has established a Customer Complaint Policy to ensure that
customer complaints are promptly and efficiently handled. The policy
includes a provision for the concerned parties to work together to find the
reasons for any defects and responsibilities and then re-work the rejected
finished goods. At the same time, we regularly communicate with
customers to collect their feedback and opinions.
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B6.1 Percentage of Total Products Sold or Shipped
Subject to Recall for Safety and Health Reasons

No products have been sold or shipped which were subject to recall for
safety and health reasons during this financial year.

B6.2 Number of Complaints Received Related to
Products and Services

No complaints have been received for the products sold and services
rendered during this financial year.

Aspects B6.3 & B6.5 Intellectual Property Policy and
Customer Data Protection and Privacy Policies

The Group has a strict policy in place to sign a formal Non-Disclosure
Agreement to protect customers’ intellectual property (IP). Also, the
Group has applied for intellectual property rights certification for its own
products and designs, thus its standard practice is not to infringe on the IP
rights of other parties.

Aspect B6.4 Quality Assurance Procedures and Recall
Procedures

The Group has established quality assurance procedures to ensure that
incoming raw materials, work-in-progress and finished goods meet the
products’ quality specifications and comply with environmentally-friendly,
health and safety requirements. At the same time, the Group has
established recall procedures to handle recalled or defective products.

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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ASPECT B7: ANTI-CORRUPTION

SUGA is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance. We have a zero-tolerance policy regarding bribery and
corruption in any form or at any level in association with any aspect of the
Group’s activities. Our Employee Code of Conduct is specified in the
SUGA Employee Handbook which clearly states that the Group shall not
tolerate any illegal or unethical acts. Any employee in violation of the
Code of Conduct would be appropriately disciplined, including
termination of employment in serious cases.

Our Code of Conduct includes terms for compliance with the Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance, as well as provisions covering soliciting advantages,
accepting advantages, offering advantages, accepting entertainment, use
of proprietary information, confidentiality, resolution of conflict of
interest, misuse of the Group’s assets and resources, loans and outside
employment which are also in compliance with the Hong Kong Anti-
Corruption Ordinance. Regular anti-corruption training has been provided
to our directors and employees for the relevant policies and guidelines,
including any updates or revisions. In addition, we regularly arrange for
the Hong Kong Independent Commission Against Corruption to hold
seminars to educate our employees about anti-corruption laws and
concepts. During this financial year, the directors and senior management
also attended an anti-corruption seminar held by the Hong Kong Institute
of Directors (HKloD).

The Group was not aware of any breach of laws and regulations relating
to bribery that have had a significant impact on its business.

Aspect B7.1 Number of Concluded Corruption-Related
Legal Cases

2020/2021 2019/2020

Number of Concluded Legal
Cases Related to Corruption 0 0
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Aspect B7.2 Whistle-blowing Procedures

SUGA has established whistle-blowing procedures and a channel through
which employees can confidentially report unethical and illegal behavior.
All reported unethical and illegal behavior would be investigated and the
reporter of such an act would be informed about the investigation result
within seven working days. If required, the unethical and illegal behavior
will be reported to management for follow-up action.

ASPECT B8: COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

SUGA is committed to participating in volunteer activities and charitable
donations in order to benefit society. Our major focus area is education,
community service and green activities. Our employees have participated
in various community activities and made donations during this financial
year. SUGA remains committed to participation in volunteer work and
continuously contributing donations in the future.

The total volunteer hours decreased during this fiscal year. The reason was
that SUGA could not participate in some community activities which the
organizers cancelled due to the COVID-19 outbreak.

B8.2 Resources Contributed

EEB7.2EREF

EHEEHTEEREFRES MEETEREH
BEREENGEEIRBRTBERIDETS -
RIS E AT B RN T BERIEETARITH
T YREETEBNERASERESNERER
A NEEE  BhEEEERTEERIEET
B ARERRETTE -

[EEBS : HERE
EHEAEMEEBN2RETEPRELESR

R BHPINEEEIRH/HE HRRB IR
REE - RFWEENRAFRFEANZETRH
HEEB MBS - EEARRREB2EETT
tERELBK -

RAMBFE2E T THEEREBMRLD - 1)

MRS E E COVID-19/@EMEVE T — Lt [R)F
8 FEEREAZFHELY -

B8.2 EEIER

2020/2021 2019/2020
HK$ HK$
Education 2,080,000 6,080,000 B 2,080,000 6,080,000
Community 62,350 33,970 g 62,350 33,970
Green Activities 3,000 43,400 RIREE 3,000 43,400
Total 2,145,350 6,157,370 BE 2,145,350 6,157,370
Note: The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and SUGA share the common goal of advancing M BRBETABESEHELRNBE  BESHHELE

research and development for the betterment of humanity. Therefore SUGA has
donated HK$2 million (second installment) to The Hong Kong Polytechnic University for
the establishment of the SUGA Research Laboratory for Sustainable Urban Green
Agriculture (included in the Education Aspect above). (Last year’'s donation to The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University was HK$6 million.)
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We have participated in the following community activities and have — F {92 A AR BEE WL E L T+ & 558 R IER
garnered awards and been accredited certifications during this financial %2218 & R&% °

year.
Awards and Certifications
RIERABE
The Hong Kong Council of Social Service: 10 Years+ Caring Company Logo =
%;/%LIJ:A}ﬂ;i% HFE 10¢P|usfﬁﬁ'\)§ﬁ§ |4><J Twu /_.‘,ﬁ"!

coran

compcnq

Promoting Happiness Index Foundation Happiness-at-Work Promotional Scheme

BERITREIRSED (5.0 ITAER ) H#EEA S
Hong Kong Productivity Council (HKPC) ~ Happy Company 2021 Label
BEELEENRER 2021 RO ] 126
Federation of Hong Kong Industries FHKI  Industry Cares
EEIHpEe TERE L
SUGA INTERNATIONAL
HOLDINGS LIMITED
&
O O
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Activities

EE

Charity Activity  Rice Donation To donate rice to people in need
BREEY RERAKED BEARGETENA

Internal Activity Exercise for Health To encourage daily exercise among
NEBEED Campaign employees for better health

REEESHLE SEEERTRE  BXEY

Internal Activity Green Office Campaign  To encourage employees to create
ERIE &) FEMRANELLE a green workplace by raising plants
in the office
SEESENAEEE
AEE— AR E RN E

Internal Activity “Stay Home, Stay Safe”  To encourage employees to share
MERIE &N Video Contest their home activities via video to
RETEAG AL B more actively fight COVID-19 together
SEEENERELE
FREER) O REE R OUE

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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RIE - g8 RERRE

Activities

EE

Internal Activity Spring Festival Party To celebrate Chinese New Year
MNEBEED HFHEIEE with employees

HEBENEE
Internal Activity Women'’s Day To celebrate “8 March Women'’s Day”
RERE & = N\ABEf with female employees

AR BB = \IF & &

Internal Activity Basketball Competition ~ To encourage employees to pursue
REREED EILLE a work-life balance
SXEhE BB SR TR A R 1
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BRI - L@ MhEIARE

Other Activities
HiEg

Community The Community Chest of Hong Kong Mooncakes for Charity
Fa N YN N ABk
O

Donation & Sponsorship

BRRER

Donation The Hong Kong Polytechnic University Establishment of the SUGA Research Laboratory for

B BEEIKRE Sustainable Urban Green Agriculture in Polytechnic
University
EETIASRY [EERTREMERRERE]

Sponsorship World Vision Hong Kong Child Sponsorship

i=§i)) EEERERG BhE R ERE

Sponsorship The Chinese University of Hong Kong Suga International Holding Limited Scholarships

=) BEBHXKE EEEERESE

Sponsorship Vocational Training Council VTC Scholarship

=§)) BEIARE BEIRBDEES

Sponsorship Green Power Green Power Hike

=§)) #mehE BRETERETL

O
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

-
pwc

To the Shareholders of Suga International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Suga International Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on
pages 114 to 247, which comprise:

the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2021;

o the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended; and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a
summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BN 2 B R

F Rk ki

BEEEBREEERATARRK
(RERZLMH LA ERAF])

=R
EMEETHAR

EEEREEAERARCATEREERR]) RE
MEBAR(ATHABIEREDIIFHNF114E
247 MR AMEHRE - B

s  BHEZRLFEMNGZEANKEE

s HEZRALFEMNGAZEABAK:

s HEZRALFEMNGARREHX

s BEZRALFENGRAESRER K

s HZEMBBRRWE BRIZEBES

W
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BMRR  ZEFEREMBRREBBEEEGTAD
NERBOCERBVBREEIDEEMFEMR
BT BEER-Z-_—F=A=1+—HHKA
MBARAREBZZB ILFENGEEVBRERR
FEReRE  YEEREBCARUEHDBHEE
T2 R EE -

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
EERAKE G FEFHA > EAFRRFAEH =4

T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com

M : +852 2289 8888 » fHE : +852 2810 9888 » www.pwchk.com
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:
o Impairment of inventories

. Impairment assessment of an associate

106 SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter
HRESBE

BN 2 B R

AR ETEE ()

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
MW ET NAEERARESE

Impairment of inventories

FEREFE

Refer to note 15 “Inventories” and note 4 “Critical accounting
estimates and judgements” to the consolidated financial
statements

BF2HEREMBREAMTIS[FE] KMtF4lEEG5HEE
Ko |

As at 31 March 2021, the Group held net inventories
amounting to HK$344,902,000. Inventories are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value (“NRV") in the
consolidated financial statements. The cost of inventories may
not be fully recoverable if they are aged and damaged, or
become obsolete, or if their selling prices have declined.
EEER T - —F=A=1+—H#HHEFE 344,902,000 %
T MFE M BHRERD  FEIVRAARNE A2 FE 2 8K
EIR - MEECKRE 182 BRNEE T BlAse
BERBREITFERAR -

Management determined the lower of cost and NRV of
inventories by considering the ageing profile, status and
estimated selling price of individual inventory items.
EREBTFEMNARATEHFELREER 22 E@E
FEHEBNER - MR EE -

Management calculated the NRV at period end based on the
estimated selling price less selling expenses, taking into
account historical experience of selling products of similar
nature and expectation of future sales based on current
market condition.
ERENERANEERE L ERMXKFERRNATZRF
B BEZERUAEHERAUMEERNKSRUARRRATR
HARRBEEEL ZTRA -

We understood and validated the control procedures
performed by management, including its procedures in
estimating the NRV of the inventories and conducting periodic
review on inventory obsolescence.
BUTHNRIEEENTONEERY  BREAEMFEFEER
BRFERTHBERTFRBRNERF -

We observed management’s inventory counts to identify
whether there is any damaged or obsolete inventories.
BMBREEEBHFEETORE  UBRLEEEERA

We tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of the ageing
profile of individual inventory item by checking to supporting
documents including the underlying procurement
correspondences, goods receipt notes and inter-warehouse
transfer documents.

ERREXHXN  REERNERBEHE X KWEE
hEBEREE XM - HAAmMES VAR ERFEEE Eie
ZAERENME o

We tested on a sample basis, the subsequent usage or sales of
selected inventory items, obtained through the usage or sales
reports subsequent to the year end as a basis to identify
inventory obsolescence.

BAUHE S XNBABEFERNFREZERAIHEBR -
FRRGFRENERANHEERS - BRLBERESE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter
HEETEE

AR ETEE ()

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMWET NAEERARETSEE

Management applied a provisioning methodology for slow
moving inventories based on inventory ageing and made
specific provision for long aged inventories. It also conducted
periodic review on inventory obsolescence, including
performance of periodic inventory counts and review of
holding period for individual inventory items.
ERERFEFHUFETERARE L UnRARE
FEFELEFERE BEEENTSIFERSTENETENSE
L EREEHETFERELENERNFREEENFSES -

We focused on this area due to the magnitude of the balance
to the financial position of the Group, and the significant
judgement and estimates involved in determining the provision
for impairment of inventories.

HPILSEBRENTFEY ESEVBRANEHEE
A ARETFENBEGETS REAH G R -

Impairment assessment of an associate
—EEE N R ER 2 EHEFE

Refer to note 11 “Interests in associates” and note 4 “Critical
accounting estimates and judgements” to the consolidated
financial statements.

B E‘ﬁi BRI R E QR 2R R4l &
EgaH bt kA& -

As at 31 March 2021, the Group held interest in an associate,
Mobilogix, Inc. (“Mobilogix”), with carrying value of
HK$19,808,000.
—_ET-_—-F=ZA=+—8"
Mobilogix, Inc. ([ Mobilogix]) T—r E)
19,808,000,8 7T °

£ @ % — R A D A
R REEA
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We also tested, on a sample basis, the NRV of selected
inventory items by comparing the selling price subsequent to
the year end against the carrying values of individual finished
goods.

BTSN EEFEEB 2 /T ER)%E - £
EPHﬂl%ﬂ%ﬁuuﬁéi%&éE’\J’%Eéﬁiﬁi\ﬂﬁﬁfﬁ{’ﬁ—ttﬁ °

We consider the provision for impairment of inventories as at
31 March 2021 is supportable by available evidence.
BARR R_E_—F=A=+T—"HHREXFTHETE
BEE SRR -

We obtained an understanding of the Group’s policies and
procedures to identify impairment indicators of interests in
associates.
B2 TR
K2 o

BRI N2 A RS 2 RERRZEER

We evaluated the internal sources and external sources of
information to identify impairment indicators, if any.

BT FHAERBEINGEER R - LRAUREER (H) -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter
HEETEE

BN 2 B R

BREESEE A

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
MBS NAEERARENSE

Management performed assessment at the end of each
reporting period whether there is any indication that interests
in associates may be impaired. Should indication of impairment
exists, an impairment assessment will be performed
accordingly.
ERENEBRERRFEREBEMERRT &
ENTZ R AR IRRE - MFERERE - &8
B -

The recoverable amount of the interest in an associate is
assessed by value-in-use calculations which are based on
future discounted cash flows of the associate.

ERER—EBME Rz ER I EEEFERERER
FTEEITAME  EDBBRZBE AR ZAREURRERE

o s
=STH o
al >+

Key parameters and assumptions adopted in the assessment
include the expected growth rate of revenue of Mobilogix and
the discount rate adopted.
AERANEEL2EREBRRE
RRFRAZBERE -

B & Mobilogix 2 T HA W A 38 &

Management has concluded that there was no impairment in
respect of interest in Mobilogix as at 31 March 2021.
ERER/LAER R_TE-_—F=RA=+—H  EEER
Mobilogix 2 # 25 I #E R {E ©

We focused on this area due to the significant judgement and
estimates involved in the impairment assessment.

IR SRS R EMORERT S R EAHE K b5t

We discussed with management of the Group and Mobilogix
regarding their overall future business plan. Based on the
explanations and supporting evidence provided by Mobilogix’'s
management and our knowledge of its business and industry,
we assessed the reasonableness of the bases and key
assumptions adopted by management in the expected cash
flows projection.

B E5E K Mobilogix 8 & I [B 5 5 H 2R R R E
5T & - 1B 4% Mobilogix B 12 B IR A ERIE K S #5/R &8 LA R B

HERBRITENT# ﬁiﬁaﬂﬁ%ﬁfiEéi‘éi,ﬁﬁfﬁiumé%ﬁ
AR RANEER T 2HRROSEN -

We involved our internal valuation specialist in our discussion
with management to understand the rationale of the chosen
value-in-use calculation model, based on which we assessed
the appropriateness of the methodology, reasonableness of the
key assumptions as well as the parameters used in preparation
of the model.

BANAMEEER2ETRMAEERENNR K THE
Fﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁf}‘éﬁéﬁgﬁiimﬁm - BB UL R PR AR 1R
EUARNRRZEESFRANEERRRZHNSIBIL -

We also reviewed sensitivity analysis prepared by management
in consideration of the potential impact of reasonably possible
changes in certain key inputs and parameters on the
recoverable amount of the Group's interest in Mobilogix.
HPMTEEHNEREREIBRENN  EEETIEHA
HERZ2HNAEAIREDHY  &EEN Mobilogix 2 6 A
o B EETE -

We consider management’s impairment assessment of
investment in Mobilogix as at 31 March 2021 is supportable by
available evidence.
BMRABEER-ZZ=—F= A =+—HE Mobilogix & &
BRERT (5B Al 1S/ S HF ©
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's financial
reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

BN 2 B R
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF

THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Leung Po Wah, Pauline.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 June 2021
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

HeBERER

Asat31 March2021 R-ZE-——#=H=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
ks FERT FAT
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - BB RHE 6 300,910 225,266
Right-of-use assets REEE 7 95,941 76,458
Goodwill kS 9 3,949 3,949
Interests in associates REEZE N R 2 S 1 26,338 25,311
Interest in a joint venture R—EEELEZER 12 7,862 6,919
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEZAHEMEERA
other comprehensive income G EE 14 6,004 5,266
Loans receivable BREURIE 18 = 266
Amount due from an associate FEUG — RSB &N B) 2 A 11 = 8,500
Deferred income tax assets RIS EE 21 1,950 1,314
Non-current prepayments, FERBER - 2R
deposit and other receivables H i FE U R 16 8,505 13,897
451,459 367,146
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 15 344,902 259,708
Trade and other receivables FEUE 28R SR oAt fE U R IR 16 401,166 240,221
Financial assets at fair value through BRAVERABECMBEE
profit or loss 17 193 43
Loans receivable B EW IR 18 = 1,800
Amounts due from associates FE MBS A B RIE 11 1,106 585
Cash and cash equivalents BeRREEZEEY 19 127,790 128,459
875,157 630,816
Total assets EERE 1,326,616 997,962
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities FERBEE
Lease liabilities HEaE 7 4,430 5,112
Deferred income tax liabilities BIEFSHAE 21 283 426
4,713 5,538

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
HeBEERER

Asat 31 March 2021 R-ZE_—#=H=+—H

2021 2020
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B EE THERT FHET
Current liabilities REBAEE
Trade and other payables FETE 5 8RR R A M FE - 5018 22 331,238 186,779
Contract liabilities AHEE 22 23,206 19,360
Financial guarantee contracts MBERER 23 2,521 =
Income tax payable FERTFRSHE 19,113 7,889
Lease liabilities HEARF 7 5,107 5,805
Bank borrowings RITHEE 20 138,550 67,750
Dt . 2l
Total liabilities BEAE 524,448 293,121
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of BEBREAREBEAZER
the Company
Share capital LN 24 28,349 28,349
Other reserves HitbfEH 26 124,347 84,810
Retained earnings RE & 26 648,278 590,830
800,974 703,989
Non-controlling interests FEFE G S 1,194 852
Total equity masgw 802168 704,841
Total equity and liabilities EaRkEERE 1,326,616 997,962
The consolidated financial statements on pages 114 to 247 were SF114FE247ENRETBBREER_E=_—F
approved by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2021 and were signedon  NAZ+/\BEZEZ it YH TIEERR
its behalf. #=E
Ng Chi Ho Ma Fung On
RER BER
Director Director
EF EF

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with — _t#li#r& EE A ERELERE I — 0 3I:E -
the accompanying notes.
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CDNSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

e W am R

For the year ended 31 March 2021 #HZ=ZF

=42 5] —ar—IEEE T

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE T FETT
Revenue W25 27 2,101,573 1,615,183
Cost of sales HENA 28 (1,814,939) (1,408,840)
Gross profit EF| 286,634 206,343
Other income H U A 29 5,085 1,593
Other gains — net E{ﬂguﬂz/\ — JFEE 30 412 1,843
Distribution and selling expenses DHENEEER 28 (62,099) (57,396)
General and administrative expenses —RERITHRERER 28 (127,729) (116,735)
Net impairment losses on financial assets ~ BA TS &7 K B TS #&1R
and financial guarantees VERIENSEi=VEk (220) (1,114)
Operating profit RERF 102,083 34,534
Finance income mE WA 31 1,268 2,034
Finance costs & KA 31 (2,713) (5,562)
Finance costs — net BVERK A — 31 (1,445) (3,528)
Share of losses of associates NGl -] (8,634) (1,882)
Profit before income tax M BT S 5L A s ) 92,004 29,124
Income tax expense e fif S 32 (12,388) (1,586)
Profit for the year FRER 79,616 27,538
Profit attributable to: AR
Owners of the Company KARHEAA 79,274 27,705
Non-controlling interests FEIR MRS 342 (167)
79,616 27,538
Earnings per share for profit attributable to RN BAR R TEA A
owners of the Company during the year A E T T E T
— Basic (HK cents) — EARCGB) 33 27.96 9.77
— Diluted (HK cents) — #EF 0B 33 27.96 9.77
The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction TA Y oS KR FE ERBE R BT 5T — FF B RE o

with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSNE INCOME
/ﬁflﬂ iﬁﬁﬁﬁ”&ﬂ}\ig

BE—F

For the year ended 31 March 2021

=4 B =S el

2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-TF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt aE FHET
Profit for the year FRER 79,616 27,538
Other comprehensive income/(loss): Hap2mEUB A ( Eﬂ’é
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently HEAEEH 7R
to profit or loss: Bm 2 HE -
Exchange differences arising on translation &G HMNf} B A RIFTE £
of foreign subsidiaries fEH =% 39,561 (12,214)
Item that will not be reclassified subsequently BT @B T HE
to profit or loss: Bm ZHE -
Fair value gains/(losses) on equity investments 3%/~ F(E a0 AE b 2 ERA
at fair value through other ZHQ%&?Z
comprehensive income N ERE(EE) 14 738 (1,237)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for FREMEZERA(EE)
theyear 40,299 (13451)
Total comprehensive income for FREEMEBAETE
the year 119,915 14,087
Total comprehensive income/(loss) 2EBA(HE) BRERER :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company LAN/NGIEZ V=D 119,573 14,254
Non-controlling interests JEP MRS 342 (167)
119,915 14,087
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be  _Fill4R& 2 UL A K FEERBEWT M T —F303E -

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
A 2 o =

HEZ

l\\/T\

For the year ended 31 March 2021 E-_—F=F=1—HIFFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

EAREEAELR
Non-
Share Other Retained controlling
capital reserves earnings interests Total
FiRsItE
TS HibfEE REBF i wE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT THET FAT FEL
Balance as at 1 April 2019 R-B-NEMA-AZEH 28,349 100,174 595,063 1,019 724,605
Profit/(loss) for the year ERHEN/ (FE) - - 27,705 (167) 27,538
Exchange differences arising on AEBINRBARFTELEL 8
translation of foreign subsidiaries - (12,214 - - (12,214)
Fair value losses on equity investments RATERAEMZARAZ
at fair value through other RIERE 2 AT ERHE
comprehensive income - (1,237) - - (1,237)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income H(FR)/WABE - (13,451) 27,705 (167) 14,087
Transfer of accumulated losses on REERATEZA
disposal of equity investments at ﬁﬁiEHW\ZME&EE%
fair value through other comprehensive ?I—fi%#@ﬁﬁir)\ BA
income to retained earings - 1,353 (1,353) - -
Transactions with owners: BRFAZEHNRS
Employee share option scheme: EEREAEE
Valuation of employee services EERSZERA - 167 - - 167
Options lapsed and expired KB RIER 2 ERE = (3.433) 3433 = =
Dividends paid geReE S - (4018 - (34018
Balance as at 31 March 2020 RZB-SF=A=+-Hz&H 28,349 84,810 590,830 852 704,841
Balance as at 1 April 2020 R-B-BEMA-AzEH 28,349 84,810 590,830 852 704,841
Profit for the year FREF - - 79,274 342 79,616
Exchange differences arising on BREBNIBRARMEEELER
translation of foreign subsidiaries - 39,561 - - 39,561
Fair value gains on equity investments BATERAEMZEIAZ
at fair value through other RiER & 2 AT EKE
comprehensive income - 738 - - 738
Total comprehensive income ZERALE - 40,299 79,274 342 119,915
Transactions with owners: BREEAZBANRS
Employee share option scheme: EEERESE:
Valuation of employee services EERK2ERE - 91 - - 91
Options expired B2 Bk iE = (853) 853 = -
Dividends paid geRsE = - (28799 - (22679
Balance as at 31 March 2021 RIB--F=A=1+-Hz&H% 28,349 124,347 648,278 1,19 802,168
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in iR AR B R EEABE I E— 05078 -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
\\/T\/\E/Eui//lbiig

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B Z_FE_—F=A=+—HILFZE

2020
—ETHF
Notes HK$'000
Bt aE FHET

Cash flows from operating activities REERCHERE
Cash generated from operations IR TREE VIS 37(a) 60,199 77,925
Interest paid ERTFLE (2,713) (5,562)
Hong Kong profits tax paid, net EREENE - 558 (2,158) (933)
Net cash generated from operating activities 48 ¥ 8EE 7 IR S IF5 55,328 71,430
Cash flows from investing activities BRETE2HERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BB EWE - BE & &RE (87,791) (24,902)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWE - BEMEEZ

plant and equipment Fri8 308 37(b) 999 49
Increase in interest in an associate R — A& A R 2 B N (3.875) (1,305)
Decrease/(increase) in amounts due FE B 8 A R IER (32 0)

from associates 479 (4,360)
Increase in interest in a joint venture R—EE &R 2 ERIE N - (990)
Advance of shareholder’s loan to M—EEEDERNREER

a joint venture - (51,129)
Repayment of shareholder’s loan from —EAETEEERRER

a joint venture - 51,129
Repayments of loans receivable BEEREWHIE 18 2,066 481
Interest received B HFILE 1,268 2,034
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets  HE&ERAFELZAEMEE

at fair value through other WA Z W& ES A

comprehensive income - 407
Decrease in pledged bank deposits BEEMIRITFTOR L - 115
Net cash used in investing activities KEEHA RS E5E (86,854) (28,471)
Cash flows from financing activities METBHAERERE
Proceeds from bank borrowings fﬁfﬂﬁgﬁﬁﬁﬁ 175,050 346,000
Repayment of bank borrowings BEIBITEE (104,250) (347,787)
Principal elements of lease payments HENME ZZIK > B (30,337) (3,784)
Dividends paid ERRE (22,679) (34,018)
Net cash generated from/(used in) BREZEME (TR RESHE

financing activities 37(c) 17,784 (39,589)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
,\\/T\/\f/gui //IL,E%%

For the year ended 31 March 2021 HZE—FT—=——#F=A=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—E-—F ZE-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FET
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and BeEMREEEMORLD),/
cash equivalents B hnFEE (13,742) 3,370
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates [ R &85/ & 13,073 (2,737)
Cash and cash equivalents, RERBeEEY - F9
beginning of the year 128,459 127,826
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year IR&NIBEEEY K 127,790 128,459
The above consolidated cash flow statement should be read in  FHARAIR©IRE K FEERRBEM Mot — 015038

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

120 ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Suga International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together “the Group”) are principally engaged in the
research and development, manufacturing and sales of electronic
products, pet food and other pet-related products. As at 31 March
2021, the Group has operations mainly in Hong Kong, Mainland
China and Vietnam.

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in Bermuda on 28 September 2001. The address of
the Company’s registered office is Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since
18 September 2002.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to all the
years presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial statements
are for the Group consisting of the Company and its subsidiaries.

2.1 Basis of preparation
(a) Compliance with HKFRSs and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") and
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (“HKCO") Cap. 622.

(b) Historical cost convention
The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss which are carried at fair value.

B 75 5 3% B A
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MK ABEREBR AR o KRR M
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Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 5 3% B o

2

122

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(c) Amendments to existing standards and

conceptual framework adopted by the
Group
The following amendments to existing standards and
conceptual framework are mandatory for the first time
for the financial year beginning 1 April 2020 and have
been adopted in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a business

Conceptual framework for ~ Revised conceptual framework

financial reporting 2018 for financial reporting
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of material
and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 39,  Interest rate benchmark reform
HKFRS 7 and HKFRS 9

The adoption of these amendments to existing standards
and conceptual framework has no material effect on the
preparation of the Group’s accounting policies.

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(d) New standards, amendments to existing
standards and interpretation that are not
yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group
The following new accounting standards, amendments
to existing standards and interpretation have been
issued but are not effective for the financial year
beginning 1 April 2020 and have not been early

B 75 5 3% B A

2 EESTHERSEGE)

2.1 mEEE ()
(d) /5 K £ 24 B 7 55 B 3 # 1
BERA B FT AT ERI R ¥ B
BER 2 157T R 2 &

AT el @5t 2R R IR A £
ZEFTRRBEEMER T
TENA— BRI BFEER
AER - BAKEL ERERR

adopted by the Group: 4N
Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after
RTIBEHR 2%
M2 FEMBER
Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19 related rent concessions 1 June 2020
ERMBREERFE 1658 (BFTA) Covid-19 BB SRR —E-FFRAA
Amendments to HKAS 39, Interest rate benchmark reform — phase 2 1 January 2021
HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9
and HKFRS 16
EEGHERIE395% - M REARENE — F 2R —E_—%—H—H
BB MEERE 45
BREMBREERET R
BEMBREERF KK
FEMBREERIE 1655
(BFTA)
Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, plant and equipment: proceeds 1 January 2022
before intended use
EE G ERIE 1698 (BRI A) M - BB NERE  BUE BRI Z S KIA —E-__%—H—H
Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous contracts — cost of fulfilling a contract 1 January 2022
ERGEREI7RUERIAR) BEREHN —BITAHNZIKAE —EZ=F—A—H
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the conceptual framework 1 January 2022
BRMBMEERNE I (BATAR) R SIELR —E-=F—A—H
Amendments to annual Annual improvements 2018-2020 cycle 1 January 2022
improvements project
FREUCEIER (BFTA) —NFE_Z_ZFRRFREICE S
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 52 3% B

2

124

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)
(d) New standards, amendments to existing

(d)

standards and interpretation that are not
yet effective and have not been early
adopted by the Group (Continued)

The following new accounting standards, amendments

to existing standards and interpretation have been

issued but are not effective for the financial year

beginning 1 April 2020 and have not been early

adopted by the Group: (Continued)

EEETBERBSE (&)
2.1 mEEE ()

[ R £ 3% B 7N 5 B 3 FE 12
BERABIFTTERIRH R
BRER 25T R2E (&)

LATRETET & 5 R R IR A LR
2B RBREEEMER =
SENMA—BRBZTRFEE
AEH BEAEEVTERER
W ()

Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after
RTSRBR2%
M2 EERBER

Accounting Guideline 5 (Revised)

CHEEEERVACSCHD)
Amendments to HKAS 1

FRGERIZE 15E (BRTA)

HKFRS 17
BRMBREENF 175
HKFRS 17

BB BRELERE 175
HK-Interpretation 5 (2020)

BEREESH(ZT_FTF)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and

HKAS 28
B BREEAE 105K

EBGERAIE 285 (52T 4)

Merger accounting for common control
combinations

HEZHTEHNEHENE

Classification of liabilities as current or
non-current

BESBRRBIIERD

Insurance contracts

RERE A

Amendments to HKFRS 17

ERP B IMEERE 175 (BFTAR)

Presentation of financial statements —

1 January 2022

—E__F—H—H
1 January 2023

—E_=F—H—H
1 January 2023
—E_=F—HA—H
1 January 2023
—E-=%—H—H
1 January 2023

Classification by the borrower of a term loan

that contains a repayment on demand clause

NP BEHRE — BERAHREREKX
BEGRZBEHRER DR

Sale or contribution of assets between an

—F-=%—HA—H

To be determined

investor and its associate or joint venture

BREEREBENRHGELEZHE
MBEHEIIEA

None of the above new standards, amendments to

existing standards and interpretation are expected to

have a significant effect on the consolidated financial

statements of the Group in the current or future reporting

periods and on foreseeable future transactions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 5 3% B A

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EEETBEMEGE)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting
(a) Subsidiaries (a) WEBALA

2.2 GERERZEFREA

Subsidiaries are entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that
control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account
for business combinations. The consideration transferred
for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued
by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Acquisition related costs are
expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair values at
the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are measured at either fair value or
the present ownership interests’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at their acquisition date fair
value, unless another measurement basis is required by
HKFRS.
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ER(BRAEBILER) - E4A%
BASXZALEBRMFZA
O AANEEHEER
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BEHIZERE - MB A R
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B A RIS L2 Bl
LEAPIARR °

AEERBEBEGEREHA
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer's previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising
from such re-measurement are recognised in profit or

loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognised in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured,
and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net asset acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised and previously held interest measured is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in the consolidated

income statement.

Inter-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s

accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
income statement, statement of comprehensive income,
statement of changes in equity and balance sheet
respectively.

(b) Associates

(c)

Associates are all entities over which the Group has
significant influence but not control or joint control. This
is generally the case where the Group holds between
20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting (see (d) below), after initially being recognised
at cost.

Joint arrangements

Under HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (“HKFRS 11"),
investments in joint arrangements are classified as either
joint operations or joint ventures. The classification
depends on the contractual rights and obligations of
each investor, rather than the legal structure of the joint
arrangement. The Group has a joint venture which is
accounted for using the equity method (see (d) below),
after initially being recognised at cost in the consolidated
balance sheet.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)
(d) Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments
are initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount
is increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s
share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date
of acquisition. The Group’s investments in associates
and a joint venture include goodwill identified on
acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the ownership
interests in associates and a joint venture, any difference
between the cost of the associates or a joint venture
and the Group's share of the net fair value of associates’
or a joint venture's identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interests in associates and a joint
venture are reduced but significant influence is retained,
only a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified
to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss is
recognised in the consolidated income statement, and its
share of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive
income is recognised in other comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group's share of losses in associates
and a joint venture equal or exceed its interest in associates
and a joint venture, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of associates and a joint venture.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 5 3% B A

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EEETBEMEGE)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)
(d) Equity method (Continued) (d) #z=% (&)

2.2 RERESERA (E)

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investments in
associates and a joint venture are impaired. If this is the
case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as
the difference between the recoverable amount of
associates and a joint venture and its carrying value and
recognises the amount in the consolidated income
statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group and its
associates and joint venture are recognised in the
Group’s financial statements only to the extent of
unrelated investor’s interests in associates and a joint
venture. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Accounting policies of equity-accounted
investees have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gains and losses on dilution of equity interests in
associates and a joint venture are recognised in the
consolidated income statement.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is
tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in Note 2.9.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)
(e) Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling
interests that do not result in a loss of control as
transactions with equity owners of the Group. A change
in ownership interest results in an adjustment between
the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-
controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in
the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of
the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any
consideration paid or received is recognised in a
separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of
the Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account
for an investment because of a loss of control, joint
control or significant influence, any retained interest in
the entity is remeasured to its fair value with the change
in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. This fair
value becomes the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained
interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to
another category of equity as specified/permitted by
applicable HKFRSs.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an
associate is reduced but joint control or significant
influence is retained, only a proportionate share of the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3

24

2.5

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments if
the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the
subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker (“CODM™"). The CODM, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the executive
directors collectively who make strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
[tems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group's entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). The consolidated
financial statements are presented in HK$, which is the
Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation
currency.

B 75 5 3% B A

2 EESTHERSEGE)

2.3

24

2.5

BY BB RE

PR A B 2 A AR A R R E 5
BR- KABERENEZBERAL -
B AR EERADAIZE IR RE
AR BASE ©

R R B E RS BB A R A
EEBAERE  RMEBIVBRE
MR EREERBRE VB HRERTR
BRENFEE(BRBE)NEREE "

AIBAHRHB AR ZREERER
DREBE

REDPBRREMIBZLZERRA(T
REERRAD FRERBHREER

—HZAARE T2EERRAR
ARKENBOBRERLFERR
ERRE R L RELRBORE Z T
B=-

I E

(a) WEEMZHEH
REBER TR ER ZMEHREHM
JIRBHRAEHEREXME
IERERRBAZER([ThEE
B ) RETE B - 5RA MBI
RARRRIZ N EH RAEHE
ZEHREWETES -

FEEREEERAT 131



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 52 3% B

2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(b) Transactions and balances

(c)

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items
are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated income
statement.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary
economy) that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at the

date of that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each income statement
and statement of comprehensive income are
translated at average exchange rates (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of the
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the dates of the

transactions); and

(i) all resulting currency translation differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the
closing rate. Currency translation differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 5 3% B A

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EESHBEHME(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

2.5 INE]E (&)

(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial

disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss
of joint control over a joint venture that includes a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
significant influence over an associate that includes a
foreign operation), all of the currency translation
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company
are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result in
the Group losing control over a subsidiary that includes
a foreign operation, the proportionate share of
accumulated currency translation differences are
reattributed to non-controlling interests and are not
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals
(that is, reductions in the Group’s ownership interest in
associates or a joint venture that do not result in the
Group losing significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
difference is reclassified to profit or loss.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance costs are
charged to the consolidated income statement during the
financial period in which they are incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6

2.7

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their costs less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 35-48 years
(over the land lease terms)
Leasehold improvements 5-10 years
Plant and machinery 5 years
Furniture and equipment 5 years

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amounts and are recognised within
“other gains — net” in the consolidated income statement.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Cost includes all attributable costs of
bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use.
This includes direct costs of construction as well as interest
expense capitalised during the period of construction and
installation. Capitalisation of these costs will cease and the
construction in progress is transferred to appropriate
categories within property, plant and equipment when the
construction activities necessary to prepare the assets for their
intended use are completed. No depreciation is provided in
respect of construction in progress.

Intangible assets

(a) Customer relationship
Contractual customer relationship acquired in a business
combination is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. The contractual customer relationship has a finite
useful life and is subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method over the expected life of
the customer relationship of five years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 5 3% B A

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.7 Intangible assets (Continued)
(b) Product development

EESTTHRBE (&)

2.7 BREE (&)
(b) EimFi%

Costs associated with maintaining software programmes
are recognised as an expense as incurred. Development
costs that are directly attributable to the design and
testing of identifiable and unique products controlled by
the Group are recognised as intangible assets when the
following criteria are met:

. It is technically feasible to complete the software
product so that it will be available for use;

o Management intends to complete the product
and use or sell it;

o There is an ability to use or sell the product;

3 It can be demonstrated how the product will
generate probable future economic benefits;

. Adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell
the product are available; and

. The expenditure attributable to the product during
its development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of
the software product include the software development
employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant
overheads. Other development expenditures that do not
meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as
incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an
expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent
period.

Development costs recognised as assets are amortised
over their estimated useful lives of three years.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.7 Intangible assets (Continued)

(c) Patents and trademarks

Separately acquired patents and trademarks are shown
at historical cost. Patents and trademarks acquired in a
business combination are recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. They have a finite useful life and are
subsequently carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method over their
expected useful lives of five years.

2.8 Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and
represents the excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and
the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identified net assets
acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is allocated to each of the cash-
generating units (“CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.
Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate a
potential impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is
compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher of
value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is
not subsequently reversed.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 5 3% B A

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EESHBEHME(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

29 FMBEENRE

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful
life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other
assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised immediately as
an expense for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups
of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.

2.10Financial assets

(a) Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

. those to be measured subsequently at fair value
(either through other comprehensive income or
through profit or loss); and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.
The classification depends on the entity’s business model

for managing the financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.10Financial assets (Continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

Classification (Continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will
either be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive
income. For investment in equity instruments that is not
held for trading, this will depend on whether the Group
has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt instruments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the investments have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all risks and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.10Financial assets (Continued)
(c) Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are
three measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

. Financial assets at amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income using
the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition is recognised directly in
profit or loss and presented in “other gains —
net” together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated income
statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.10Financial assets (Continued)
(c) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows and for selling the financial assets,
where the assets’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest, are measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Movements in the carrying amount are taken
through other comprehensive income, except for
the recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange gains and
losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When
the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from equity
to profit or loss and recognised in “other gains —
net”. Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in “other gains — net” and
impairment expenses are presented as separate
line item in profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised
cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income are measured at fair value through profit
or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at fair value through profit
or loss is recognised in profit or loss and presented
net within “other gains — net” in the period in
which it arises.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.10Financial assets (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value. Where the Group’s management has
elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity
investments in other comprehensive income, there is no
subsequent transfer of fair value gains and losses to
profit or loss following the derecognition of the
investment. Dividends from such investments continue
to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when
the Group'’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in “other gains —
net” in the consolidated income statement as applicable.
Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on
equity investments measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not reported separately from
other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires
expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables. See Note 3.1(iii)(c) and
Note 16 for further details.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.10Financial assets (Continued)

(e) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated balance sheet
where the Group has a legally enforceable right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right
must not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in the
event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the
company or the counterparty.

2.11Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress
comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and
related production overheads (based on normal operating
capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business,
less applicable variable selling expenses.

2.12Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade receivables is expected in one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if
longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at the
amount of consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components, when they are
recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade and other
receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash
flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. See Note 3.1(iii)(c) for
further information about the Group’s accounting for trade
and other receivables and a description of the Group’s
impairment policies.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.13 Cash and cash equivalents
In the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash
equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held at call
with banks which have a maturity of less than three months.

2.14Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.15Trade and other payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services
that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business
from suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as
current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or
in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not,
they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

2.16 Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently stated
at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net
of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised
in the consolidated income statement over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this
case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the
extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or all
of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
pre-payment for liquidity services and amortised over the
period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability
for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.17 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets
are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

2.18 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period in the countries where the
Group generates taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and considers whether it is
probable that a taxation authority will accept an
uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures its tax
balances either based on the most likely amount or the
expected value, depending on which method provides a
better prediction of the resolution of the uncertainty.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 5 3% B A

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EEETBEMEGE)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued) 218 VAR IE AT 1581 (&)
(b) Deferred income tax (b) EEFTEH

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognized if they arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is
also not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by
the end of the reporting period and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset is
realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the
Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle
on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the
consolidated income statement, except to the extent
that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, respectively.

2.19Employee benefits
(a) Pension obligations

The Group participates in various defined contribution
pension schemes. A defined contribution plan is a
retirement benefit scheme under which the Group pays
fixed contributions into a separate entity. The Group has
no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets
to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee
service in the current and prior periods.

The schemes are generally funded through payments to
state/trustee-administered funds. The Group pays
contributions to publicly or privately administered funds
on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The
Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense when they are
due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the
future payments is available.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EEETBEMEGE)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.19Employee benefits (Continued)

(b) Share-based compensation

2.19EEEF (&)
(b) R 131 5%

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based
compensation plan, under which the entity receives
services from employees as consideration for equity
instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of the
employee services received in exchange for the grant of
the options is recognised as an expense. The total
amount to be expensed is determined by reference to
the fair value of the options granted:

(i) including any market performance conditions (for
example, an entity’s share price);

(i) excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

(i) including the impact of any non-vesting conditions
(for example, the requirement for employees to
save).

Non-market performance and service conditions are
included in assumptions about the number of options
that are expected to vest. The total expense is
recognised over the vesting period, which is the period
over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to
be satisfied. In addition, in some circumstances
employees may provide services in advance of the grant
date and therefore the grant date fair value is estimated
for the purposes of recognising the expense during the
period between service commencement period and
grant date.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.19Employee benefits (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Share-based compensation (Continued)
At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises
its estimates of the number of options that are expected
to vest based on the non-market performance and
service conditions. It recognises the impact of the
revision to original estimates, if any, in the income
statement, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues
new shares. The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share
capital (nominal value) and share premium.

The grant by the Company of options over its equity
instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings
in the Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair
value of employee services received, measured by
reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over
the vesting period as an increase to investments in
subsidiaries undertakings, with a corresponding credit to
equity.

Employee leave entitlements

Employees’ entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability
for annual leave and long service leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet
date.

Employees’ entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Other benefits

Other directors’ and employees’ obligations are recorded
as a liability and charged to the consolidated income
statement when the Group is contractually obliged or when
there is a past practice that has created a constructive
obligation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 5 3% B A

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EESHBEHME(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.20Provisions 2.20%1&

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating
losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined
by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision
is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect
to any one item included in the same class of obligations is
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of
time is recognised as interest expense.

2.21Contingent liability

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future
events not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also
be a present obligation arising from past events that is not
recognised because it is not probable that outflow of
economic resources will be required or the amount of
obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements. When a
change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow
is probable, it will then be recognised as a provision.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.22 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable for the sales of goods and services in the ordinary
course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of
value-added tax, returns and discounts and after eliminating
sales within the Group.

The Group manufactures and sells a range of electronic
products, pet food and other pet-related products in the
wholesale market. Sales are recognised when control of the
products have transferred, being when the goods are
delivered to the customers, the customers have full discretion
over the goods and there is no unfulfilled obligation that
could affect the customers’ acceptance of the goods. Delivery
occurs when the products have been shipped to the specific
location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to customers, and either customers have accepted
the products in accordance with the sales contract, the
acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has objective
evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract, net of the estimated volume
discounts (if any). Accumulated experience is used to estimate
and provide for the discounts, using the expected value
method, and revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is
highly probable that a significant reversal will not occur. A
refund liability is recognised for expected volume discounts
payable to customers in relation to sales made until the end of
the reporting period. No element of financing is deemed
present as the sales are made with credit terms that are
consistent with market practice. The Group’s obligation to
provide a refund for faulty products under the standard
warranty terms is recognised as a provision.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as
this is the point in time that the consideration is unconditional
because only the passage of time is required before the
payment is due.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.23Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except
for financial assets that subsequently become credit-impaired.
For credit-impaired financial assets the effective interest rate is
applied to the net carrying amount of the financial asset (after
deduction of the loss allowance).

2.24Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive
payment is established.

2.25Leases as a lessee

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is
available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components.
The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the
lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-
alone prices.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable (if any).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.25Leases as a lessee (Continued)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of the
liability. The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being
the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to
borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment
with similar terms, security and conditions.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the
lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;
and

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received (if any).

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter
of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line
basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase
option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the
underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 5 3% B A

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EESHBEHME(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.26 Government grants

2.26 BUF#EBY

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received, and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated income statement over the
period necessary to match them with the costs that they are
intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment
are deferred and credited to the profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the expected lives of the related assets.

2.27 Financial guarantees

Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial
liability at the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is
initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the higher
of the amount determined in accordance with the expected
credit loss model under HKFRS 9 and the amount initially
recognised less, where appropriate, the cumulative amount of
income recognised in accordance with the principles of HKFRS
15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers ("HKFRS 15").

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined as the
present value of the difference in cash flows between the
contractual payments under the debt instrument and the
payments that would be required without the guarantee, or
the estimated amount that would be payable to a third party
for assuming the obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of
associates are provided for no compensation, the fair values
are accounted for as contributions and recognized as part of
the cost of the investment.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EESHBEEE(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.28Dividend distribution 2.28 TR E

154

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group's financial statements in
the period in which the dividends are approved by the
Company’s shareholders in case of final dividend and the
Company’s directors in case of interim dividend.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign exchange risk, cash flow and fair value interest rate
risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group's performance.

(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, Mainland
China and Vietnam and its business transactions, assets
and liabilities are principally denominated in HK$, United
States dollars (“US$”), Renminbi (“RMB"), and
Vietnamese Dong (“VND"). Foreign currency risk arises
when future commercial transactions or recognised
assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that
is not an entity’s functional currency. Management
monitors foreign currency exchange exposure and will
take measures to minimise the currency translation risk.
As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group has not used
any financial instruments to hedge against foreign
currency risk.

Management considers the foreign exchange risk with
respect to US$ is not significant as HK$ is pegged
against US$. The Group manages its foreign currency
risk by closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, if both HK$ and US$
had strengthened/weakened by 5% against RMB with
all other variables held constant, the post-tax profit for
each year would have changed mainly as a result of
foreign exchange losses/gains on translation of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
of the relevant group companies, as follows:

Post-tax profit (decrease)/increase
— Strengthen 5% — AE5%
— Weakened 5% — 2(E5%

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, if both HK$ and US$
had strengthened/weakened by 5% against VND with
all other variables held constant, the post-tax profit for
each year would have changed mainly as a result of
foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
of the relevant group companies, as follows:
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates as the Group has no significant interest-bearing
assets except for cash and cash equivalents, details of
which are disclosed in Note 19.

The Group's interest rate risk primarily relates to its bank
borrowings. Borrowings obtained at variable rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The
Group currently does not hedge its interest rate risk.
However, management monitors the related interest
rate risk exposure closely and will consider hedging
significant interest rate risk exposure should the need
arise. The interest rates and terms of repayment of
borrowings are disclosed in Note 20.

The Group has no fixed interest rate borrowings.
Therefore it does not have any fair value interest rate
risk.

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, if the interest rates on
bank borrowings had been 50 basis points higher/lower
than the prevailing interest rate, with all other variables
held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have
been HK$578,000 (2020: HK$283,000) lower/higher,
mainly as a result of higher/lower interest expense on
floating rate bank borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk

(@)

Risk management

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its
cash and bank balances, loans receivable, amounts
due from associates, trade and other receivables
(except for prepayments) and financial guarantee
contracts. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk is the carrying amounts of these financial
assets.

The Group’s credit risk is concentrated on a
number of major and long established customers.
Trade receivables from the top five customers
accounted for approximately 69% (2020: 24%) of
the Group'’s total trade receivables. The Group has
policies in place to ensure that sales are made to
customers with appropriate credit histories and to
limit the amount of credit exposure to any individual
customer.

The Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual trade receivable at each balance sheet
date to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. The Group's past
experience in collection of trade receivables falls
within the recorded allowances. In order to
minimise credit risk to the Group, the Group has
certain non-recourse factoring arrangements with
banks to cover the credit risk.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

(@)

(b)

Risk management (Continued)

The credit risk for cash at banks are limited
because the counterparties are banks with high
credit-ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies. Transactions in relation to equity
fund investments are only carried out with
financial institutions of high reputation. The Group
has policies that limit the amount of credit exposure
to any one financial institution.

Other financial assets at amortised cost include
deposits, other and loans receivables, and
amounts due from associates. Management
assesses the credit quality of the counterparties,
taking into account the historical risk of default
and capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term.

With respect to financial guarantees provided to
banks to secure the banking facilities granted to
an associate and a joint venture by the Group, the
credit risk is either default of the counterparties or
counterparties certain to default based on the
latest financial performance of the counterparties.

Security

For certain trade receivables the Group may obtain
security in the form of letters of credit which can
be called upon if the counterparty is in default.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BiEKRREZE (&)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued) (i) EERE (&)

(©) Impairment of financial assets (c BIBEEERE

B RREE (&)

The Group has two types of financial assets that
are subject to the expected credit loss model:

. Trade receivables

. Other financial assets at amortised costs

While cash and bank balances are also subject to
the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss is insignificant.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measuring expected credit losses which uses a
lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables, except for those individually significant
trade receivables or trade receivables at default
which are tested individually.

Measurement of expected credit loss on individual
basis

Trade receivables relating to customers with known
financial difficulties or significant doubt on
collection of receivables are assessed individually for
provision for impairment allowance. As at 31
March 2021, the balances of such individually
assessed trade receivables and the loss allowance
in respect of these receivables are HK$2,295,000
(2020: HK$2,295,000) and HK$2,295,000 (2020:
HK$2,295,000), respectively.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

©

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on collective
basis

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on
geographical region and shared credit risk
characteristics. The expected loss rates are based on
probabilities of default and loss rates from external
credit ratings, industry-specific data or other
internal and external credit data sources. The
historical loss rates are further adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors on the global economic
growth affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables, including but not limited to
the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 BiiEREE (&)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BiEREE (&)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued) (iii) EERE (&)
(©) Impairment of financial assets (Continued) () BIBEZEREE)
Trade receivables (Continued) BEWE SRR E)
Measurement of expected credit loss on collective HAF EFEE B EE(E)
basis (Continued)
The following table presents the balances of gross T?EEEJ —E- k=
carrying amount and the respective loss allowance E_EF=-A=+—HK
as at 31 March 2021 and 2020. HEBENEEEEBRES
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-THF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Gross carrying amount RE®E 365,801 189,710
Loss allowance B E (2,250) (6,403)
Lifetime expected credit loss rate 2 HRTEHA(E B E5iE X% 0.6% 3.4%
Decrease in lifetime expected credit loss rate in the AFEENEHEREERS

current year was due to change in customer mix
of the trade receivables as at 31 March 2021.

Trade receivables are written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Impairment
losses on trade receivables are presented as net
impairment losses within operating profit.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written
off are credited against the same line item. As at 31
March 2021, trade receivables previously provided
for amounting to HK$1,673,000 (2020: Nil) were
written off.

BETKRRBENN-F
——FZA=+—BREK
HOERNECEAEE

B 84 12 Uk (0] 78 HA R i 8N
JEH&%Z%HE%’ F&‘H&f’f
AR EE BN L E R
%IJ W 25 RRBEEEF
BoLREMBEzEEE
& W= B & A AE R & B
Ne R-_ZTE - —F=H
=+—H8 BKESHEXK
B fE B 151,673,000 T
(ZZZZF : T)EMH -
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3
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

©

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Other financial assets at amortised cost

For other financial assets at amortised cost including
deposits, other and loan receivables; and amounts
due from associates, the Group regularly monitors
the financial positions of these companies/
counterparties to assess their recoverability. As at
31 March 2021, loss allowances of HK$1,250,000
(2020: HK$1,250,000) and HK$452,000 (2020:
HK$202,000) have been provided for amounts
due from associates and other receivables,
respectively.

These financial assets at amortised cost, except for
amounts due from associates and other receivables
for which impairment losses have been provided
for, are considered to be of low credit risk
primarily because historically they had no history
of default and the counterparties had strong
capacity to meet their contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term. Management does
not expect any losses from non-performance by
these counterparties. The Group assessed the
expected credit losses for these receivables were
insignificant under 12 month expected loss
method. Thus, the loss allowance recognised for
these balances were close to zero.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

(c) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

The maximum exposure in respect of financial
guarantee contracts for banking facilities granted to
an associate and a joint venture was HK$10,000,000
and RMB78,000,000 (equivalent to HK$97,500,000)
respectively as at 31 March 2021. As at 31 March
2021, the bank facility utilised by an associate and a
joint venture was approximately HK$6,500,000 and
RMB78,000,000 (equivalent to HK$97,500,000)
respectively.

The credit risk of financial guarantee contracts is
either default of the counterparties or counterparties
certain to default based on their latest financial
information. Taking into account the historical
default experience and financial position of the
guaranteed entities, loss allowance of HK$2,521,000
was recognised as at 31 March 2021.

(iv) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining
sufficient cash balances and the availability of funding
through committed credit facilities and takes into account
all available information on future business environment
including among others, the social and economic impact
of the COVID-19 on the economies of the countries in
which the Group and its customers and suppliers operate.
The Group manages its liquidity risk by controlling the
level of inventories, closely monitoring the turnover days
of receivables, monitoring its working capital
requirements and keeping credit lines available.
Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group's
bank facilities and cash and cash equivalents on the basis
of expected cash flows.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iv) Liquidity risk (Continued)
The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities

MR EE (&)
3.1 BEEREE (&)
(IV) /Jlbyﬁﬁ“npﬁ(!ﬁ)
TRETRASEZMBABD

164

into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining e ERNEEREAAR A
period at the balance sheet date to the contractual KR THBEE D AEBD E%ER -
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are RAFTIEESE AR HARRMIAR
the contractual undiscounted cash flows. ERE -
Between Between
On Less than 1and 2and Over
demand 1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years Total
RER SPR-F -ZEZMF WEIEF BBSF L
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET FET
Asat31 March 2021 WZZE-—%
=A=+—H
Trade payables FERT B SRR - 288,463 - - - 288,463
Other payables and H b fER I8
accruals KT & - 23,308 - - - 23,308
Borrowings == 138,550 - - - - 138,550
Financial guarantee BEERER
contracts 2,521 = - - - 2,521
Lease liabilities MEaE - 5,351 3,411 138 3,01 11,911
141,071 317,122 3,41 138 3,011 464,753
Asat31 March 2020 WZZ_T4F
=A=+—H”
Trade payables B SR - 154,346 - - - 154,346
Other payables and Hib e A
accruals R EHE R = 20,018 = = = 20,018
Borrowings TE 67,750 = = = = 67,750
Lease liabilities HEAE - 6,203 5,279 - - 11,482
67,750 180,567 5,279 = - 253,59

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iv) Liquidity risk (Continued)

BBERER (&)
3.1 MEEREE (&)
(IV) ﬂlbyﬁﬁnﬁ(éﬁ)

The table below summarises the maturity analysis of the
loans with a repayment on demand clause based on
agreed scheduled repayments set out in the loan
agreements. The amounts included interest payments
computed using contractual rates. As a result, these
amounts were greater than the amounts disclosed in the
“on demand” time band in the maturity analysis
contained above. Taking into account the Group's
financial position, the directors do not consider that it is
probable that the banks will exercise their discretions to
demand immediate repayment. The directors believe
that such loans will be repaid in accordance with the

TRV B R E RKERGERD
IRITEFBIBEE R IHETE 215
EERKBXRELZIHAS
o ERSTERBERGHNE
FEZMEMNK Bt - kE2
EaR EMEBASTF [RE
fKINHEEFRE LS F
RAEE MG  EFFR
RIRITHEITE R G Z KA R

HEATREIE K - EEMEZE

ERBREERIBEMEIETE
m%@@o

scheduled repayment date set out in the loan

agreements.
Maturity Analysis — Bank borrowings subject to a RHBRAOT — EARNERKE
repayment on demand clause based on scheduled BEEXIRITEE  BEETE
repayments: B
Between Between
Less than 1and 2 and
1year 2 years 5 years Total
PR-F —EWF MERE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET TR FAT
31 March 2021 ——fF=A=+—H 109,763 20,386 10,193 140,342
31 March 2020 ZECEF=A=+—H 69,840 - - 69,840
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.2 Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for
other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as total borrowings divided by total
equity as shown in the consolidated balance sheet.

3

BERREE (&)

3.2 EXERER
REBMEBEAY BIZARERES
BE SIS AR A+ T e PR R A O [ 3R
REMBOHEERNE  URERZR
IFE AR - URE B KA -

RERLFBELGE  A5ELE
HEARRIKN 2RSS - BITH
B EEE - PAORIKET o

AEEZREERBLRERER - It
RN ERERERGEAEEABRM
REtEmAtE -

Total bank borrowings RITBERE
Total equity R

Gearing ratio BEERELE
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2021 2020
—B-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
138,550 67,750
802,168 704,841
17.3% 9.6%




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation
The table below analyses the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities carried at fair value as at 31 March 2021 by level of
the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value.
Such inputs are categorised into three levels within a fair value
hierarchy as follows:

o Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

o Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived
from prices) (level 2).

o Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on
observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(level 3).

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets and
liabilities that are measured at fair value as at 31 March 2021:

Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value  #ZAFEZAEMEE
through other WA Z B EE

comprehensive income
Financial assets at fair value 1R AP ELZAERZ
through profit or loss M EE

3

Level 1

E—&

HK$000
FERT

B 755 ¥R 3% I 7

¥R EE (&)

3.3

DNFEME
TRAEAEER_ZT-_—F=H
=t HARAFEARZIVBEER
BERFAEATEMBZREREZ
BAEBBRIELZOM - ZFBAE
RAFEBRRBHIOR/RAT=EE
& -

s RRBEEHRENERTSZ®
B (RERHE)(F—R) -

J WMEIINZBAE BIEE—R
Z A EE (AR EER) s
(AEEEREL) AT EENK
BEEZR) -

o WIRMAADAIRE SR (B AR
AEZBAB) RERZEBEY
BEBAEE=ZR) -

TREINAEER T _—F=H
=t HRAVEAEZHMBEER
BfE:

Level 2 Level 3 Total
EZR E= &%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000

THET FTHET FET

= - 6,004 6,004
193 - - 193
193 - 6,004 6,197

ErEmEmERAT
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 E?IZ%J_LF‘%":IE(%)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AV EME(E)
The following table presents the Group’s financial assets and TRENNAEFBR _E-_ZTF=H
liabilities that are measured at fair value as at 31 March 2020: =+—HBEATEFEZHBEER
afE:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& EZ& E=& BE

HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT THAT TAT TAT

Assets BE
Financial assets at fair value  #ZAFEZAEMEE
through other WAZ & E
comprehensive income - - 5,266 5,266
Financial assets at fair value R AFETLZABZZ
through profit or loss BI RS & E 43 _ _ 43
43 - 5,266 5,309
There are no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 during the REAN - F— ZR=RELEF
year. AT g -
(a) Financial instruments in level 1 (a) F—#H2@TAH
The fair values of financial instruments traded in active RERBMBEEZ R ITARYF
markets are based on quoted market prices at the BERREEB TS RETE -
balance sheet date. A market is regarded as active if WA AR S F AR ZFT - X
quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an ZE &5 FRER - EER
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, BHEEHBIISHE - ME-H
or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual ﬁlﬁ{ﬁ}iﬁ%,\%rﬁ?ﬁﬁﬁZﬂ?ﬁ
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s BR 5 - BlZmSEeAERT
length basis. The quoted market price used for the listed %o ANEBFTFE e TEFAT
equity instruments held by the Group is the current bid RAzmEmEREREAEB M
price. These instruments are included in level 1. ZETARABRE—R - DR
Instruments included in level 1 classified as trading f;ﬁiﬁzua)\%—iﬁzlﬂi
securities comprise primarily equity investments listed on DEENEREZRBIAR AW
the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated 2EHIRERF(INASDAQ]) £
Quotations (the “NASDAQ"). MZREHRE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(b) Financial instruments in level 2

(c)

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market are determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data where it is
available and rely as little as possible on entity specific
estimates. If all significant inputs required to assess the
fair value of an instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in level 2. The Group does not
have level 2 financial instruments.

Financial instruments in level 3

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in
level 3. As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s financial assets
measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are level 3 financial assets.

The fair values of the Group's financial assets at fair
value through other comprehensive income are determined
based on the net asset values of the funds calculated
with reference to the quoted prices in active markets of
the underlying investments of the funds.

The following table presents the changes in level 3
instruments for the year ended 31 March 2021:

B %5 R < MY v

3 MEBEREEGHE)

3.3 AF
(b)

(9]

B (&)

B+ HTA
WIERNERTEEE Y SRMTA
ATELEERTET - 251
ERTNREEREBRIESEAD
BHE - TREMGKBENE
B IEE - METANATE
FA2BEEHAMEY ABET
B ARIABRE R A&
EYEE—BEBITE -

F=HRLHTAH
W—IER 2 EE B A E L IE
BRAETISEEAEE - BIZ
TABRE=H -R-_T——F
ZA=+—8B AEERATE
BAHMEEWAEZHE
EBRE=HMBEE -

REBRAFECAEMEEIK
A EETZERE S 2 HH
REWEERM S MEFEZE

TRERFE-RIENEE-ZT
S FZATtH-BLEEIZE
& -

Financial assets
at fair value
through other
comprehensive
income

BAFE
AR
2EBAZ
HHRE
HK$'000
FB

As at 1 April 2020
Net fair value gains credited to equity

RZE-ZFFOMA—H
FAERZA

As at 31 March 2021 RN-ZE-_—F=H=+—H

FEW

5,266
738

6,004

FEEREEERAT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3 BI#EMRERE(E)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AR EME (&)
(c) Financial instruments in level 3 () E=4kzmTHE)
(Continued)
The following table presents the changes in level 3 TREBTE=-RITERBE_Z

instruments for the year ended 31 March 2020: “EF=ZA=+—HIFEZE

Financial assets

& :

Financial assets
at fair value

at fairvalue  through other
through profit ~ comprehensive
or loss income Total
BRATE
BRAYE o AEAD
SABTmLZ ZEHBRAZ
MBEE IS EE aat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT
As at 1 April 2019 RZE—-NLFWmA—AH 26,863 6,910 33,773
Disposal HE - (407) (407)
Net fair value losses charged P EZFIR 2 A FE
to equity EERER - (1,237) (1,237)
Net fair value losses charged FMEZEHIG 2 AFE
to profit or loss B8 F %A (975) = (975)
Transfers to interests EEE RS A RIS
in associates (25,888) - (25,888)
As at 31 March 2020 RZEBE-TF
=A=+—H - 5,266 5,266
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Group'’s accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(a) Estimated write-downs of inventories to net

realisable value

The Group writes down inventories to net realisable value
based on an assessment of the realisability of inventories.
Write-downs of inventories are recorded where events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may not
be realised. The identification of write-downs requires the use
of judgement and estimates. These estimates are based on the
market condition and the historical experience of selling prices
of similar nature. Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
value of inventories and write-downs of inventories in the
period in which such estimate has been changed.
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

172

JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Impairment of interests in associates

Management regularly reviews the recoverability of the
Group's interests in associates, in particular when they
consider objective evidence of impairment exists, such as
significant adverse changes in the market environment,
including, among others, the social and economic impact of
the COVID-19 on the associates and the countries in which
they operate. The sources utilised to identify indications of
impairment are often subjective in nature and the Group is
required to use judgement in applying such information to its
business. The Group’s interpretation of this information has a
direct impact on whether an impairment assessment is
performed as at any given reporting date.

If an indication of impairment is identified, such information is
further subject to an exercise that requires the Group to
estimate the recoverable amount, representing the asset’s
value in use. The Group is required to make certain
assumptions to make such assessment, including the projected
business performance and future cash flows of the associates
and appropriate discount rates. Changes in any of these
assumptions could result in a material change to future
estimates of the recoverable amount of such associates. An
impairment loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income whenever the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(c) Estimated useful lives and impairment of

4 EERETHEERAE ()
(0 W% BERRE EHAEE

property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group's property, plant and equipment are depreciated
based on their estimated useful lives and estimated residual
values. The Group's right-of-use assets are depreciated over
the shorter of the assets’ useful lives and the lease terms on a
straight-line basis. Management has reviewed the estimated
useful lives and considers they are appropriate. This estimate
is based on the historical experience of the actual useful lives
of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets of
similar nature and functions. It could change significantly as a
result of technical innovations and competitor actions in
response to market conditions.

Management will increase the depreciation charges where
useful lives are less than previously estimated and will dispose
of technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been
abandoned. Actual economic lives may differ from estimated
useful lives. Periodic review could result in a change in
depreciable lives and therefore depreciation expense in future
periods.

The Group amortises its intangible assets with finite useful
lives on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.
The estimated useful lives reflect management’s estimates of
the periods that the Group intends to derive future economic
benefits from the use of these intangible assets. Intangible
assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of
two to five years. Impairment loss of HK$1,455,000 for
intangible assets was recognised during the year ended 31
March 2020, resulting in the carrying amount being written
down to its recoverable amount. Refer to Note 8 for further
details.
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4

174

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)
(c) Estimated useful lives and impairment of

property, plant and equipment, right-of-use

assets and intangible assets (other than

4 EEGRHE R (&)

(9]

ME- BERERE EHAEER
ERBIEE (BERKRN) 214
sAE R F B RRE (&)

(d)

(e)

goodwill) (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable, including, among others, the
economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the
operations of the Group and the countries in which it
operates. Impairment loss on such assets is recognised as the
amount by which the carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount in accordance with the accounting policy stated in
Note 2.9. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, which are
based on the best information available to reflect the amount
obtainable at each reporting date, from the disposal of the
asset in an arm'’s length transaction between knowledgeable,
willing parties, after deducting the costs of disposal. These
require the use of estimates.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated
in Note 2.8. The recoverable amounts of cash generating units
have been determined based on value-in-use calculations
prepared on the basis of management’s assumptions and
estimates (Note 2.9). These calculations require the use of
estimates.

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates. The
Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on
the Group’s historical and existing market conditions as well
as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting
period. Details of the key assumptions and inputs used are
disclosed in Note 3.1.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

()

(9)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to various taxes in a number of
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the
final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the current income tax and deferred income tax
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary differences
are recognised when management considers it is probable
that future taxable profits will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. When the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax assets
and income tax charges in the period in which such estimate
is changed.

Fair values of financial assets
The fair values of financial assets that are traded in an active
market are determined by the quoted market prices.

For the fair values of financial assets not traded in an active
market, the Group would use the valuation techniques with
the assistance of independent professional valuers to estimate
the fair values. The methodologies, models, assumptions and
parameters used in valuing these financial instruments require
judgement by management at each balance sheet date. For
further details refer to Note 3.3 above.

B 75 5 3% B A
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The CODM has been identified as the Executive Directors of the
Group, who make strategic decisions and review the internal
reporting of the Group in order to assess performance and allocate
resources.

There are two reportable segments for the Group:

Electronic products — Develop, manufacture and sale of
electronic products
(Other than pet-related electronic
products)

Pet-related products ~ — Manufacture and distribution of pet-
related products

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments
based on a measure of the results of reportable segments. Finance
income and costs, corporate income and expenses, fair value gains
or losses of financial assets and share of results of associates are not
included in the results for each operating segment that are reviewed
by the CODM. Other information provided to the CODM is
measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
financial statements.

Revenue from external customers is shown after elimination of inter-
segment revenue. Sales between segments, which mainly consist of
sale of electronic components and products among subsidiaries, are
carried out at mutually agreed terms. Revenue from external parties
is measured in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated
income statement.

Assets of reportable segments exclude current and deferred income
tax assets, financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans
receivable, interests in and amounts due from associates, interest in
a joint venture and corporate assets, all of which are managed on a
central basis. Liabilities of reportable segments exclude current and
deferred income tax liabilities and corporate liabilities. These are part
of the reconciliation to total balance sheet assets and liabilities.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 2EERGE)

The segment information provided to the CODM for the reportable REE_ T FR_E-_TFE=R=+—
segments for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 is as AEFEERHPERMEBEERRARE 2
follows: DEERMT -

2021
—E_—fF
Electronic Pet-related
products products Elimination Total

By
EYERm HHER EaF | &t
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TR TR TR FHET

Revenue s
Revenue from external customers #hR % B a5 1,695,367 406,206 - 2,101,573
Inter-segment revenue P IEERE 235,590 227,590 (463,180) -
1,930,957 633,796 (463,180) 2,101,573

Segment results Pap S 94,955 26,926 121,881
A reconciliation of segment DREEEHEFR

results to profit for the year is SEH 2 HERT -

as follows:
Segment results DEEEE 121,881
Unallocated expenses — net APOBRF Y —F5E (25,295)
Other income Hap g A 5,085
Other gains — net Eias — 58 412
Operating profit AT 102,083
Finance income BhE YA 1,268
Finance costs BhE A (2,713)
Share of losses of associates FE(ETE & AR E1E (8,634)
Profit before income tax % B 15 55 AL 92,004
Income tax expense FriS®i Xt (12,388)
Profit for the year F A5 K 79,616
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5
The segment information provided to the CODM for the reportable
segments for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 is as
follows: (Continued)

Electronic
products

ETEMm
HK$'000
FET

Other segment information Hihpa@|ER

Depreciation of property, Y - BEREREITE

plant and equipment 33,251
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {F FAEEETE 6,180
Additions to non-current assets RN EIER B A E

(other than interests in (REEE R RN —E

associates and a joint venture, R IELR

financial assets and deferred WA ERRLETIR

tax assets) BERIN) 114,359

2 EENH)

REE—_ZT—

Pet-related

—FR-F-FE=A=+—
AILEE2RARAEBLEREARE
DEERTE - ()

products Unallocated Total

%7
HEER
HK$'000

TR

357
720

562

Ao B &t
HK$'000  HK$'000
T FEx

2,485 36,093
3,773 10,673

4,864 119,785

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 5 3% B A

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 SHEER(E)
The segment information provided to the CODM for the reportable REE B FR_E_EBF=A=+—
segments for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 is as HIEFEEFROEREZLEERRARE Y
follows: (Continued) DEERIT : (8)
2020
_T_THF
Electronic  Pet-related
products products  Elimination Total
EM
BEFE®D MHEEE M ESgis CEl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHAT FHET FHET FH&T
Revenue Yoz
Revenue from external customers 5Nk B U2k 1,364,415 250,768 - 1,615,183
Inter-segment revenue o iEE 101,613 75,466 (177,079) =
1,466,028 326,234 (177,079) 1,615,183
Segment results Pap S 54,040 16,434 70,474
A reconciliation of segment DEEEHEFNRN
results to profit for the year is Az BRRIT
as follows:
Segment results DIEEE 70,474
Unallocated expenses — net APOBCF Y —F5E (39,376)
Other income H AU A 1,593
Other gains — net H s —F5E 1,843
Operating profit R T 34,534
Finance income BRE A 2,034
Finance costs & A AR (5,562)
Share of losses of associates JEMRERE A R B8 (1,882)
Profit before income tax B P15 25 Al A 29,124
Income tax expense FriSTim < (1,586)
Profit for the year F R ) 27,538
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 S2¥EERGE)
The segment information provided to the CODM for the reportable REE - FR-_EBE_EF=A=+—
segments for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 is as HIEFEEFROEREBZLEERRARE Y
follows: (Continued) DEERMT - (&)

Electronic Pet-related

products products  Unallocated Total
%7
BFEMD HEEm vl CHl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FHIT FHT FAT
Other segment information Hib 2 EER
Depreciation of property, ME - BELRBINE
plant and equipment 28,530 332 2,496 31,358
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {EFREBEITE 2,759 521 2,316 5,596
Amortisation of intangible assets mIEEE = = 1,226 1,226
Impairment loss of intangible assets &2 & EREER - - 1,455 1,455
Additions to non-current assets RNEIERBDEE
(other than interests in (R AT R—fE
associates and a joint venture, BREIRER
financial assets and deferred B & E MR IERR IR
tax assets) BERSIN) 32,965 1,965 4,252 39,182
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 Z2EEHRE)
The segment assets and segment liabilities as at 31 March 2021 and REE_ T FR_E-_TFE=R=+—
2020 and the reconciliation to the total assets and total liabilities are BIFEE®RO\REBLERRAREZ
as follows: DEERIAT -
2021
—E-—F
Electronic Pet-related
products products Total
EY
EfEm EHBAE M ast
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FERT FER FER
Segment assets NEEE 1,121,318 75,490 1,196,808
Unallocated: RoBe
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB KA 24,379
Right-of-use assets EREEE 47,656
Interests in associates NN e E 26,338
Interest in a joint venture R—HaELE I ER 7,862
Deferred income tax assets EEFSHAE 1,950
Amounts due from associates JE Ui B 2 N B SR IR 1,106
Income tax recoverable A Fr SRR 77
Other investments H & 6,197
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEED 5,240
Other unallocated assets HitvRDMEE 9,003
Total assets per consolidated mEEEAF/K
balance sheet FImEERBE 1,326,616
Segment liabilities NEEE 313,472 40,245 353,717
Unallocated: RO -
Bank borrowings BITEE 138,550
Lease liabilities HEAE 3,269
Deferred income tax liabilities BRI AR 283
Income tax payable FEfTFTS B 19,113
Financial guarantee contracts B IEERE R 2,521
Other unallocated liabilities HitRxHE ARG 6,995
Total liabilities per consolidated REBEEAER
balance sheet FiRBERE 524,448
EEEIREBERAT
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2020 and the reconciliation to the total assets and total liabilities are

as follows: (Continued)

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The segment assets and segment liabilities as at 31 March 2021 and

2 EENH)
BHE-T-—FR-T-TF=A=t—

HIEFES

BWOBEREBEBBRRARHE

DRERWMT : (B)

2020
—E-TF
Electronic Pet-related
products products Total
W)
BEFE®D MRREZE @ CE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHET FH&T
Segment assets D¥E é? 808,629 30,695 839,324
Unallocated: P
Property, plant and equipment %% l'r‘?ﬁ)%& b 25,945
Right-of-use assets FREEE 47,825
Interests in associates REE AR 2w 25,311
Interest in a joint venture R—HEELE I ER 6,919
Deferred income tax assets BIEFTSRAE 1,314
Amounts due from associates FEWEE & A T FRIE 9,085
Loans receivable B R EWR 2,066
Income tax recoverable —MﬂZ@ﬁﬁ fR 620
Other investments Hithi & 5,309
Cash and cash equivalents RENRRESEEYD 24,319
Other unallocated assets HEARSEEE 9,925
Total assets per consolidated mAEBEAEBR
balance sheet FIREEBE 997,962
Segment liabilities ﬁ*ﬁ%% 161,231 2,794 164,025
Unallocated: KoL
Bank borrowings RITEE 67,750
Lease liabilities HEBE 2,314
Deferred income tax liabilities BEMSHARE 426
Trade payables FERTE 5 BR 3K 31,603
Income tax payable R ERIS R 7,889
Other unallocated liabilities HEROEEE 19,114
Total liabilities per consolidated MEBEAER
balance sheet FinBfEesE 293,121
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

An analysis of the Group’s revenue from external customers by
country/region of destination for the years ended 31 March 2021
and 2020 is as follows:

B 7% R ak BT &

2 REFR (F)
AEERE-T - FR-F-TFE=A
=+—BUEFEREMBER HERIS 2

The United States of America (the “USA") EFIRERE([ERH])

Taiwan =
The People’s Republic of China PEARKLMBE(HRH] -
(the "PRC”, including Hong Kong) BIEEE)
Japan =N
Germany ==
Australia SEM
France EE
United Kingdom ]
Others EHit

SMREFWEEDITIT -
2021 2020
—B-—F S
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTERT TAET
1,222,232 769,079
236,440 105,914
202,981 151,967
152,147 181,948
88,629 60,835
56,883 93,169
47,067 110,516
24,934 64,406
70,260 77,349
2,101,573 1,615,183
EEAREBARAT oo
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

An analysis of the Group’s non-current assets, excluding deferred
income tax assets and interests in associates and a joint venture, by
geographical locations is as follows:

2 REFR (8)
REBRICE LS 2 FRDEE(TRIEE
EFERABURRBE AT R4 %0
2R AT

Hong Kong BE
Mainland China A B A,
Vietnam ]
Others i)

For the year ended 31 March 2021, external revenue of
approximately HK$935,083,000 (2020: HK$224,489,000) was
generated from three (2020: one) major customers. Each of these
three customers accounted for more than 10% (2020: 10%) of the
Group’s revenue.

No other customer accounted for more than 10% of the Group’s
revenue for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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2021 2020
—B-—F —TTF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTExT TAT
59,254 76,039
278,314 242,649
77,741 14,803

- 111

415,309 333,602

BHE-_Z-_—FA=ZA=+—HLFE '
#0 UL 25 49 935,083,000 T ( — T — T4 :
224,489,000 L) RE =R (ZE=_ZF :
—B)EBERF - ZE-EBFPEHMLAEASE
B 10% (ZZEZFF : 10%) A E -
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6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6 WX BERRKE
Furniture
Leasehold Plant and and  Construction
Buildings  improvement machinery equipment in progress Total
BF HENEEE BERMEE GRRRE kEIR it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAL TATL TATL TATL TATL ThEx
As at 1 April 2019 R=Z-nEMA-A
Cost WA 161,785 77,028 116,303 42,187 - 397,303
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 218 E K AE (17,984) (33,001) (73,562) (31,947) = (156,494)
Net book amount REEE 143,801 44,027 42,11 10,240 - 240,809
Year ended 31 March 2020 BE-Z-Z%=A=1-H
JI2:355
Opening net book amount ENREFE 143,801 44,027 0,741 10,240 = 240,809
Additions ANE - 5,288 9,271 9,820 - 24,379
Disposals HE = (42) (83) (75) = (200)
Depreciation e (3,655) (7,994) (14,381) (5.328) - (31,358)
Exchange differences ERES (5,113) (1,839) (963) (449) - (8,364)
Closing net book amount FREMFE 135,033 39,440 36,585 14,208 - 225,266
As at 31 March 2020 R-Z-2%=H=1+-A
Cost AR 156,134 79,112 116,620 50,361 - 402,227
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 2T E R AE (21,101) (39,672) (80,035) (36,153) = (176,961)
Net book amount REEE 135,033 39,440 36,585 14,208 = 225,266
Year ended 31 March 2021 BE-_E_-%=F=1-H
JI2:355
Opening net book amount FRERSE 135,033 39,440 36,585 14,208 - 225,266
Additions NE - 5,594 39,751 5,874 33,294 84,513
Disposals k-3 = = (40) @ = (44)
Depreciation e (3.478) (8.459) (17,318) (6,838) = (36,093)
Exchange differences ERES 14,670 4,993 5,602 1,846 157 27,268
Closing net book amount FREEFE 146,225 41,568 64,580 15,086 33,451 300,910
As at 31 March 2021 W=B=-f£=B=t-H
Cost WA 172,792 94,541 163,481 59,562 33,451 523,827
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 2T E KRE (26,567) (52,973) (98,901) (44,476) - (222,917)
Net book amount REFE 146,225 41,568 64,580 15,086 33,451 300,910
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6 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)
Depreciation of HK$17,618,000 (2020: HK$13,674,000) and
HK$18,475,000 (2020: HK$17,684,000) has been charged to cost
of sales and general and administrative expenses, respectively, in the
consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 March 2021.

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group had no pledge of assets.

7 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES
(a) Balances recognised in the consolidated
balance sheet

M - BE K&k (&)

BE_Z-_—&=-A=+—ALLtFE HE
17,618,000/ 7L (ZF =ZF F : 13,674,000
BT ) &18,4750008 T( =Z T =T F :
17,684,000 7 7T ) B 2 BIR4R & W a5 2= M 88
ERAR MR RITRERE B AR -

R-ZE——FR-_T_TF=A=+—8"
REBWEEREE -

ERAEEEREEAE
(a) REREERBRER 2GR

2021 2020
—B_—F —E-F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHERT THETT

Right-of-use assets EREEE
Properties S
Leasehold land HE T
Land use rights T3 A
Lease liabilities HEeE
Current portion mENEL S
Non-current portion ERBE D

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year ended 31
March 2021 were approximately HK$30,177,000 (2020:
HK$10,626,000), which mainly represented a piece of land
subleased by the Group in Vietnam for a term of 39 years for
setting up a new manufacturing plant.

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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8,210 10,742
19,351 20,061
68,380 45,655
95,941 76,458

5,107 5,805

4,430 5112

9,537 10,917
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7 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated

(9]

income statement

7

B %5 R < MY v

EREEEREERE (A
(b) RFEWEREAZEH

Depreciation of right-of-use assets FERAREERE
Properties ES

Leasehold land HELH

Land use rights s A

Interests on lease liabilities

Expenses relating to short-term leases

The total cash outflow for leases during the year ended 31
March 2021 was approximately HK$35,681,000 (2020:
HK$8,137,000).

Depreciation of HK$3,980,000 (2020: HK$2,609,000) and
HK$6,693,000 (2020: HK$2,987,000) has been charged to
cost of sales and general and administrative expenses,
respectively, in the consolidated income statement for the
year ended 31 March 2021.

The Group’s leasing activities and how these
are accounted for

The Group leases various office premises, warehouses and
factories. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed terms of
1 to 3 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease arrangements do not impose any covenants.

The Group also has leasehold land in Hong Kong and land
lease arrangements with the local government agencies in the
PRC and Vietnam.

HEHHERE 2 MAX

(9]

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&T FAET
7,692 3,807

710 710

2,271 1,079
10,673 5,596

679 377

4,665 3,976

BEe_Z-_—4#=ZA=+—81L%#F
Er-HEMNR T4 9
35,681,000 t( = & = T F:
8,137,000 7¢) °

BEe-_ZTZ-—F=A=+—HI#F
fE - #7%3,980,0008 T(— T -T4F :
2,609,000 7t ) & 6,693,000 70 (=
T T 12,987,000 T) B S RIR
HARERBEERAR —RERITHRE
BEBRANR -

AEENEHERBRAEEE
B3

AEEREZERAENE BER
BE-HEANNEERR —KRB1
E3F - BRANMBEEGRREBEL
BEE BEeRE TR FR &K
o E 2 PFI0 8 e H ] 2255 -

AEBTNEBHEAEE S - WK
B K E BT AR AT S 3
E2H -
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8

188

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 8 H\|IEEE
Customer Product Patents and
relationship  development  trademarks Total
EERR EnEE BIREE &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHET FHET
As at 1 April 2019 R-ZE-h&ENA—H
Cost PR 5,584 4,986 600 11,170
Accumulated amortisation and ZREEHENORE
impairment (5,584) (2,845) (60) (8,489)
Net book amount BREHE 2,141 540 2,681
Year ended 31 March 2020 BE-Z-EH=-H=+-—H
LFE
Opening net book amount FURERE 2,141 540 2,681
Amortisation By (1,106) (120) (1,226)
Impairment A (1,035) (420) (1,455)
Closing net book amount FREEMSE - - -
As at 31 March 2020, 1 April 2020 R=—ZT-BE=A=+-—-H "
and 31 March 2021 —E_EZENA-AK
—B--%=ZH=+-H
Cost B 4,986 600 11,170
Accumulated amortisation and 2TEEE LR E
impairment (5,584) (4,986) (600) (11,170)
Net book amount EmmEE - _ _

The Group’s intangible assets were fully amortised and impaired as
at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

Amortisation of HK$1,226,000 and impairment loss of HK$ 1,455,000
were charged to general and administrative expenses and “other
gains — net”, respectively, in the consolidated income statement for
the year ended 31 March 2020.

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

REBNEFEECRN - E-_—FK_ZT=
TE=Z A=+ — BB RE -

BE_Z-_TZE=-A=+—HIFE - &
1,226,000% 7T X & {8 /& #81,455,000 % 7T
ENRIRGREER —REITHREEER KR
[H i ss—F 58 ) RI0RR o



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GOODWILL

B 75 5 3% B A

2021 2020
—E-——F —E-TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET

RE R FLK

Beginning and end of the year

The Group's goodwill is related to the acquisitions of 50% equity
interest of Suga Technology Limited and 15% equity interest of
Suga Technology Hong Kong Limited, both of which are wholly
owned subsidiaries principally engaged in trading of electronic
products.

Impairment test for goodwill

The Group combined the operation of the two entities as one and
therefore, management considered these two entities as one cash
generating unit (“CGU"). The recoverable amounts of the CGU are
determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations
use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a five-year period which incorporate the
following key assumptions.

3,949 3,949

AEBOEHBLEKBEERTARLDF
50% AR REERMEEFERRAF
5% RAEREH MEARZEMER
Al XENEEEEFEM

R BRI
AEBBMEER 2 XBKEMHAE—  Bit -
EEERAZEMAERAAReELS
f([BReEEEM]) REEEBM 2K
Bl HIRFERBEENEEZET - BETE
TIRBEEEEMAZRE R TR M ETE

EER B eRERAET  HBETY=E
BRE& o

Terminal growth rate g R =
Discount rate BH3R =&

Management determined budgeted revenue growth rate based on
past performance and their expectations for market development.
The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating
to the relevant segments. Cash flows beyond the period covered in
approved budgets are extrapolated using a growth rate that do not
exceed the long-term average growth rate for the businesses in
which the CGU operates.

Based on the discounted cash flow forecast prepared by
management, the directors are of the view that there is no
impairment of goodwill as at 31 March 2021.

2020

— —ﬁfﬁ

3.0% 3.0%
12.0% 12.0%

EEERBAERRMEMSERZAY
EERENREERE - AR 2R RS
AR - AT RRABEE DB I ERR - BB
EHFERERRZASRENERLTE
BRTELBMNEL 2 EXH cRPFHER
RZIBRERHAER

REEEERIEZEMBRESRETEN &
RE[ER-_ZE-_—F=A=1+—HIE
B °

FEEREEERAT
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SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 March

2021 are as follows:

Place of incorporation/

10

o) NG

RRABTR B —F=ZA=+—HZFEMH

2N AIREBT

establishment and Issued share capital/ Principal activities
Name kind of legal entity paid-up capital Group equity interest and place of operation
HMAL Rt H R BRTRA/
£ ERERER HRRA FEBEGRTER TEEBREHLE
2021 2020
~B--f S X2
Suga International Limited (i) British Virgin Islands, Ordinary shares US$700 100% 100% Investment holding
limited liability company
RRELEE BRAF  TRRI0ET REER
Suga Electronics (Hong Kong) Limited ~ Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$2 100% 100% Trading of electronic products
limited liability company in Hong Kong
BERRRA Bk BRARA LER2ET REREEETER
Suga Electronics Limited (ii) Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$2; 100% 100% Trading of electronic products
limited liability company Non-voting deferred in Hong Kong
shares HK$4,000,000 (ii)
EEEFERRAF ) B BRAT LER2ET  BREE REBEEETER
EFERR17 4,000,000 A 7T (i)
Suga Beauty Technology Limited Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$2 100% 100% Design and trading of
limited liability company electronic products
in Hong Kong
EEEANBERAT B BRAT EER2ET REBRAREEEFEM
Precise Computer Tooling Co., Limited  Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$500,000 100% 100%  Investment holding
limited liability company
BIZKAERRAR EE BRRA AR 500,000 87T REER
On Million Limited Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$2 100% 100% Property holding
limited liability company in Hong Kong
WEBRAT B BRAT ERER2ET REERSENE
Suga Technology Limited Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$2 100% 100% Trading of electronic products
limited liability company in Hong Kong
EERMERAT B BRAT EER2ET REBEEETER
Time Lucky Enterprises Limited Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$10 90% 90% Investment holding
limited liability company in Hong Kong
LN Bk BRARA EBRI10ET REBREREER
Suga Global Innovation Limited Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$4,000,000 100% 100% Design and trading of
limited liability company electronic products
in Hong Kong

BERRAMERAR

& BRLA

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

E38M% 4,000,000 7T

REBRT REEETER
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10 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 March

10 KB E (&)
AAAR=B=—F=A=+—RBZEEH
BATHENT ()

2021 are as follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/

establishment and Issued share capital/ Principal activities
Name kind of legal entity paid-up capital Group equity interest and place of operation
MR,/ Rt R BRTRA/
£ ERERER HRRA FEBEGRTER TEEBREHLE
2021 2020
—B--f i S X2
Suga Technology Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$100,000 100% 100% Trading of electronic products
limited liability company in Hong Kong
RERMERRRAR B BRAA 1B 100,000 7T REREEETEM
United Fountain Investment Ltd. Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$1 100% 100% Pet food distribution
limited liability company in Hong Kong
EXREBRAT B BRAA EERIEL REEDHENRR
Suga Electronics (Dongguan) Co. Mainland China, US$5,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing of
Limited (“SEDG") (i), (xv) limited liability company electronic products
in Mainland China
FEET(RR)ERAA RN BRAF 5,000,000 % 7T RPERGEEETER
(MEEEFERD i)~ )
Long Join (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$2 100% 100% Design and trading of
Electronics Co., Limited limited liability company electronic products
in Hong Kong
ER(BR)EFHRRA B BRAA LEB2ET REBRAREEEFEM
Nodic-Matsumoto Tooling and Mainland China, US$6,000,000 100% 100% Investment holding
Plastic Injection (Huizhou) Co., limited liability company in Mainland China
Limited (“Nodic") (iv), (xv)
B —RAEETE (BM)ERAR  PERY - ARAF 6,000,0005 7T R BRI ERERR
(TR D () ~ ()
Suga Technology (Dongguan) Co., Ltd. ~ Mainland China, US$12,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing of
("STDG") (v), (xv) limited liability company electronic products
in Mainland China
RENEREERD hEIN BRAR 12,000,000 T RAEAEEEFER
(IR=H%E]) WY
Suga USA Inc. USA, Ordinary shares US$10 100% 100%  Investment holding in U.S.A
limited liability company
X8 BRAA EER10ET REEREREER

FEEREEERAT
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10 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

192

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 March

2021 are as follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/

establishment and Issued share capital/
Name kind of legal entity paid-up capital
MR/ Rt R BERTRA/
£ ERERER BERA
Suga Networks Equipment Mainland China, HK$17,500,000
(Shenzhen) Co. Ltd. limited liability company
("SNESL") vi), (xv)
REBESHN (RINBRAF hER - BRAR 17,500,000 % 7T

(rf F%%%MD()()

Happypaws (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd

("HPSZ") (vii), (xv) (formerly known
as Chummily Trading (Shenzhen)

Limited) (“CTL")
RUEENRR (RINBRAR
UﬁﬂEWWWDMD(M
(FIRATXES (RN BRA

(IEx85))

Espetsso Limited

Chummily Technology (Tianjin) Co., Ltd

( CTLTJ") (viii), (x )
BEXHBERDA
( i$ 1) (i) xv)

Chummily International Trading
(Guangzhou) Co., Ltd
("CTLGZ") (ix), (xv)
MMR@W L HERAT
(TBMERD () ()

Happypaws International Limited

RLERKRER,

Chongmi Investment & Consultation

(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd
("CMIC") (x), (xv)
%Wm@%+&§?mﬁm
(TEREE DK - ()

Mainland China,
limited liability company

hEN BRAR

Hong Kong,
limited liability company

&% BRAA
Mainland China,

limited liability company

RERL - ARAT

Mainland China,
limited liability company

RERL - ARAF

Hong Kong,
limited liability company

&5 BRAA

Mainland China,
limited liability company

hERY - BRAF

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

HK$1,000,000

1,000,000 7% 7T

Ordinary shares HK$1
EERIEL
RMB10,000,000

ARH10,000,000 7

RMB1,000,000

AR 1,000,0007T

Ordinary shares HK$10
ERR10ET

RMB20,000,000

AR20,000,000 7

10 MIE2E (&)
AARAR=B=—F=A=+—RBZEEH
DRBENT : (8)

Group equity interest

FRERERARS

2021 2020
—B--F S X2

Principal activities
and place of operation

TERBRERMY

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

90% 90%

Manufacturing of
electronic products
in Mainland China
BN EEEFER

Trading of pet products
in Mainland China

RPERSEEENER

Distribution of pet products
in Hong Kong

REBEDHENER

Distribution of pet products

in Mainland China
REER S HENER

Distribution of pet products
in Mainland China

R ER D HENER

Distribution of pet food in Asia
RENDEENER

Consulting services
in Mainland China

B B A R B R AR A
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10 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 10 B TR (&)
Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 March ARABRR—_E-_—F=A=+—HzZFEMH
2021 are as follows: (Continued) BARFEBWT « (8)

Place of incorporation/

establishment and Issued share capital/ Principal activities
Name kind of legal entity paid-up capital Group equity interest and place of operation
MR,/ Rt R BRTRA/
£ ERERER HRRA FEBEGRTER TEEBREHLE
2021 2020
—E2--f i S X2
Suga Smart Tech Limited Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$100 51% 51% Design and trading of
limited liability company electronic products
in Hong Kong
BEMRRARAR FE - BRAT ERBR1007ETT REBRIREEEfEM
Suga Japan Co., Ltd Japan, Japanese Yen 2,000,000 100% 100% Design and trading of
limited liability company electronic products
in Japan
Suga Japan ik = 24t B BRAR 2,000,000 A REARHREEETER
Wepet Technology Ltd Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$2 100% 100% Trading of pet products
limited liability company in Hong Kong
ERMEERAT B BRAA LER2EL REEEERNER
Dongguan Suga Idea Electronics Mainland China, US$1,000,000 100% 100% Manufacturing of
Company Limited ("DSIE") (xi), (xv) limited liability company electronic products
in Mainland China
REEBETERA hEIN - BRAF 1,000,000%7 REBEAEEEFER
(W%E%‘E%D(XO (xv)
Suga Bac Ninh Company Limited Vietnam, US$4,999,925 100% 100% Manufacturing of
("SVN"), (xii) limited liability company electronic products
in Vietnam
BE - BRLA 4,999,925% 7T REEAEETER
Suga International (Vietnam) Vietnam, US$5,995,950 100% - Manufacturing of
Company Limited ("SIVC"), (xii) limited liability company electronic products
in Vietnam
B BRAA 5,995,950 7T REBEEETER

FEEREEERAT
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10 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 March

194

2021 are as follows: (Continued)

Notes:

@

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

The shares of Suga International Limited are held directly by the Company. The
shares of the other subsidiaries are held indirectly.

The non-voting deferred shares of Suga Electronics Limited are held by Essential
Mix Enterprises Limited and Broadway Business Limited, which are owned by Dr.
Ng Chi Ho and Mr. Ma Fung On, directors and beneficial shareholders of the
Company. These non-voting deferred shares have no voting rights, are not
entitled to dividends, and are not entitled to any distributions upon winding up
unless a sum of HK$10,000,000 per ordinary share has been distributed to the
holders of the ordinary shares.

SEDG is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland China with
an approved period of operation of 20 years until December 2033 under PRC
law.

Nodic is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland China with
an approved period of operation of 30 years until September 2020 under PRC
law.

STDG is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland China with
an approved period of operation of 20 years until April 2027 under PRC law.

SNESL is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland China with
an approved period of operation of 20 years until October 2022 under PRC law.

HPSZ is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland China with
an approved period of operation of 30 years until April 2041 under PRC law.

CTLTJ is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland China with
an approved period of operation of 30 years until December 2045 under PRC
law.

CTLGZ is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland China with
an approved period of operation of 30 years until December 2045 under PRC
law.

CMIC is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland China with
an approved period of operation of 20 years until December 2033 under PRC
law.

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

10 KMIEB2E ()

ZAUN

AR -_E-_—F=A=+—RZTEN

BARIFFBWT : (8)

Wi

(ii)

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

Suga International Limited 2 i {3 B AN 2 B B %
B EteMBE AR 2RO BAARAEERE -

EEEFAERAFAZERERELERH A
Essential Mix Enterprises L|m|ted&Broadway
Business Limited #58 * M@z E AR AIBAR
$§§éﬂ%%£ﬁ%f§t&%fi£ﬁ%i%ﬁ °
FEEREFER Lﬁxf‘ﬂ&é&xﬂzﬂﬁzﬂxﬁ%\ B
B AELARBEACESREREBR
10,000,000 87L& + ZEERERELERHIFH
AT TR -

BEEETFREABIBERBEIEZERBEANMA Y Z
BHNEDE  BREZEESREE-_T==F
+= ALt AEA205 -

B 0 AR IR AR B R R A R B AR S 2 B ANE 1
¥ ERAEZEESREE-_T-_TFNAL-
B30 -

REEH] o8 BIRR A BA R B AMA S 2 25N
Bh¥ BREZEESBREE_T-tFNA
IE - BHI20%F -

EEBERIMBAREDPBVEEETEAMKILZ
BHEDE  BREZEXHREE T
TR BE20%5F -

FOLE CRYD BRIERBERIERE AR Z
BINERE  BREZEEHREE-_TN—F
MALE - REA30EF -

RREXABEFBEEREPBEAMAK L2 25N
Bh¥ BREZEEBREE_TMAF+=
ALk REA30EF

BN R BIRE A BUERE R B AL 2 250
Bh¥E BRAEZEXHREE_TNAF+=
Rl BEI304 -

KRR AREREARETRBABRTZ 25
ALY BREZEEHREE P61
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 March
2021 are as follows: (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

(xv)

DSIE is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Mainland China with
an approved period of operation of 20 years until June 2038 under PRC law.

SVN is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Vietnam in December
2018.

SIVC is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Vietnam in April 2020.

None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time during the year
ended 31 March 2021.

All subsidiaries established in Mainland China have financial accounting year
end date on 31 December in accordance with the local statutory requirements,
which is not coterminous with the Group. The consolidated financial statements
of the Group being presented were prepared based on the management
accounts of these subsidiaries for the twelve months ended 31 March 2021 and
31 March 2020.

B 75 5 3% B A

10 FIE2A ()

ZIN/N
B

Wi

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

(xv)

AR -_E-_—F=A=+—RBZXEN
BB - (&)

(&)

REFEEETAREBTEDEFRETBEAEKILZ
EHONEDE  BRAEZEXHREE-_T=)\F
NAL - BE20% -

SINBRZE—N\F+-AEBERIZIIEE
A

SVCARZZE-TFNAEMEK L 2IMGEE
B2

REBEE-T-—FZA=Z+—HILEETHH
M EMBARATMNERITEEER -

RIZE LR - FTA R BN 2 B AR
2B FEFHEBAART-_A=+t—RH ®
AEBZFEBTR - IR AEELRE I
HEDEZENBRAABE-_T=_—F=A1
=t+—BAR-ZE-_TFE=ZA=+—HL+=@A
ZEBRBRE -
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INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

11 REE QT 2R

2021 2020

—E-—F —ECFF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FHT

Unlisted investments, at cost A ETERE KA 26,338 25,311

Amounts due from associates FE MBS R B SR

— Non-current portion —ERBE S - 8,500

— Current portion — REE D 1,106 585

1,106 9,085

The particulars of the Group’s principal associates as at 31 March ARER-F-—F=A=+—"HAZE2H
2021 are as follows: BRRZHBHET

Particulars of issued/

Country of incorporation

Name paid-in capital and type of legal entity Equity interest held
&% BRT/BREREFE EMHEIERKEAERER HEkE
2020
—ZT_FF
Concept Infinity Limited (“CIL") Ordinary shares HK$8,510,000 Hong Kong, 24.38% 24.38%
(2020: HK$8,510,000) limited liability company
Concept Infinity Limited ([£ 18812 ])  Li@Ak8,510,000/ EE  BRRA
(ZZ=FF :8,510,000/7T)
Growgreen Limited Ordinary shares HK$21,681,833 Hong Kong, 46.89% 44.44%
("Growgreen”, Note (i) (2020: HK$6,000,000) limited liability company
BHAERRE(HEH] - M) LAk 21,681,833 BT EE BRRA
(ZT=FF : 6,000,00077T)
Infinity Network Limited (“INL") Ordinary shares US$50,000 British Virgin Islands, 50% 50%
(2020: US$50,000) limited liability company
Infinity Network Limited ([INL]) E3mA% 50,000 E T RERIES  BRAR
(ZZZZF :50,000%7T)
Dott Limited ("Dott") Ordinary shares HK$8,507,951 Hong Kong, 33.25% 33.25%
(2020: HK$8,507,951) limited liability company
Dott Limited ([ Dott]) i@k 8,507,951 BT &% BRAA
(ZZZTF:8,507,951/87T)
Mobilogix, Inc. (“Mobilogix”, Note (ii) Ordinary shares US$3,813,337 United States, 24.37% 22%

Mobilogix, Inc. (Mobilogix » KizE i)

(2020: US$2,813,346)
HBAY 3,813,337 E T
(ZT-TF:2813,346%7T)

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Note (i):

Note (ii):

Growgreen is principally engaged in development and distribution of
hydroponic equipment and related products. It is also a customer of the
Group. During the year ended 31 March 2021, existing shareholders of
Growgreen, including the Group, made further capital injections totalling
approximately HK$15,682,000 into Growgreen. Upon completion of such
transaction, the Group’s equity interest in Growgreen increased from 44.44%
to 46.89%. The additional investment in Growgreen by the Group was
effected by capitalisation of balance due from Growgreen amounting to
HK$7,500,000 (see Note (c)).

Mobilogix is principally engaged in provision of turnkey solutions and
engineering services for the internet of things. It is also a customer of the
Group. Existing shareholders of Mobilogix, including the Group, made further
capital injections of approximately US$1,000,000 into Mobilogix on 1 March
2021, among which the Group's investment amounted to approximately
US$500,000 (equivalent to HK$3,875,000). Upon completion of such
transaction, the Group's equity interest in Mobilogix increased from 22% to
24.37% (see Note (b)).

The summary of financial information of the Group’s associates in
aggregate is as follows:

B %5 R < MY v

11 REE QTR zER ()

MizE() : BHEEBRHBIFRENEBERNFEN
D HNAAEBRARFZ— -HEZZT
——F=ZA=+—BHLFE FHNREAR
R(REAREE)ASHE—FTEE - BFEH
415,682,000/ 7T ° AR HEk ik - LB
SR IR 44.44% 3 N5 46.89% - £ E
HEPMEIINEERBBESHEMNNAREE
7,500,000 T E AL ER (RKEE Q) °

MizE (i) ©  Mobilogix £ ZH = AW BIZ G MR
REIERY HAAREAEEZEF - K=
T-—F=H—H Mobilogix REKRR (&
$& AN % E ) [AMobilogixit — # 3T & 4
1,000,000 7T EPAEB 2 REEN A
500,000 % 7T (#8% 74 3,875,000 7T ) © R B
R H5EM & + A& E 7 Mobilogix 2 B # M
22% BEINE 24.37% (RHFE D)) °

i

REEZHE QA
T~

BRI BERE L

2021
—E-—F

2020
—E-EF
HK$'000
FHET

HK$°000
FTERT

Total assets BERE
Total liabilities BERE
Revenue U=

Loss for the year FAEE

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group provided a

financial guarantee in favour of a bank to secure a banking facility
granted to Growgreen. Details of the identified loss allowance for
financial guarantee contracts are disclosed in Note 23.

In addition to the above, there are no other significant contingent

liabilities and capital commitment relating to the Group’s interests in

associates as at 31 March 2021 and 2020.

63,594 104,263

35,867 62,891

52,964
(34,371)

70,135
(5,351)

BE_T_—FZA=+t—RHLFEE £&
BUASRTT AR EAREMBER  BRES
IR AIRTTER - MHEERAOEHHE
BRERME23 -

PR EXFESN  R_F——FR-_FT-FF
ZA=1T - RABMEAREENEE R BRE
SRR MERARA B BEREANASE -

FEEREEERAT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R BT T

11 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 11 REENT 2R (E)
(a) Interest in Mobilogix (a) ™ Mobilogix 2 #E
The Group made further capital injections of US$500,000 AEER_ZE-_—F=A=+—HM
(equivalent to HK$3,875,000) into Mobilogix on 1 March Mobilogix # — 2% & 500,000 37t (48
2021, upon which the Group’s equity interest in Mobilogix B 73,875000% L) A &K B R
increased from 22% to 24.37%. Mobilogix#) # z= f£22% 3% N =
24.37% °
Details of the capital injection are as follows: JEEFFBNT

2021
—EBE-—F
HK$'000
FET
Purchase consideration — Cash paid BERE —E2NRE 3,875
Share of fair value of net assets acquired EEEWEEEFEATE (873)
Fair value adjustments upon acquisition Wi E N T EFRE (220)
Goodwill S 2,782

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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11 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 11 REEE AT 2R (E)
(a) Interest in Mobilogix (Continued) (a) ™ Mobilogix Z #E = (&)
Set out below is the summarised financial information of Mobilogix (EER ABEAZ BE A
Mobilogix, which the directors consider a significant associate: B) 2 AR EEY T
2021 2020
—E-—F —ECFF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
Summarised balance sheet EEABEREE
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,285 2,296
Trade and other receivables JEUE 5 BR 51 M E b B IR IR 14,496 41,006
Cash and cash equivalents BeMIREEEY 38,056 53,566
Other current assets HithmEh & E 1,255 1,922
Trade and other payables JEHE S8R N E b B~ OB (13,293) (42,371)
Bank borrowings RITEE (3,840) =
Other liabilities HtafE (654) (904)
Net assets as at 31 March RERA=+—BZEEZE 37,305 55,515
Summarised income statement ey
Revenue Wz 48,644 64,167
Loss and total comprehensive loss HANEERZEEBEASE
for the period (25,710) (386)
The information above reflects the amounts presented in the N EER RBEE NN B —F
associate’s financial information as at and for the year ended —RB=1+—HAEEBEEZAILEEZEH
31 March 2021 and without considering any fair value BERM2%4$2E mMiEEREAE
adjustments upon acquisition by the Group. Bz 2 ER AT EFHE -

FEEREEERAT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 75 R BT T

11 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 11 REEQAT 2R (F)

(a) Interest in Mobilogix (Continued) (a) ™ Mobilogix Z # 2 (&)
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information of FT 2% Z Mobilogix 2 B 7% & #Hgf 2 62
Mobilogix presented to the carrying value of the Group's 7N £ [B 7 Mobilogix 2 # 25 BR I {E 2 ¥
interest in Mobilogix: BE :

2021
—E-
HK$'000
FEx
Opening net assets as at 1 April 2020 RZZ_TFMA—BHNEEFE 55,515
Additions of capital BRI AN 7,500
Loss for the year FRERE (25,710)
Closing net assets as at 31 March 2021 RZZE-Z—F=ZA=+—HBREEFE 37,305

Net assets including fair value adjustments attributable AEBER-_ZE-—F=A=+—H

to the Group as at 31 March 2021 (Note) BEEERE(BR/AFEAR)(M:E) 8,969
Goodwill GSES 10,839
Carrying value as at 31 March 2021 R —F=A=+—HAKHAA 19,808
Note: The Group’s equity interest in Mobilogix increased from 22% to 24.37% ik : RZT=Z—F=A—8 TEEHRLFEE

on 1 March 2021 due to the capital injection. M Mobilogix#) # z #£22%1 i =
24.37% -

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
(a) Interest in Mobilogix (Continued)

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information of
Mobilogix presented to the carrying value of the Group's

B 75 5 3% B A

11 REEQAT 2R (E)
(a) ™ Mobilogix 2z fE % (&)

Fff 2711 Z Mobilogix 2 Bf 7 &£ 5] 2 62
7«75’% B Mobilogix 2 #E 25 BRE B 2 %

interest in Mobilogix: (Continued) C(88)
2020
ke ke S
HK$’'000
FHT
Net assets as at acquisition date WHERHEESE 55,901
Loss for the period HAEE (386)
Net assets as at 31 March 2020 RZZEZEF=A=+—HAZEEFE 55,515
Net assets including fair value adjustments attributable AEBR -_ZE-_TF=A=+—H
to the Group as at 31 March 2020 EREEFE(BEATERAE) 14,632
Goodwill EES 8,057
Carrying value as at 31 March 2020 RIZE_ZF=A=+—RAZKHEE 22,689

The Group has performed an impairment assessment for its
interest in Mobilogix as at 31 March 2021 based on value-in-
use calculations using a five-year cash flow projection taking
into account the potential economic impact of COVID-19. It is
expected that Mobilogix’s business will gradually recover from
the significant negative impact brought by COVID-19 in the
near term. The estimated annual growth rate for Mogilogix’s
revenue is 67%, 60%, 40%, 20% and 8% in the next five
years before the revenue returning to its pre-COVID-19 level
in the fifth year, and 3% in perpetuity. Other key assumption
adopted in the impairment assessment is the discount rate of
22% (2020: 22%).

ANE % H £ Mobilogix gz E T
——F=ZA=t+—BHETRERH
AN KEEEREENTE - £
ﬂimfﬁimuﬁ_ﬁu I%‘fé:@]
COVID-19) B £ & E & & - &t
Mobilogix#) % & #% £ & H A 1t
COVID- 1975 2R E XN B E 2 P E
K18 ° FE 5T R K F F Mogilogix H A
Etﬁ%‘%m% ©60% ~ 40% * 20%
M8% + 8 HF MUk Ak & 5
COVID-19 Z BIHIKZE » I 1 ACGRIREF
3% ° AR ERERANEMEARER
RWBEXARK(ZT - T F:
22%) °
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1"

202

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Interest in Mobilogix (Continued)

Management determined budgeted revenue growth rate
based on past performance and their expectations for market
development. The discount rates used are post-tax and reflect
specific risks relating to the relevant markets and industry.
Cash flows beyond the period covered in approved budgets
are extrapolated using a growth rate that do not exceed the
long-term average growth rate for the businesses in which the
associate operates.

The results of the assessment indicated that no impairment
charge was necessary as at 31 March 2021. However, the
headroom would be eliminated should the revenue growth
for the forecast period decrease by a 10% or the discount rate
increase by 4.5%.

Set out below is the Group’s share of results of other
associates that are not individually material to the Group
during the year ended 31 March 2021:

11 REE QTR zER ()

(a)

(b)

7 Mobilogix =z #E# (&)
ERERBATRARAEHT S ER
WIEREETEE R EIERE - FTEA
ZARIRESRTIE - Wk EAERE ™
HBRITEBANEERR - BHAH
HEEEREHANReREEATHE
BB E N RREERNRTY
R R R EHEL -

FEERER UELNEREE=F
——HZRA=+—BiHEREMRX -
SR - s TEOR) HA R 2 Uk 25 3 R OB A
10% 3k B 3R K18 N4.5% + A 2= A #
R o

NTHIBE_Z=—F=A=+—
BItFE 2 AREEEGEMEB 2 QA
ZEE EEREAKEELTERX :

(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive
(loss)/income for the year

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21

FAER), 80 R
2H (EE) WA BE

2021 2020
—E=-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FET
(1,878) 30




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 11
() Amounts due from associates

B %5 R < MY v

R E N E 2w ()
() FEWBE A RKIE

Growgreen (Note (i) Hu5 (BEEG))
CIL (Note (ii)) 21883 (K3 a)
INL (Note (iii)) INL (B 5 Giii))

Less: Loss allowances for CIL (Note (ii)) B BBRE ZEERE

(B & (iy)
Amounts due from associates, net JFE S B N B FRIE R R
Representing: A :
— Non-current portion — EmBIE S
— Current portion — RBHS
Notes:

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group made additional
capital injections into Growgreen by capitalising the balance due from
Growgreen amounting to HK$7,500,000.

As at 31 March 2021, remaining balance due from Growgreen is

interest-free, unsecured and repayable on demand (2020: Same).

(ii) As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, amount due from CIL of HK$1,250,000
was fully impaired.

(iii) As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, amount due from INL is non-interest
bearing, unsecured and repayable on demand.

2021 2020
—EB-—F —ECFF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FH&T

521 8,500

1,250 1,250

585 585

2,356 10,335
(1,250) (1,250)
1,106 9,085

- 8,500

1,106 585
1,106 9,085

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

BE-_Z-—F=-A=Z+—HLEFE &
EEFE BB EKS B #7,500,0008 T
BEARREHE—HEE -

RZB-—F=ZA=+—H BEREHHK
THHERZE BEMARARERESR
(ZZF=FF R -

RIE-Z—FR-F-_ZTF=A=+—
A - fEURE B AIE FKI8 1,250,000 8 L E
EBURE ©

f

RZEZ—FR-ZF-ZFF=A=+—
H: BRINNKEBEARE - BEFRER
ZREE -

E

o

FEERKETRAF
2020/214F %R
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12

INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

Unlisted investments, at cost

As at 31 March 2021, the Group provided a financial guarantee and
charged its 50% equity interest in Huizhou Jiayifu Real Estate
Development Co., Ltd (“Huizhou lJiayifu”) in favour of a bank to
secure a banking facility granted to Huizhou Jiayifu. Details of the
identified loss allowance for financial guarantee contracts are
disclosed in Note 23. Other than the above, there are no other
significant contingent liabilities and capital commitment relating to
the Group’s interest in a joint venture as at 31 March 2021 and

ARETRE - ARATIRR

12 R—EEeELEIES
2021 2020
—E-—fF ZEEF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FiT T8t
7,862 6,919

RZZEZ—F=A=+—H A5BEREHHG
BER  YEERENEEEEHERRS
RAR(TEMERS ] B50% RZEEIT T
HBIT LERMEMNEEEREOERITR
& - MBS ERERMNE SR BB RENTE
VERE - BRLEEN RZEZ—F K=
ECEF-A-t+—HATEEMAERAS
TERESEREANABBERERNEIE -

2020.

In the opinion of the directors, the recoverable amount from the
joint venture is not less than the carrying value of the Group’s

investment in such joint venture.

The particulars of the Group’s joint venture as at 31 March 2021 are

rEZAKEEEND

SERZAECRZREZREE -

AEER-_Z-_—F=A=+—HWAED

as follows: BB MT
Particulars of issued/ Country of incorporation
Name paid-in capital and type of legal entity Equity interest held
2% BRI/ HMERAFEE MBI B R R EAERER BERE
2020
—_— ? —_ 7 fg
Huizhou Jiayifu RMB 1,800,000 Mainland China, 50% 50%

(2020: RMB1,800,000)
AKH#1,800,0007T
(ZZ=ZFF : AR¥1,800,0007T)

EMEEE

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

204 ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21

limited liability company
REIRM - BRAF



12 INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (CONTINUED)

Set out below is the summarised financial information of Huizhou

Jiayifu:

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7% R ak BT &

Summarised balance sheet
Non-current assets
Inventories

Cash and cash equivalents
Bank borrowings

Other liabilities

Net assets as at 31 March

Reconciliation of the summarised financial information of Huizhou
Jiayifu presented to the carrying value of the Group's interest in

Huizhou Jiayifu:

12 R—REaE8LE R (E)
HMNEEE Y HEERBEHIIMT -

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHERT FAET

EESBRYE
FERBEE 21 19
"7E 155,725 115,335
ReRREEEBY 61 250
RITEHE (97,500) (85,800)
HEmaRE (56,057) (27,824)
=—+—BZEEFE 2,250 1,980

2 BMEER M ERERAE
BREMEERE 2 #am s REEK

2021 2020
—E-—F —TE-EF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FER FHET
Net assets as at 31 March R=A=+—RZEEEE 2,250 1,980
Proportion of the Group’s ownership AEBERBMNERS
interest in Huizhou Jiayifu R RS D) 50% 50%
Net assets attributable to the Group ANEEBR=ZA=+—HEEZ
as at 31 March BEFE 1,125 990
Proceeds receivable on disposal of & T3 5 A i 2 PRI P S R IE
a land use right 10,000 8,800
Elimination of gain from HIETHRZ 20
downstream transaction (3,263) (2,871)
Carrying value as at 31 March =+—RHZKEAE 7,862 6,919
FEEREEERAR 205
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13 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY 13 BENES 2 BEERAE

CATEGORY
Financial
assets at
Financial fair value
assets at through
fair value other Financial
through  comprehensive assets at
profit or loss income  amortised cost Total
BAYE
BAYE RAHM b
BABZEZ ZEEAZ RASIE
HKEE HMREE ZHKEE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TET TET TET
Assets EE
As at 31 March 2021 R-E-_—F=B=+—H
Financial assets at fair value through IR AFETZAZMEEEA

other comprehensive income ZUBEE (KT 14)

(Note 14) - 6,004 - 6,004
Trade and other receivables e B 5 BRI HL A FE U 2B - - 373,418 373,418
Financial assets at fair value through 1R AT ERZABRZ

profit or loss (Note 17) IHEE (ME17) 193 - - 193
Amounts due from associates JE U & 1 B 508

(Note 11(c)) (BFEE11(c)) - - 1,106 1,106
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 19) B4 RBELZEM (5T 19) = = 127,790 127,790

193 6,004 502,314 508,511
As at 31 March 2020 R-E-TF=A=1+—H
Financial assets at fair value through A TERA L2 TR

other comprehensive income ZHBEE (M 14)

(Note 14) - 5,266 - 5,266
Trade and other receivables e E 5 8RN A U 2B - = 195,442 195,442
Financial assets at fair value through 2 AF{E AR Z

profit or loss (Note 17) IBEE (ME17) 43 = = 43
Loans receivable (Note 18) B dE (M3 18) - = 2,066 2,066
Amounts due from associates N e

(Note 11(c)) (£ 11(0) - - 9,085 9,085
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 19) B4 RIE&ZBY (H:19) = = 128,459 128,459

43 5,266 335,052 340,361

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY

B 755 ¥R 3% I 7

13 REHNEs2HMBEERAR

CATEGORY (CONTINUED) (&)
2021 2020
— = —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THxT FHT
Liabilities =L
Other financial liabilities at amortised cost R KAV RN EMI G aE
Trade and other payables FERTE 5 BR % R B Ath FE - 5RIE 311,771 174,239
Bank borrowings (Note 20) IRITEE (M52 20) 138,550 67,750
Lease liabilities (Note 7) HEBGE(WE7) 9,537 10,917
459,858 252,906

14 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

14 BRATFEIZAEMCZEWA 28
BKEE

Unlisted equity funds FELETRAES

Movements of the Group's financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income during the year are as follows:

2021 2020
—E-—F —ECEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
6,004 5,266

F7 - ARERATERALMEERAZ
B AERBIT

2021 2020

—E=-—F —E-TF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FTHER FAT

Beginning of the year REH 5,266 6,910

Disposals HE = (407)
Net fair value gains credited/ R AZ A ERSFE

(losses charged) to equity (k2 A FEEBEFE) 738 (1,237)

End of the year NS 6,004 5,266

FEEREEERAR 207
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B %5 R < M v

14 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)
As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income comprised 700 (2020: 700)
non-voting and redeemable shares in the unlisted equity funds. These
equity funds are denominated in US$, with fair values being
determined based on the carrying value of the fund calculated with
reference to the quoted market prices of the underlying investments.

The fair values of such financial assets are within level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy (Note 3.3).

15 INVENTORIES

14

15

BEAFETAHMEEKA ZE
BEE (&)
RZBZ—F=A=+—HB ' X&EEEAF
BRAHEMEARAZGBEEREFE LT
EARES R 700 (=T =T 4F : 700 I%) &
FORMEABRIRD - ZERAE S AETE
B EAFEDRES2BHEBIRENTISR
B EMNESKREEMET

ZEMBEEZ AT EBR A FEBRTH
F=M(IE3.3) °

Raw materials JRA R
Work-in-progress EREIRE
Finished goods BIRK

Less: Provision for impairment R ORERE

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included in cost
of sales amounted to HK$1,549,863,000 (2020: HK$1,209,990,000).

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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3
2021 2020
—E-—fF ZEEF
HK$°000 HK$’'000
THET FHET
268,360 212,715
27,366 27,870
52,867 22,513
348,593 263,098
(3,691) (3,390)
344,902 259,708

75 881,549,863,000 T ( — T — T F ¢
1,209,990,000/8 7t ) 2 7 B MK AR & FH
X WHEFASHERAR o
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16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 16 BEWEZRARHEMEWRIE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FHT
Trade receivables FERE ZIRR 368,096 192,005
Less: Loss allowance B EERE (4,545) (8,698)
Trade receivables, net FEUNE SRR - FRE 363,551 183,307
Prepayments to vendors TEfNE R HKIE 15,048 38,262
Prepayments for plant and equipment TERTR R KRR B RIR 5,095 4,177
Other prepayments H BT FIR 5,028 4,869
Deposit for right-of-use assets TREEERS = 6,970
Rental and other deposits HekEMiEs 2,559 3,042
Value added tax receivables FEUIE(E T 11,005 3,778
Income tax recoverable ALk B AT IS AR 77 620
Other receivables Hofth pE IR 7,308 9,093
409,671 254,118
Less: Non-current prepayments, W ERBENFIE - 2R
deposit and other receivables H fth & U 5RIR (8,505) (13,897)
Current portion of trade and FEW R 5 BR R R Ho M FEWURIE 2
other receivables BN 401,166 240,221
The Group recognised loss allowance/(reversal of loss allowance) for REBHRUBEEERRZEBRRE (BB
financial assets as follows: BEEEEED T
2021 2020
B —F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Loss allowance gt
— Trade receivables —BREZEREX (2,551) 1,114
— Other receivables — H fth U GRIE 250 =

Net (reversal of impairment losses)/impairment 875 & & CRlEEBE D),/
losses on financial assets B ERH R (2,301) 1,114

FEEREEERAT
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16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

210

The carrying values of the Group’s trade and other receivables

approximate their fair values.

As at 31 March 2021, the ageing analysis of trade receivables based

on invoice date is as follows:

16 BWEZRARKHEMERKE

(%)
7R B 5K B B IROE 2 R
EREATEREE -

R-ZE-—F=A=+—8 BREZIEX
REZAHZREDTAT

0 to 30 days
31 to 60 days
61 to 90 days
91 to 180 days
Over 180 days

Less: Loss allowance

Trade receivables, net

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21

0%&30H

31260H
61290 H
912 180H
180 H A E

B

FEWE BRI - FER

2021 2020
—E-—F —ECFF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FHET
350,610 146,921
7,856 24,193
1,836 8,849
1,371 6,463
6,423 5,579
368,096 192,005
(4,545) (8,698)
363,551 183,307




16 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

All trade receivables are either repayable within one year or on

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(%)

B %5 R < MY v

16 BWEZRARKHEMERKE

PR EM ARSI —F AR EREE - N

demand. The Group generally grants credit terms of 30 to 60 days EE-—KAETPET30-60 HZEH] - K

to its customers. The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected

for trade receivables are as follows:

Beginning of the year

Increase in loss allowance recognised
in profit and loss during the year

Reversal of loss allowance recognised
in prior year

Write-off

Exchange differences

A=

SEERBFBV RS ERF IR
ERFEFEMERERE EZ?‘???&?J&FE%F’EH&%

loss allowance for all trade receivables. Movements of loss allowance ST BT EHTe i E R - EIRE
RRBEBEEZEHNT

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-TF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FAT

REA 8,698 7,618
FARERERZ EEEEL M

- 2,371
BENRTFERRBERE

(2,551) (1,257)

i gH (1.673) -

PEH =58 71 (34)

REHR 4,545 8,698

End of the year

The Group's credit risk management is disclosed in Note 3.1 to the

consolidated financial statements.

The carrying amounts of trade receivables are denominated in the

following currencies:

ERE

HK$
us$

RMB
VND

AEEZ EERREENGZE W RRM T

FEWE 5 Bk 2 FRE IR A T’ EHE ¢

2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FET

BT 3,222 3,680
ETT 355,310 181,866
AR 9,564 6,448
368,096 192,005

EEEMEEERAT )

2020/21 53R



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 R < M v

16

212

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2021, the Group is not aware of any other credit
risk on deposits, value added tax receivables and other receivables
as their counterparties are either banks, government, corporation or
individual with good credit ratings. The majorities of these financial
assets are neither past due nor impaired and there is no history of
default. The carrying amount of deposits, value added tax receivables
and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

16

FE W B 5 Bk 7R 2 H fth & W =X 0R
(%)

R-B-—F=A=+—8  FEELTH
BHIES - YR ER R OB A
AEBEERR  REARBHTYAR
T BARAARGEETRZAARME
A - BERBEEAHH IR BLAE -
B AR - e - MR AR R
FENUHR 2 R B A TS5 -

HK$ BIT
RMB AR
us$ ETT
VND fiAEa)
Others Efb

The maximum exposure to credit risk at each reporting date is the
fair value of each class of receivables as mentioned above. The
Group does not hold any collateral as security.

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21

2021 2020
—z-——= EEEE T
HK$’000 HK$'000
F 7 FHT
1,247 2,196
17,892 12,758
394 7,191

1,195 594

144 144

20,872 22,883

REREAPZESEERRS LIS ERE
WRIRZ A FE © AEEY EEFE EAHER



17

18

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

17

B %5 R < MY v

BAVPERARSEZUMBEE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHT

Listed equity instruments iR T

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s listed equity instruments
represented 9,774 (2020: 9,774) common stocks of Boxlight
Corporation, a company incorporated in the United States, whose
shares are listed on NASDAQ.

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the fair value of such listed equity
instrument is determined based on its current bid price. The fair
value is within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy (Note 3.3).

LOANS RECEIVABLE

18

193 43

RZEZ—F=A=+—H  AEEHLH
1 25 T B #5 Boxlight Corporation ( — & 74 3¢
BIEMA A AE - HAR D NASDAQ
M9 774 EBIR(—T —FF 9,774
B&) o

RZZE=——FR-T-_FTF=A=1+—H"
ZLETRESTAZAFEDNREEEREA
BET AFEBRATFEBRTNE &
(Mfz£3.3) °

EREWFRIE

2021 2020
—B-—F S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT TAET

Loans receivable B RIE
— Non-current portion — JEmBEE S
— Current portion — nRBEHS

As at 31 March 2020, the balances of HK$2,066,000 represented
loans receivable from the major shareholder of CIL which were
unsecured and interest bearing at 6% per annum. Such loans were
fully settled by the borrower during the year ended 31 March 2021.

- 266
= 1,800

- 2,066

RZE_ZEF=A=+—H &%
2,066,000 8 L5 RE CILEERE 2 BEFE
WHKIE - R IBAERRAEFFER6% o
%zE—T——E—HﬂL—ElJtEE - B
HEHBEABHLES -

FEEREEERAT
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19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

19 RERREEEY

2021 2020
—E-—F —ECFF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FHET

Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following

127,790 128,459

REMReFEYRATERHE

currencies:

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBxT FHET
HK$ BT 16,624 11,611
Us$ E 81,192 51,648
RMB (Note (b)) AR (FzE (o)) 25,515 64,368
VND (Note () MmE (M) 3,749 471
Others EHh 710 361
127,790 128,459

Notes: B aE -

()

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the effective interest rate on the Group’s
bank deposits is 0.1% (2020: 0.3%) per annum. The bank deposits of the
Group have an average maturity of 22 days (2020: 20 days).

The conversion of bank balances and cash of the Group denominated in RMB
into foreign currencies and remittance of RMB funds out of Mainland China are
subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by
the Mainland Chinese Government.

The conversion of bank balances and cash of the Group denominated in VND
into foreign currencies and remittance of VND funds out of Vietnam are subject
to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the
local government in Vietnam.

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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BE-Z-—FZA=+-BHLFE AEER
THERZEBRFMNEROI%(ZZ_FF:
0.3%) - AKRBEZRITERZFHEMA K22 A
(ZZBZZF:20R) -

REBAARETHEZ RITEHRA S LB/
BREARBELHEANG - AP EABBA
M 2 SNEE BRI AR TE FRRR I ©

REE AR EFHEZ RITAHRRIR S LB/
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20 BANK BORROWINGS 20 RITREE
2021 2020
—B-—F —ECFF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT T
Current RE
Bank borrowings RITEE 138,550 67,750
As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group’s borrowings are RZB_—FR_ZT_TF=A=+—H"
repayable on demand. REBZEBEHRBREREE -
As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group's borrowings repayable R-BE_—FR_Z_TF=A=+—8"
based on the scheduled date are as follows: AEBZBETABAETREEZEBENT :
2021 2020
—E-—F ZECTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFE T FAT
Within one year —F A 108,550 67,750
Between one and two years —EMF 20,000 =
Between two and three years ME=F 10,000 =
138,550 67,750
FEEREERRARP 215
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20 BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 20 $RTEE(HE)
The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate changes REFBEERE ZMNREFRAL LS LELT
and the contractual repricing dates were as follows: FEBHMT :
2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FAT
6 months or less NEAZIAT 138,550 67,750
The Group has aggregate banking facilities of approximately $’$ITN§§ ERRESRMEBRITEE
HK$710,500,000 (2020: HK$785,800,000) for overdrafts, loans and # %8 £7710,500,000% T( Z T =T F :
trade financing. 785,800,000 % 7T) °
Unused facilities at the same date amounted to approximately N E!Z*Eﬂ)ﬂ%ﬁi;é{%’ﬁ% 519,922,000 7T
HK$519,922,000 (2020: HK$693,811,045), which are secured by —ZT =T :693,811,045% L) HAR
corporate guarantees provided by the Company and certain of its 7&ﬁ ST M B A AR 2 D B EREE T
subsidiaries (2020: Same). —ERF R -
In addition to the above, the Group is required to comply with B batESN - REEBEFRITHINZE T
certain restrictive financial covenants imposed by the banks. BER i B 75 22 5 o
The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date were as REER 2 ERMEMT
follows:

2021 2020

—EB-—fF —E-THF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET

Bank borrowings RITHEE 1.29% 3.09%
As all the bank borrowings were at floating interest rates, the HREEMRITEEREEFE - BEREEB
carrying amounts of the borrowings approximate their fair values HHENFERE - 2L RABITE

and all balances are denominated in HK$. (ERE
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21 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 21 Eﬁﬁﬁ' SH
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as EEHIBEEENEEHIBEBEITAT
follows:

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH T FET
Deferred income tax assets: BIEFTSRAEEE ¢
— Deferred income tax assets to be recovered — -+ {8 A& UE 2
after more than 12 months BRIEPSHEE (1,950) (1,314)
Deferred income tax liabilities: BIEFFBREE
— Deferred income tax liabilities to be settled — B+ —{EAZEEZ
after more than 12 months EEMSH AR 283 426
Movements of the net deferred income tax assets account are as ERABREMSHEEFHERZ2ZFHMT -
follows:
2021 2020
—E—-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Beginning of the year REH] (888) (1,973)
(Credited)/charged to consolidated PERAEWER GIA),/ Mk
income statement (Note 32) (MF3E32) (687) 1,052
Exchange differences PE W Z=%8 (92) 33
End of the year NGRS (1,667) (888)

FEEREEARAT
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21 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 21 EEMEH (E)
The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during RS HREERBEBENFERNZ#E (Rt
the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of RRAR—FGapEEIRiE v &e8) i -

balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

Deferred income tax assets — RIEFIBHEE —
Decelerated tax
depreciation Tax losses Others Total
BEBENE HEBSR Hity &t

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
—E--F ekl —E- - ebdabd —F- - bbbl —T-—F Eebdeldd
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT THET FAT THET FAT TAT FAT THET

As at 1 April RmA—A (701) (738) - - (613) (1,592) (1,314) (2,330)
Charged/(credited)  RERARER
to consolidated e/ (GTA)

income statement 176 4 (845) - 125 979 (544) 983
Exchange differences [& 5 =& (92) 33 - - - - (92) 33
As at 31 March W=R=+—H (617) (701) (845) - (488) (613) (1,950) (1,314)
Deferred income tax liabilities — EBEFAEHERE —

Accelerated tax depreciation

INEBIRTE
2021 2020
—EB-—F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FET
As at 1 April RHA—A 426 357
(Credited)/charged to consolidated REEAUER (G A,k
income statement (143) 69
As at 31 March R=ZA=+—H 283 426
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21 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has unrecognised tax losses of
HK$49,273,000 (2020: HK$57,223,000) for Hong Kong profits tax
purposes, which have no expiry, and unrecognised tax losses of
HK$53,036,000 (2020: HK$62,047,000) for PRC corporate income
tax purposes which will expire during year 2021 to year 2025 (2020:
2020 to year 2024). No deferred tax assets have been recognised
for certain Hong Kong tax losses and all of the PRC tax loss as the
directors consider that it is not probable that the related temporary
difference will be reversed in the foreseeable future.

According to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Rule (“EIT") law,
withholding income tax at a rate of 10% would be imposed on
dividends relating to profits earned from year 2008 onwards to
foreign investors for the companies established in the PRC. Such
dividend tax rate may be further reduced by applicable tax treaties
or arrangement. According to the Arrangement between the
Mainland China and the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
for the Avoidance of Double Taxation and the Prevention of Fisca
Evasion with Respect to Taxes on Income, the withholding tax rate
on dividends paid by a PRC resident enterprise to a Hong Kong
resident enterprise is further reduced to 5% if the Hong Kong
resident enterprise holds at least 25% equity interests in the PRC
resident enterprise.

As at 31 March 2021, deferred income tax liabilities of
HK$3,731,000 (2020: HK$2,587,000) has not been recognised for
the withholding tax and other taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries as the Company controls
the dividend policies of these subsidiaries and it is not probable that
these subsidiaries would distribute earnings in the foreseeable
future. Unremitted earnings totalled HK$74,626,000 as at 31 March
2021 (2020: HK$51,744,000).

21

B 75 5 3% B A

EEPTSH ()

R-E-_—F=A=+—8  AEEFEHR
ME ASEBAERLCHERMNEES
49,273,000 L (ZE =T 4 : 57,223,000
Br) (MEAEERBR)  PECERS
Wi E - R HE R T IE & 18 /5 53,036,000
BT (ZZT T4 : 62,047,00087T) © I
RZBEZ—FHFEET_RFFE(ZET
—EF TR E T _NFFEE)E
B ARESRARHAEREEAIETE
RA] R RER - U ERE THEEHES
BREIHFEBIEEEEAREHIBELE

REFECEMBSHRTEEMBRI)EE
HeiED - B — 2T N\FERPEKINAF]
AEERFIMIEEFEMNOREERI0%
BV R BURTEFNRL © 7] B B R IR RO
ZHF - AT RAEEMFENBRE - RERX
WREBFHITRREANEMSEEEEY
BB IERIRIRAZHE - A BREERBE
REZENMFETEEREERED25%IHE -
FEEREEAEEEREEHBRETE
HRMEE—FRES% °

RZEZ—F=A=+—H BEMEHKAE
&3,731,000 L ( =T = Z F : 2,587,000
BT WARFEE THE QR 2 KR E L& FIfE
RIEMBREMBIE - RE AR A TESIZ
EWBRARIZREBER - MZEWB AT
T RERAI AR D IREF - RZTZ—4F
A=+ BHBzZ2REEBFEHR
74,626,000 7T (= ZF —Z 4 : 51,744,000
PEIT) °
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22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 22 ERESERRREMEMNRIER
CONTRACT LIABILITIES EHEE
2021 2020
— = —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THxT FHETT
Trade payables FERE SR 288,463 154,346
Salaries and staff welfare payable EfEHe kETIEN 19,467 12,540
Accrued expenses e & 4,694 5,071
Others EHfth 18,614 14,822
Total trade and other payables BB SRR E R SRR 331,238 186,779
The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as ENESERFIREEAMZRRTAOT ¢
follows:

2021 2020
—EB-—F —ZETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
0 to 30 days 0£30H 259,171 105,280
31 to 60 days 31260H 12,396 28,330
61 to 90 days 61290 H 6,352 11,520
91 to 180 days 91£2180H 5,256 7,423
Over 180 days 180 BUA 5,288 1,793
288,463 154,346

The fair values of the Group's trade and other payables approximate REERNEZERREMEBNKRE L AT

their carrying values. BEHEAREERS -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

The carrying amounts of trade payables are denominated in the
following currencies:

B 755 ¥R 3% I 7

22 BENEZENREMEARER
BREE (&)
FET B SRR 2 IRE BRI TS5 -

HK$ /%TE
us$ =
RMB AR
Others HAmh

The carrying amounts of other payables are denominated in the
following currencies:

2021 2020
HK$°000 HK$ 000
FERT TET
26,922 13,791
255,739 110,001
5,689 30,486
113 68
288,463 154,346

Hip R FURZ FREERA T EREHE

HK$ /%71:
us$ ETT
RMB AR
VND fiaea) =y
Others )
Note:

The contract liabilities represent the advance payments received from counterparties for
goods that have not yet been transferred to customers. The Group has recognised the
following liabilities related to contracts with customers:

2021 2020
—E-—F —ECTF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
6,546 9,345

283 —

32,002 21,982
3,944 1,080

- 26

42,775 32,433

FEEE -

BRHEBERHNARERTEFPNEYBER ST KEH
AR - AEEERIBUATEHEFANERZEE

2021 2020
—g=-% btk £
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT

Contract liabilities — sales of goods ARBEE—HEEY

The carrying amounts of contract liabilities are primarily denominated in US$.

23,206 19,360

BRABZEEEETBURTE -

FEEREEERAT
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22

23

222

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 22 BREFERREMEMARER
CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) EHEE(E)
The following table shows the amount of revenue recognised in the TRINEBE—Z - EFEN T -_FTF=F
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 relating to carried-forward =T —HLEFEREESOAGEMERRK
contract liabilities: =R
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FH&T
Revenue recognised that was included FFAFEVIE A BERD
in the contract liabilities balance R
at the beginning of the year 19,360 27,622
The Group expects their performance obligations under the AEEBRARENREPSNEBE THROEE
contracts with customers to be satisfied over a period of no more 1SRN EB A 1 F R EBRI A FERK ©
than 1 year.
FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS 23 BBEREN

As at 31 March 2021, the Group provided financial guarantees in
favour of two banks of HK$10,000,000 and RMB78,000,000
(equivalent to HK$97,500,000) to secure banking facilities granted
to an associate and a joint venture respectively. As at 31 March
2021, the bank facilities utilised by an associate and a joint venture
was approximately HK$6,500,000 and RMB78,000,000 (equivalent
to HK$97,500,000) respectively.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group recognised loss allowance of
HK$2,521,000 in accordance with the expected credit loss model
under HKFRS 9.

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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RZZB-Z—F=A=+—8 ' ~xEBEWMHE
RIT AT w AR 1R 10,000,000 %
T & A R #78,000,000T( 2 & ®
97,500,000 7T ) - BH 5 Rl M B & Q7 K&
AECERTMRITHE RNZT-_—F=
A=+—8 BERFREECEBART
B & 4 56,500,000 ;T B A R ¥
78,000,000 7T (F8& 7 97,500,000 % 7T) °

R-ZE-—F=ZA=+—H AEBRESF
B REERFEIRBE TEBEEEEE
N AEREI8 B 2,521,000/8 7T °
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24 SHARE CAPITAL 24 BRA
Number of Nominal
shares value
RO E H{E
‘000 HK$'000
F A% FHT
Authorised — ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each &FE —&RREE 0.1 78 T.2 L@k 2,000,000 200,000
Number of Nominal
shares value
B8 E H{E
‘000 HK$'000
Fix FHET

Issued and fully paid — ordinary shares of EETREE —EGREEC1ET

HK$0.1 each ZEBR
As at 31 March 2020 R-ZEBE-_TFEF=A=+—H 283,490 28,349
As at 31 March 2021 RZBEZ—F=H=+—H 283,490 28,349
EEEIREBERAT

223



25 SHARE OPTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option
Scheme") on 6 August 2012. Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme,
the Company may grant share options to certain grantees (including
directors and employees) of the Group to subscribe for shares of the
Company. The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under this Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes adopted by the Group shall not exceed 30 per cent
of the share capital of the Company in issue from time to time. The
subscription price will be determined by the directors, and will not
be less than the highest of the nominal value of the shares, the
closing price of the shares quoted on the Stock Exchange on the
trading day of granting the options and the average of the closing
prices of the shares quoted on the Stock Exchange for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of granting the
options.

Movements in the number of share options outstanding during the
year are as follows:

25

2021

—E-—&

Average

exercise price
in HK$

per share
=1 A
BTTEE

Beginning of the year NG 2.116
Granted during the year FRERN 1.330
Lapsed BAK =
Expired B 2IE 2.201
End of the year RER

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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B

ARBR =T~ ZF \ AN A RMBERAE
g ([RBHERE ) - REBRAETE > A2
AAAAKREETARA(BREENESR)
HIERBEEARBARRRRD - RIEEAE
AT MRS B A A R i At 81X
th R WARTTEE 2 A BITEINB AR ETT(E
BAREETZRSRNEE - THEBAR
AITEREEITRA30%  REEKHES
BT 2B IORROEE - HHRERE
ZR 5 HEBRDEBRAAHRKHERER
EBREME A A EAR S B RN ERR
FRFT@RF R E (A HSERE) -

FARMAITEBRERE 2ZSH0T

2020
—TCTF

Average

exercise price
Number of in HK$ Number of
options per share options

SR FH
BREHE BITITEE BREHA
‘000 '000
T S
11,050 2.431 23,500
1,000 1.810 1,300
- 2.784 (10,250)
(2,350) 2.158 (3,500)
9,700 11,050



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

25 SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, all of the outstanding options were
fully vested and exercisable.

No share options were exercised during the years ended 31 March
2021 and 2020.

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following
expiry dates and exercise prices:

25

Number of options

RS E

B 75 5 3% B A

fBE ()
R-F-—FR-FT-TF=A=+—8"
A MR ITE 2 B E AR B R A F17
-

BE_T_—FR-_F-_FTF=-A=1+—H
LLFE - BHEBAE T IAITEE -

REBRITERBREZDHR RITEER
T

Vested percentages

BEEDL

Expiry date Exercise price

A T8

Directors BE=x

29 June 2021 ZE-FRAZtANH 2.190 3,300 3,300 100% 100%
29 August 2023 ZEZ=F/\AZTNA 2.090 800 800 100% 100%
Employees Eg

9 July 2020 —ZZF+LANA 2.260 - 1,700 100% 100%
6 January 2021 —E-—%#—-AXA 2.142 - 650 100% 100%
29 August 2023 ZEZ=FNAZTAIH 2.090 3,300 3,300 100% 100%
9 July 2024 ZZZME+ANR 1.810 1,300 1,300 100% 100%
15 October 2025 ZEZRFTATRA 1.330 1,000 - 100% =

9,700 11,050

The weighted average fair value of the options granted during the
year ended 31 March 2021 determined using the binomial option
pricing model was approximately HK$0.09 (2020: HK$0.13) per
share. The significant inputs into the model were share prices of
HK$1.330 (2020: HK$1.810) as at the grant date, exercise price as
shown above, volatility of 22% (2020: 21.35%), expected life of
options of five years (2020: five years), expected dividend yield of
6.46% (2020: 6.84%) and annual risk-free interest rate of 0.2%
(2020: 1.42%). The volatility measured at the standard deviation of
expected share price return is based on the historical volatility of the
Company'’s share price over a period of five years before the date
when the options were granted.

BHE_Z-—#=-fF=+—RHIFERLEN
BREMET S AT ERA ZEXBRET
BEAEE  OASR0OETL(ZE=E
F:01387T) ° E%%tmix%u\@“ J
ARNFEEAHOKRE13308T(ZE-F
F:181087T)  EXFRITEE  KIE
2% (ZZE=FF :21.35%) - BRRERELE
FHRF(ZTZZTF : AF) - EHREW
wE6.46% (ZT-TF : 6.84%) RIERR
FREO2% (ZZE_FTF : 1.42%) - KR
TEEARERIRE 2 R EREHEZKIETIR
BARR B L AR B B AT T AR A0 AR
BREFRETHE o

FEEREEERAT
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26

226

RESERVES 26 &
Financial
assets at
fair value
through other
Capital Share-based Property  comprehensive
Share Tesee  compensation revaluation income far Exchange Other Retained
premium (Note) Teserve reseve  value resenve Teserve reserve eannings Total
BATE
AL
2ERAZ
ERGE Ripez g
Rir&E (W) fiRE  NFEMRE  LATERER EiifE Bl REEH ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Thn Tin Thn Tin Th TR Thn TR
Asat 1 April 2019 R=F-NEBA-A 88,841 10,591 5717 6,790 @n) (7,989) (3499) 595,063 695,237
Buchange differences arisngon ~~ AEBINIBLRFEE
translation of foreign subsidiaries X EE - - - - - (12.214) - - (12214)
Fairvalue losses on equity BATEZAEZERA
investments at fair value through 2 RiERE 2
other comprehensive income~~ AFEFE S s S s (1.37) S S = (1.231)
Transfer of accumulated losses on -~ A ERATFEZ AR
disposal of equity investments ~~ 2ER\ 2 FRIEREE
at fair value through other GEGTTEIN
comprehensive income to REEH
retained eamings - - - - 1353 - - (13%3) -
Employee share option scheme: B ERIEE
Valuation of employee senices  EERHKZBE = S 167 - - - - _ 167
Options apsed and expired BAHRGIH B = - 3433) - - - - 3433 =
Profit forthe year Efgh| - - - - - - - 27,105 27,705
Dividends paid BfikE - - - - - - - (34018 (34,018)
As at 31 March 2020 WZZ-FE=F=1-8 88,841 10,591 2451 6,790 (161) (20203) (3.499) 590,830 675,640

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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26 RESERVES (CONTINUED) 26 f#fE (48)

Financial

assets at

fair value

through other

Capital  Share-hased Property  comprehensive
Share reserve  compensation  revaluation income fair Exchange Other Retained
premium (Note) reserve reserve  value reserve reserve reserve earnings

BATE

TARHEE

WA

ErgE VRES KELTE
Ry (&) HWEE xEHEE fife Exiffe -0 REER ai
HKS000 HK§'000 HKS000. HK$'000 HKS000. HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$000: HK$'000
Thn Tin Thn Tin T Tin T Thn Thn

Asat 1 April 2020 R-F-FEMA-A 88,841 10,591 2,451 6,790 (161) (20,203) (3,499) 590,830 675,640
Buchange diferencesarsingon - AEEANHBAFHES

trandlation of foreign subsidiaries ¥ £8 - - - - - 39,561 - - 39,561
Fair value gains on equity BROTERALBZERA

investments at fair value through 2 REERE 2

other comprehensive income ~~ AFENE - - - - 738 - - - 738
Employee share option scheme:  ESEIRIE:HE -

Valuation of employee senices  EERHKZER - - 91 - - - - - 9

Options expired BHH ERE - - (853) - - - - 853 =
Profitfor the year EfgH - - - - - - - 19274 79,274
Dividends paid BfiRE = = = = = - - (22619) (226719
Asat 31 March 2021 WZF-F=f=t-A 88,841 10,591 1689 6,790 571 19,358 (3.499) 648,278 112,625
Note: Pt
The capital reserve of the Group includes the difference between the nominal value of AEEERGFHEER _FET_FNARBAREEH
the ordinary shares issued by the Company and the aggregate amount of the share T B SARA N B P AT E B AR (E S AT MR IR
capital and share premium of subsidiaries acquired through an exchange of shares A2 B R A7 it (B MR BB T 2 2288 o
pursuant to the Group's reorganisation in September 2002.

FEEREEERAR
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27

28

228

REVENUE 27 W=
The Group is principally engaged in the research and development, AEBTEREEFEN  BUEMEE
manufacture and sales of electronic products, pet food and other fhEEY R E AT IE M FAEs - BB E
pet-related products. Revenue from sales of goods recognised %o FARABEMHER KA WAT
during the year are as follows:
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
HK$°000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Sales of goods EYnEESRE 2,101,573 1,615,183
EXPENSES BY NATURE 28 BMEES ZFaﬁi
Expenses included in cost of sales, distribution and selling expenses STABHERE  DHEKHEEERAUR—R

and general and administrative expenses are analysed as follows:

Cost of inventories
Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment (Note 6)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 7)
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 8)
Operating lease rental for short-term leases

Employee benefit expense (including directors’

emoluments) (Note 35)
Auditor’s remuneration
— Audit services
— Non-audit services
Commission expense
Donations
Legal and professional fee
Advertising
Repairs and maintenance
Entertainment
Insurance
Other expenses

Total cost of sales, distribution and
selling expenses and general and
administrative expenses

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21

R {DEN
W% - BB MR E (iEe)

ERAREENE (ME7)

mR B EEN (MEs)

EHRE LN RS

ETRAMAY (BREZHS)
(FF5E35)

ZERED BN &

— ZHRTS

— FEEBRTS

AemMx

FEREEER

EE

e LeE
R
HAFIx

HERAN » DIHMIHEERNAR
—RRITHREEEREE

RITREBRERZASXOMET

2021 2020
—EB-—-F —T_THF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
1,549,863 1,209,990
36,093 31,358
10,673 5,596

- 1,226

4,665 3,976
263,777 212,266
3,250 3,250
405 300
15,520 13,392
2,157 6,516
4,071 6,163
3,110 6,993
4,790 4,825
3,209 2,918
1,439 1,154
101,745 73,048
2,004,767 1,582,971
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29 OTHER INCOME 29 Hftlg A
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ExT FHET
Government grants BT BN 4,392 1,256
Scrap sales REERISHE 496 292
Others HAit 197 45
5,085 1,593
30 OTHER GAINS — NET 30 Hfttizs — F8
2021 2020
—B-—F —ETF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Net foreign currency exchange loss I 5 B8 558 (693) (311)
Gain on disposal of a land use right m—EAEPERE L FRE
to a joint venture 2z = 4,785
Impairment loss of intangible assets E|EEREEE = (1,455)
Net fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets ZAFELRABRE MBEE
at fair value through profit or loss RFEWE(E8B) F8E 150 (1,176)
Gain on disposals of property, HEWE - BE REE 2 WS
plant and equipment 955 =
412 1,843
FERREEERAR 229
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31

32

230

FINANCE COSTS — NET

31 RERAKN — R

Interest income from:
— bank deposits

— overdue interests received from customers

— others

Finance income

Interest expense on:
— bank borrowings
— lease liabilities

Finance costs

Finance costs — net

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

(@) Bermuda and British Virgin Islands income tax
The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda until
2035. The Company's subsidiaries in the British Virgin Islands
are incorporated under the International Business Acts of the
British Virgin Islands and, accordingly, are exempted from the

British Virgin Islands income taxes.

(b) Hong Kong profits tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided for at 16.5% (2020:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year ended

31 March 2021.

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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KB TIERZMBMA

— RITER

— BEPKEEIN S

— Hft

BEBA

KA THESBEZMBH

— RITEE
—HERE

BB

BB — F8

2021 2020
—E-—F —ECFF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&xT FHT
190 410

864 1,314

214 310

1,268 2,034
(2,034) (5,185)
(679) (377)
(2,713) (5,562)
(1,445) (3,528)

32 FRfERiRx

(a)

(b)

BREREBELEHSHER
ARFEE_Z=RFAEHARE
HIR - RABNKRBERE LA S Z K8
RARBREELHEERHER
AR - R R B R B S P
E

ERAFEB
HE-_T-_—FZA=Z+—HLHF
B BANEHURE165%(ZF=
TF 1 16.5%) A FHERBUE A VED
B -
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32 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

(9

(d)

(e)

PRC corporate income tax

The Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China are subject to
corporate income tax at 25% (2020: 25%) effective from 1
January 2008.

Vietnam taxation

The Group'’s subsidiary incorporated in Vietnam is entitled to
tax holiday under which its profits would be fully exempted
from Vietnam enterprise income tax (“EIT”) for two years
starting from its first year of profitable operations after
offsetting prior year tax losses, followed by 50% reduction in
EIT in next four years. During the current year, there are no
assessable profits being generated by SVN and SIVC (2020:
Nil).

The amount of income tax charged to the consolidated
income statement represents:

B %5 R < MY v

32 FrEPiFx ()

(9,

(d)

(e)

PRI RATEH

AEBR R E A2 M B AR AR
25% (= ZF =4 : 25%) BB E AT
/% B-RT\F-A—ARER-

HrEBiE
REBERUEIMK I ZMBARE
BEXZRUEH - UL EE - EERE
B —FEREEEEAEER
FFEERBMF AT EER RN
FEEEMEH(EEMERD - IR
HENFRRE —FREMSH - R
AEE » SUNKSIVCIT A B R
BH(ZEZFF:FE) -

BERE WS R Z SRS EE

Current income tax: B HREH

— Hong Kong profits tax — HBNEW

— Income tax outside Hong Kong — BBLINRIEH
— Over-provision in prior years — BTFERERE

Deferred income tax charge (Note 21)

PSR X 488

Total income tax expense

EAEFTSHRs (MEE21)

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
12,052 2,219
1,533 _
(510) (1,685)
(687) 1,052
12,388 1,586
EEAREBARAT o,
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32

232

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 32 FiSHiAX (&)

(f) The income tax on the Group's profit before income tax (f) REBERBRFEBEEF 2 FTEH L
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the EAEMEAE B RS BERTR -
taxation rate in Hong Kong as follows: B N

2021 2020
—EB-—F —ETF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Profit before income tax bR TSR R & 92,004 29,124
Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5% 1£165% (- ZE T4 : 16.5%)
(2020: 16.5%) MEAE 15,181 4,805
Effect of different income tax rates on BARRINTEERATKATR
income outside Hong Kong FIEHE 228 1,921 (2,146)
Tax losses not recognised RIERHIEEE 5,446 8,651
Expenses not deductible for TAHFER 2 X
income tax purpose 4,669 4,071
Income not subject to income tax BRI 2 WA (3,064) (6,521)
Tax concession and incentives HIBE SR KRB (5,487) (3,713)
Over-provision in prior years WA R HBERE (510) (1,685)
Recognition of deferred income tax assets  BtiB{E AR MR IEE 1B HER
on previously unrecognised tax losses BIEFTISTHEE (845) -
Utilisation of previously unrecognised BB R ERIEEE
tax losses (4,923) (1,876)
Income tax expense FrisfiF X 12,388 1,586
There is no tax charge relating to components of other MERELHEEMEMBIAEE S
comprehensive income. 7 -
SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 75 5 3% B A

33 EARNINGS PER SHARE 33 BRER
(a) Basic (@) EXR
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit BREXRBR IR A RHEAE AL
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted AR AE N E BT E R 2 Nk
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. HEEETE -
2020
—E-F
Profit attributable to owners of KRR AEE & T
the Company (HK$'000) (F&7L) 792714 27,705
Weighted average number of B BT BRI T AR E
ordinary shares in issue ("000) FR> 2 83,490 7777777777 2 83490
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) FMRERZEF GBI 27.96 9.77

(b)

Diluted

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding
assuming conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
The Company has one category of dilutive potential ordinary
shares which is the share options granted to directors and
employees. For the share options, a calculation is done to
determine the number of shares that could have been
acquired at fair value (determined as the average market price
of the Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to outstanding share options. The
number of shares calculated as above is compared with the
number of shares that would have been issued assuming the
exercise of the share options.

(b)

BREERNDNREMEEEHE
TRRCERNER THBRITEIN
BRBNEFGRBELE - AR
AE-RBEEEEEAR  BME=S
REEBR L 2 BRE - SLBEREM
5 BRI E M S RIT R A
ZRBRZEEEREL  BEEAR
RNFE(BEERRNRARRN FIHHE)
BAZKRMNEE - U ERFEAEZ
B 8B BERRBREETEMDE
BITHORM BB L -

FEEREEERAT
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33 EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)

(b) Diluted (Continued)

33 BREFN (&)

(b) #E (&)

Profit attributable to owners of
the Company (HK$'000)

Weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue ("000)

Adjustments for share options ("000)

Weighted average number of

ordinary shares for diluted earnings

per share ('000)

Diluted earnings per share (HK cents)

34 DIVIDENDS

Dividends paid during the period ended 30 September 2020 and
the year ended 31 March 2020 were HK$17,009,000 (HK6.0 cents
per share) and HK$5,670,000 (HK2.0 cents per share), respectively.
A dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2021 of HK8.0
cents per share and a special dividend of HK3.0 cents per share,
totalling HK$31,184,000, is to be proposed at the annual general HE
meeting on 13 August 2021. These financial statements do not

reflect such dividends payable.

RRARB AFEIEEF
(F#&7T)

BRIT T BN F IR
(Fh)
BRERE(TH)

SREERN 2 E @ik
R E (TR

g 2R GBI

34 Hi‘,%\
@i
vl EIJ 7,%,17,009,000,% T(#Z6.0E 1) &
5,670,000 7L (FAR2.0%8W) - R ==
Z—FNAT=BORFTAFRE LEZH
ZE-—F=A=+—RHLEFETER
BERKRSOBINREFRREFR3.0BM -
A $£ 531,184,000 7T

2020

—FB_FF

79,274 27,705
283,490 283,490
20 S
283,510 283,490
27.96 9.77

TE=A= -1— EIJJ:¢VE1‘J‘H;<§

BRRZEMEE -

Interim dividend, paid, of HK6.0 cents
(2020: HK6.0 cents) per ordinary share

Final dividend, proposed, of HK8.0 cents
(2020: HK2.0 cents) per ordinary share

Special dividend, proposed, of HK3.0 cents

(2020: Nil) per ordinary share

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Bk B B R A% 6.0 81l
(ZZE=ZFF : 6.0/8)

BOR R EIRR B Z IR @A 8.0 B
—TTE 2.080)

BORAS BIAL B B A% AL 3.0 /81l
(ZZZZF - THI)

ZEF B ®RERA

2021 2020
—B-—F S
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT
17,009 17,009
22,679 5,670
8,505 -
48,193 22,679




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)

B 755 ¥R 3% I 7

35 ETRAMX(BRESHE)

Wages and salaries (Note) TERFHE (M)
Bonus 14T

Staff welfare =
Share-based compensation expenses B&AD 15t SRR BN B <2
Unutilised annual leave *T%EX@@

Pension costs — defined contribution plans

Note:

The Group received subsidies of HK$4,212,000 from the HKSAR Government under
COVID-19 related employment support schemes (“ESS”), which was credited against
wages and salaries expense for the year ended 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

(a) Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year included three (2020: three) directors
whose emoluments are reflected in Note 36. The emoluments
payable to the remaining two (2020: two) individuals during
the year are as follows:

BRIREHRA — EREERETE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FHT
230,321 186,548
9,534 8,196
11,296 6,996
91 167

180 163
12,355 10,196
263,777 212,266

M EE -

NEBEABEBHFCOVID-19BMRMET B (TRME
&) BN ARG 4,212,000 7T * sFABEZE=T=—F
A=+ BLEEIARF eI (ZT_TF : F)-

() EEEEHFMAL
RAEE  AEBRAAREFHAL
BRE=Z(ZTZTF  =R)ES "
BEZHE O HRME36 R o FRJE
REBME(ZTZZTF - WB) AL
ZBHEmT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ﬂﬁ GEBIREYRET
RIRTEFI IR

Retirement benefits scheme contributions

2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTERT TET
4,649 4,955
99 90
4,748 5,045
FEEREEARAR

2020/21 53R 235



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥R 3% I 7

35 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE (INCLUDING 3 ETEAM(BEEEHS)
DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS) (CONTINUED) (48)
(a) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) () EBEEHFMAL(E)
The emoluments fell within the following bands: BT AT EE -

Number of individuals

A
2021 2020
—EB-—F —ECEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FET
Emolument bands I < %6 [E
HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 77T = 2,500,000 7T 2 1
HK$2,500,001-HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7 7T = 3,000,000 % 7T - 1
2 2
(b) Senior management’s emoluments by band (b) REEESTHNSREE A S M
&
The senior management’s emoluments (excluding the five NFUTHENRREEAE (TEE
highest paid individuals) fell within the following bands: TE&EFMAL) 2ME
Number of individuals
A
2021 2020
—EC-—F —T-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Emolument bands B < %5 [E
HK$1,000,001-HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 L% 1,500,000 /& 7T 2 2

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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36 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS 36 EERENER
(a) Directors and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EERFETHAEMS
The emoluments of every director and the chief executive is SEERTETHAEZMESE W
set out below: T
Employer's
contribution
to retirement
Salariesand  Share-based Discretionary benefit
Fees allowance compensation bonuses scheme Total
RUER
we  BeREE  ROCREM HETA SEEXHR At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THER TER TR TR THT
For the year ended BE-E--%
31 March 2021: ZRA=t+-HLEE:
Executive directors: HITES:
Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman, REFEL
Chief Executive Officer) (F/ - f145) - 4,875 - 700 488 6,063
Mr. Ma Fung On BRTAE
(Deputy Chairman) (FxE) = 2,119 = 250 106 2,475
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk RESHET = 1,521 = 420 76 2,017
Non-executive directors: ~ F#{TES :
Mr. Lee Kam Hung FREEE 180 - - - - 180
Mr. Luk Wing Ching Bk ERE 180 - - - - 180

Independent non-executive BIEHITES

directors:
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven ~ 2F$h54 240 - - - - 240
Mr. Chan Kit Wang BAREE 216 - - - - 216
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan RawEL 216 - - - - 216
For the year ended BE-2-2F

31 March 2020: ZA=t-HLEE:
Executive directors: HITES !
Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman, REEEL

Chief Executive Officer) (£ - 11B#%) - 5213 - 750 521 6,484
Mr. Ma Fung On BERks

(Deputy Chairman) (B1%E) - 2,279 - 250 114 2,643
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk RR&EET - 1,614 - 350 81 2,045
Non-executive directors: FHTES :
Mr. Lee Kam Hung ESYdte 180 - _ _ _ 180
Mr. Luk Wing Ching BEXxFEE 180 - - - - 180
Independent non-executive BIFHTEES :

directors:
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven  Z2F#%4 240 - - - - 240
Mr. Chan Kit Wang BARRE 216 - - _ _ 216
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan i 216 - - - _ 216

FEEREEERAT 237
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36 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

238

(a)

(b)

(9]

(d)

(e)

Directors and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Note:

Dr. Ng Chi Ho, Mr. Ma Fung On and Dr. Ng Man Cheuk voluntarily waived
emoluments of HK$421,000, HK$168,000 and HK$28,000 respectively during
the year ended 31 March 2021. No directors waived their emoluments in
respect of the year ended 31 March 2020.

Directors’ retirement benefits and termination
benefits

None of the retirement benefits was paid or receivable by
directors during the year (2020: Nil).

None of the termination benefits was paid by or receivable
from the Company, the subsidiary undertaking nor the
controlling shareholders to the directors during the year (2020:
Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Company does
not pay consideration to any third parties for making available
directors’ services (2020: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors

As at 31 March 2021, there are no loans, quasi-loans and
other dealing arrangements in favour of directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and controlled entities with such directors
(2020: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year (2020: Nil).

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21

36 EEANEKRER(A)

(a)

(b)

(9]

(d)

(e)

ESRFETHRAEMS ()
GEX

REBE-Z-_—4=-A=+—ALEE " REX
Bt BETEERRREETIEBRES A
#421,0007% T ~ 168,000 7T K% 28,000 JT Ay
e BE_T-_TF=A=1+—BLLFE #&
BEEREMS -

ESRKENRBERER

FA- HEEFCHASYPRKEN
—ECFRE )

FA-BEAQT - HEARHER
BRAEFEARD AR KR LR

—RRFF)

ME=ZAZNRUESREZ
RE

HE-_T-_—FZA=Z=+—HLHF
B ARRLERAEME=Z TR
HEERBRE(ZZTZZFT) -

FENES HESZHNR
EHEABRBREEETHAE
ZBEERRERAZER
BRERREMRZ 2EH
RZFB-_—F=A=+—8 " $EN
ERES HmEHESTHMXTE
FEANERLEERESAMECLHE
ERRIBmAZER BEERNHEM
RHLHER(ZZE_FTF &)

EERNRS  REHHEHZE
RiEsR

RELKFRNEMIERE  SEFER
REMERFIN A BEARRREENESP
BFREEAED (TRERNER) E

RRABEEEBZEARS  THK
EH(ZEZTF |-
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37 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 37 MEBRERERME
OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Reconciliation of profit for the year to cash () FRBAERLEEKRFAELER

EHRWT :

generated from operations as follows:

2021 2020
—EB-—F —ETF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Profit for the year F N 79,616 27,538
Adjustments for: FHE -
— Income tax expense — B HAY 12,388 1,586
— Finance income — BB WA (1,268) (2,034)
— Finance cost — BEXR 2,713 5,562
— Depreciation of property, — W - BERREITE
plant and equipment 36,093 31,358
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets —EAREENE 10,673 5,596
— Amortisation of intangible assets — B EES = 1,226
— (Gain)/loss on disposals of property, — HEME  BERRB
plant and equipment 2 (Wzs) /B E (955) 151
— Gain on disposal of a land use right — HE L FE A2 WS = (4,785)
— Net fair value (gains)/losses on — RAVTERABZZ
financial assets at fair value MBEELTE
through profit or loss (Wsk) BRFE (150) 1,176
— Share-based compensation expenses ~ — A&7 X FREREH A 2 91 167
— Net impairment losses on — BB ERERIETRE
financial assets 220 1,114
— Impairment loss on intangible assets ~ — BB E R EEE = 1,455
— Share of losses of associates — BEEBE A REE 8,634 1,882
148,055 71,992
Changes in working capital: EEEREY
— Inventories —FE (85,194) 28,914
— Trade and other receivables — BREZRI R
Ho{th & W 5RIR (150,967) 11,190
— Trade and other payables and — ERNEZERFR
contract liabilities HiEMNFIRERENAE 148,305 (34,171)
Cash generated from operations KREEBEX RS 60,199 77,925
EEEIREBERAT 239
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37 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(b) Proceeds from disposals of property, plant
and equipment and a land use right comprise:

Net book value of property,
plant and equipment (Note 6)
Gain/(loss) on disposals of property,
plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposals of property,
plant and equipment

(c) Net (debt)/cash reconciliation
This section sets out an analysis of net (debt)/cash and the
movements in net (debt)/cash for each of the years presented.

37 REREREBRME (&)
(b) LEWRE BERRZHER L

FHAEzZRERESE
2021 2020
—E-—F —ECFF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
YE BB M REREFEE
(MfsE6) 44 200
HEDE BEAREZ
Uezs,/ (E518) 955 (151)
HEYE BELRREZ
TS 508 999 49

(0 F(E®) B
A 6 8 5 R & AT

Cash and cash equivalents
Bank borrowings
Lease liabilities

Net (debt)/cash

Cash and cash equivalents
Gross debt — variable interest rates
Gross debt — fixed interest rates

Net (debt)/cash

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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H iR
NEENFE(E

%)/ BN LIRS, Ao

ib o
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHETT
Re KR EEY 127,790 128,459
RITIEE (138,550) (67,750)
HEaE (9,537) (10,917)
F(ER),/Re (20,297) 49,792
ReEMRSEED 127,790 128,459
WIER — FEFE (138,550) (67,750)
BER — EEFI=R (9,537) (10,917)
F(EK),/BRe (20,297) 49,792
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37 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

37 ZRETRERME (FE)

2020/21 5

(c) Net (debt)/cash reconciliation (Continued) () B(E®K) BHEYER(E)
Other assets Liabilities from financing activities
HittgE METHNEE
Cash
and cash Bank Lease
equivalents Dividends borrowings liabilities Total
BeR
REeZEY RE RITEE HEAE &kt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TR FET FET T
Net cash as at 1 April 2020 RZZE-ZTFMA—H
HFRE 128,459 - (67,750) (10,917) 49,792
Non cash — dividend declared ~ 3F3R& — EERIKE - 22,679 - - 22,679
Cash flows Reng (13,742) (22,679) (70,800) 30,337 (76,884)
Acquisition — leases Wi —HE - - - (30,177) (30,177)
Derecognition — leases KILRR —HE - - - 1,220 1,220
Foreign exchange adjustments ~ SMNEFEZ 13,073 - - - 13,073
Net debt as at 31 March 2021  RZZ-—4F
ZRA=+—E#
BETS 127,790 - (138,550) (9,537) (20,297)
Net cash as at 1 April 2019 RZZE—NFMNA—H
HFRe 127,826 S (69,537) (4,075) 54,214
Non cash — dividend declared  3FE4 — EERKE - 34,018 - - 34,018
Cash flows Reng 3,370 (34,018) 1,787 3,784 (25,077)
Acquisition — leases g —HE - - - (10,626) (10,626)
Foreign exchange adjustments & 75 (2,737) - - - (2,737)
Net cash as at 31 March 2020 WZZ-FT4F
ZRA=+—H/
ERE 128,459 - (67,750) (10,917) 49,792
FEEREEERAR 241
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37 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(d) Major non-cash transactions

During the years ended 31 March 2021, the Group underwent

242

the following major non-cash transaction:

(i)

Amount due from Growgreen of HK$7,500,000 was
capitalised as equity interest as at 31 March 2021.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group had the
following major non-cash transactions:

(i)

(iif)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of
HK$1,287,000 and HK$24,601,000, representing the
Group's investments in future equity of interests of Dott
and promissory notes of Mobilogix, respectively, were
transferred to investments in associates.

Proceeds on disposal of the industrial use right of the
land to Huizhou lJiayifu of HK$8,800,000 have not yet
been received as at 31 March 2020 and such balance
was included in “interest in a joint venture” as at 31
March 2020.

The amount due from an associate of HK$360,000 was
transferred to loans receivable from the major shareholder
of CIL (“Guarantor”).

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

37 ZRETRERME (FE)

(d) FEFBREXRS

BE-_ZT-_—F=A=+—B8ItHF
B AEBDETUTIEFEES

U & 8A 7K 18 7,500,000 T2 &
b B AR ARE

BE T _ZHF=ZA=+—HItHF
B REBEUTTIEIRLRS

() BRATFELABRZZUBEE
1,287,000 7T % 24,601,000 %
TT v SN B Dott iR HARR A
#5258 K Mobilogix# 4, 215 -
EAREARBE AT ZIRE

iy RZZE-ZBF=A=+—HEX
WemEMNEEERE L2 T
¥ {F 3 #E 2 715 5K 78 8,800,000
B MAEREHRETAR-E
—EFZA=+—HZ[R—M
BEDEIER] -

(i) EH—EHEREZHE
360,000/ ;T B 8 A EURCILE
ZWR([FERALD 2EFREBK
I8 o



38

39

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the Group had the following
capital commitments:

38

B 75 5 3% B A

BXERE
R-B-_—ER-_ZT_FTF=A=1+—0"
REEE THE AAFE

Contracted but not provided for: DETHB AR B
— Property, plant and equipment

— Investment in Huizhou Jiayifu

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to join the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”). The MPF
Scheme is a defined contribution scheme managed by an
independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, each of the Group
and its employees makes monthly contributions to the scheme at
5% to 10% of the employees’ earnings as defined under the
Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. The Group has no further
payment obligations once the contributions have been paid.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in Mainland China, the Group
contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans for its employees in
Mainland China. The Group contributes approximately 7% to 12%
of the basic salaries of its employees, and has no further obligations
for the actual payment of pensions or post-retirement benefits
beyond the annual contributions. The state-sponsored retirement
plans are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable to
retired employees.

— W - BEEERE
—REMNEEEZRE

39

2021 2020
—EBE-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
18,498 1,159
4,510 4,510
23,008 5,669

EERAKER
AEBEEREEZERELH2HEARHIMERTE
P8 ([BEeFEl]) - BB B HER
HHEE - HBUERAERE - REBES
A8 AEBEEREES D HMKERHIEATE
2EPIE ARG EHS  2RLEBELA
Z5%ZE10% ° —REX R NEE A
BE—SNKEME-

AEBERBHBE AR RN SEZG 2 RE - B
HETBEAM 2 RS RBERE R EIH
R AEEREEEERATENT%E12%
WK - BREEHRFSN - AEBERMNERARE
FRNEEN Z M EE - BRKEBRIKG
FRERRNEEXNENZZHERARE -

FEEREEERAT
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39 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS (CONTINUED) 39
For employees in Vietnam, the Group contributes to state-sponsored
employees’ social insurance scheme at 18% of the basic salaries of
the subsidiary’s employees, subject to a cap. The state-sponsored
social insurance scheme is responsible for the pension obligations
payable to retired employees.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the aggregate amount of the
Group's contributions to the aforementioned pension schemes were
approximately HK$12,355,000 (2020: HK$10,196,000).

40 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40
As at 31 March 2021, 38.99% (2020: 38.99%) of the total issued
shares of the Company is owned by Superior View Inc., a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, and 15.42% (2020:
15.42%) of the total issued shares of the Company is owned by
Billion Linkage Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands. The ultimate controlling parties of the Group are Dr. Ng Chi
Ho, a director of the Company, and Ms. Lee Wai Fun, wife of Dr. Ng
Chi Ho, respectively.

(a) Transactions with an associate

EERKER ()

BHENEENS  AEBRYEENBAR
REEAFHS 2 18%AEAREMNIES
HERIRE B - HZ LRAER - B
EPERBABARN TRNERZE
4

BE_Z-—4=A=1+—HItFE X%
Em LR RS EER cHARBEBO R
12,355,000 7L (ZF = 4 : 10,196,000
I °

EHREALIRS

RZEZ—F=A=+—8 ' RNARBE&T
PN #8782 38.99% (—F —F4 : 38.99%)
DHERBEXESEMA L Z AR
Superior View Inc. & - MARBIE #1THR
MARER21542% (—F —_FF :1542%)
TEBERER RS MK 2 A7 Billion
Linkage Limited B o NEEZLIERA T
DRRAAREEFRERETREFES L+
(REXETZETF) -

(a) HEBELXTRZRS

2021 2020
—B-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT

Sales of goods to Mobilogix i Mobilogix $5 & & &

Goods are sold at prices mutually agreed by the Group and its
related parties in the ordinary course of business.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 755 ¥R 3% I 7

40 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 40 EBEALXRZ (&)
(b) Key management compensation

(9]

The aggregate remuneration of key personnel management,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors and
certain of the highest paid employees, as disclosed in Notes
35 and 36, is as follows:

(b) FEEEE RN
TEEBEABZTMARERIEEN
ARAREZRETHERFIEE ZHE
(RMFE35 361 EE) » HAWT ¢

Salaries and other short-term
employee benefits

BERKIRAB A

Post-employment benefits

Year-end balances with related parties

e hAMEREE RN

2021 2020
—EB-—F —E-TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#&T FAT
17,036 17,963
879 916
17,915 18,879

(0 BEBEALZFRER

Amounts due from associates JFE LS B 2 N B FRIE

The terms of balances with related parties are disclosed in
Note 11.

2021 2020

=B —F —ECFF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
1,106 9,085

RIS A T HOAE AR BAOBTRE 1 140 5E -

FEEREEERAT
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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41 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT 41 ERRZEEEBRRRAEEE
OF THE COMPANY
Balance sheet of the Company KATEESEE
31 March 31 March
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-EF
=A=1+—H ==
Note HK$000 HK$'000
B 5T THET FET
Non-current assets kRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries NG 3 68,166 68,166
Deferred tax assets BRETRIEE E 280 404
68446 68,570
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables FEUE Z) AR R N E b R I R IE 995 1,210
Amounts due from subsidiaries G NGIE /S 142,430 167,323
Cash and cash equivalents REMREEEY 1,862 1,334
145,287 169 867 )
Total assets EEH#AE 213,733 238,437
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables FERTE 5 IR R R H A FE T 5B 3,529 5,346
Total liabilities BEEAE 3,529 5346
Equity =
Equity attributable to owners of KAGHEEAEEER
the Company
Share capital R& A 28,349 28,349
Other reserves HAb & (@) 155,402 156,164
Retained earnings IREE B R (@) 26,453 48,578
Total equity lemes® 210204 233,091
Total equity and liabilities ERREERE 213,733 238,437

ARREERBRER-_T-_—F1XA
“tHN\BEE=RSHE YHTIEEKE

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of
Directors on 28 June 2021 and was signed on its behalf.

BE -
Ng Chi Ho Ma Fung On
REE BER
Director Director
E3 BF
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
Note (a) reserve movement of the Company

41

B 75 5 3% B A

RRRzEERBRRFERD
(&)
B3t (a) A<D B) 5 2 B

Share-based
Share Contributed compensation Retained
premium surplus reserve earnings Total
[ SrERES
BREE PN B RE REEF &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FET TR FET TR
As at 1 April 2019 AZT-NFMA—H 88,841 64,872 5717 79,377 238,807
Employee share option scheme: g 8 B ETE
Valuation of employee services BERBZBE - - 167 - 167
Options lapsed and expired E%ﬁ&ﬂ%Z%k% = = (3,433) 3,433 =
Loss for the year NEE - - - (214) (214)
Dividends paid HH =) - - - (34,018) (34,018)
As at 31 March 2020 R-B-FF=ZA=+-H 88,841 64,872 2,451 48,578 204,742
As at 1 April 2020 RZZ_ZEMA—A 88,841 64,872 2,451 48,578 204,742
Employee share option scheme: (B8 FERIE: 2] :
Valuation of employee services RERBZEBE - - 91 - 91
Options expired ERIE B - - (853) 853 =
Loss for the year FNER = = = (299) (299)
Dividends paid EREE - - - (22,679) (22,679)
As at 31 March 2021 R-B--5=A=+-H 88,841 64,872 1,689 26,453 181,855
Note: Bt sE

Contributed surplus represents the difference between the nominal amount of shares
issued and the book value of the underlying net assets of subsidiaries acquired in
return.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the contributed surplus is distributable to
shareholders, subject to the condition that the Company cannot declare or pay a
dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) it is, or would after the
payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due, or (i) the realisable value
of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued
share capital and share premium.

EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

On 16 April 2021, the Group further granted shareholder’s loan of
RMB5,000,000 to Huizhou Jiayifu. Such loan is non-interest bearing,
unsecured and repayable on demand.

On 7 July 2021, the Group entered into an agreement with Huizhou
Jiayifu and Guangdong Fuchuan Investment Co., Ltd (“Guangdong
Fuchuan” or the “Joint Venture Partner”) for a proposed bank loan
of RMB114,000,000 to be granted to Huizhou lJiayifu. The Group
will provide a financial guarantee and charge its 50% equity interest
in Huizhou Jiayifu in favour of the bank as security for the proposed
bank loan.

42

BABRBIBIERZBRAEITRN 2 EEEMKBHEA
AR EERAECEE

BREBEABRE-NN—FRFE BARKRTDIRTR
- ’\‘EZE%LXT%@FTTFE © B B A B R E K SR
RESAEL AR » () A AT B ATSRREH D IRIREE
EEAZHEE (u)ﬁééz—l PREEREEE

ﬁE%ﬁHE&$&H§1’ﬁmFZ%@*ﬂ BITSEHBREDIK ©

mEHEEE
R-ZZBE-—FEMA+E  KEEE—F7
BNEEERETE  EERRBRER
EERREERARE5,000,0007T °

=

PR

RZEZ—F+A+R AEEERBEMNER
ERERE)IREERAT(ERS)I] %
SR AC AR JM%EE&&&AE%
114,000,000 7T K 2 3% 1R ;Jﬂim °
LK%H%}Eﬁ%w%%‘1%%@%@@94\\&
H150% AR T IR1T - tEREZER ﬁiﬁ
EVFELR o

,\/
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AFEPBHRE

For the year ended 31 March 2021 B Z_—F_—F=A=+—HILFE

A summary of the consolidated results and of the consolidated assets and

liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out below:

AEEEEAATRFRZGAEREANRGEE
ERBEMEHIINT

For the year ended 31 March

B2E=A=t-HLEE
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
ZE—+§ ZZ-N\F& ZZ-NF CZTTF | S
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT FTEx TET TET FTER
Consolidated results GREE
Revenue Wz 1,414,103 1,510,504 1,681,862 1,615,183 2,101,573
Operating profit Syl 61,672 82,934 65,524 34,534 102,083
Profit before income tax B EH AR A 63,615 79,584 60,011 29,124 92,004
Income tax expense SRR Y (3,572) (6,047) (4,900) (1,586) (12,388)
Profit attributable to the owners of AR AL ET
the Company 61,745 74111 55,557 27,705 79,274
As at 31 March
RZA=+—H
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
2+t ZE-)\& ZE-NF ZEZTF | = = 2
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FEx AT TExT FTER
Consolidated assets and liabilities SERBENRER
Land use rights TR 50,484 51,994 48,849 = =
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE &K 276,081 297,178 261,580 225,266 300,910
Right-of-use assets FRREE = = = 76,458 95,941
Investment property REME 10,200 - - - -
Intangible assets | ERE 986 3,319 2,681 = -
Goodwill RS 3,949 3,949 3,949 3,949 3,949
Interests in associates REEE N R 2R 3,804 3,623 - 25,311 26,338
Interest in a joint venture R—aEtE 7 ER - = = 6,919 7,862
Deferred income tax assets BB EE 1,086 1,782 2,330 1,314 1,950
Available-for-sale financial asset A ERBEE 16,439 6,242 - - -
Bonds investments — long term EHRE — RS 7,711 = = = =
Financial assets at fair value through BATEZAEMZERA
other comprehensive income LB EE - = 6,910 5,266 6,004
Financial assets at fair value through BAFELRABRL
profit or loss — long term KEE —RH 4,838 3,757 25,576 = =
Loans receivable ERE Mg = - 1,063 266 -
Amount due from an associate JEI—FB & D R F0E = S S 8,500 =
Non-current prepayments, depositand ~ JERENTENTUE - K& K
other receivables Hih U siE - 3,074 13,374 13,897 8,505
Current assets TEEE 662,137 690,294 676,356 630,816 875,157
Current liabilities nEYEE (360,112) (329,344) (317,661) (287,583) (519,735)
Net current assets MEBEEFE 302,025 360,950 358,695 343,233 355,422
Total assets less current liabilities BERERRDER 677,603 735,868 725,007 710,379 806,881
Long term borrowings REEE (6,678) (3,759) = = =
Lease liabilities HEaE - - - (5,112) (4,430)
Deferred income tax liabilities EEmEHas (453) (504) (357) (426) (283)
Total equity Ayt 670,472 731,605 724,650 704,841 802,168
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